
 
 
 
 

Planning Committee 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date: 3 April 2024 

Time: 2.00pm 

Venue Council Chamber, Hove Town Hall 

Members: Councillors: Loughran (Chair), Allen (Deputy Chair), Cattell, 
Fishleigh, Nann, Robinson, Shanks, C Theobald, Winder and 
Thomson 
 
Conservation Advisory Group Representative 
 

Contact: Shaun Hughes 
Democratic Services Officer 
shaun.hughes@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Agendas and minutes are published on the council’s website www.brighton-hove.gov.uk.  
Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the meeting date. 

 
Electronic agendas can also be accessed through our meetings app available through 

ModernGov: iOS/Windows/Android 
 

This agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper. 
 

http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en_GB
https://www.microsoft.com/en-gb/p/modgov/9nblggh0c7s7#activetab=pivot:overviewtab
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en_GB


AGENDA 
 

PART ONE Page No.  

 

95 PROCEDURAL BUSINESS  

 (a) Declaration of Substitutes: Where Councillors are unable to attend a 
meeting, a substitute Member from the same Political Group may 
attend, speak and vote in their place for that meeting. 

 
(b) Declarations of Interest or Lobbying 
 

(a) Disclosable pecuniary interests; 
(b) Any other interests required to be registered under the local 

code; 
(c) Any other general interest as a result of which a decision on the 

matter might reasonably be regarded as affecting you or a 
partner more than a majority of other people or businesses in 
the ward/s affected by the decision. 

 
In each case, you need to declare  
(i) the item on the agenda the interest relates to; 
(ii) the nature of the interest; and 
(iii) whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest or some other 

interest. 
 

If unsure, Members should seek advice from the committee lawyer 
or administrator preferably before the meeting. 

 
 (d) All Members present to declare any instances of lobbying they 

have encountered regarding items on the agenda. 
 
(c) Exclusion of Press and Public: To consider whether, in view of the 

nature of the business to be transacted, or the nature of the 
proceedings, the press and public should be excluded from the 
meeting when any of the following items are under consideration. 

 
NOTE:  Any item appearing in Part 2 of the Agenda states in its 
heading the category under which the information disclosed in the 
report is exempt from disclosure and therefore not available to the 
public. 

 
A list and description of the exempt categories is available for public 
inspection at Brighton and Hove Town Halls. 

 

 

96 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 7 - 18 

 Minutes of the meeting held on 6 March 2024.  
 

97 CHAIR'S COMMUNICATIONS  

 

98 PUBLIC QUESTIONS  



 Written Questions: To receive any questions submitted by the due date 
of 12 noon on 28 March 2024. 

 

 

99 TO AGREE THOSE APPLICATIONS TO BE THE SUBJECT OF SITE 
VISITS 

 

 

100 TO CONSIDER AND DETERMINE PLANNING APPLICATIONS  

 Please note that the published order of the agenda may be changed; 
major applications will always be heard first; however, the order of the 
minor applications may be amended to allow those applications with 
registered speakers to be heard first. 
 
Public Speakers Note: Any persons wishing to speak at a meeting of the 
Planning Committee shall give written notice of their intention to do so to the 
Democratic Services Officer four clear days before the meeting (normally, 
the Committee meets on Wednesdays which means the notice has to be 
received by 5.30pm the preceding Friday). To register to speak please 
email Democratic Services at: democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk  
  
(Speakers are allocated a strict 3 minutes to address the committee. If more 
than one person wishes to speak, the 3 minutes will need to be shared, or 
one person can be elected by communal consent to speak for all).  

 

 

 MAJOR APPLICATIONS 

A BH2022/02443 - The Hippodrome, 51 & 52-58 Middle Street, 
Brighton - Full Planning  

19 - 82 

   

B BH2022/02444 - The Hippodrome, 51 & 52-58 Middle Street, 
Brighton - Listed Building Consent  

83 - 116 

   

 MINOR APPLICATIONS 

C BH2022/01500 - St Margaret's Church, The Green, Rottingdean, 
Brighton - Full Planning  

117 - 138 

   

D BH2023/03197 - 26 Arundel Drive East and 22-24 Arundel Drive 
East, Saltdean, Brighton - Full Planning  

139 - 154 

   

E BH2023/03432 - Flat 13, St Gabriels, 18A Wellington Road, Brighton 
- Full Planning  

155 - 170 

   

F BH2024/00057 - Brighton Museum and Art Gallery, Pavilion 
Buildings, Brighton - Full Planning  

171 - 180 

   

mailto:democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk


G BH2024/00058 - Brighton Museum and Art Gallery, Pavilion 
Buildings, Brighton - Listed Building Consent  

181 - 190 

   

 INFORMATION ITEMS 

101 LIST OF NEW APPEALS LODGED WITH THE PLANNING 
INSPECTORATE 

191 - 194 

 (copy attached).  
 

102 INFORMATION ON INFORMAL HEARINGS/PUBLIC INQUIRIES 195 - 196 

 (copy attached).  
 

103 APPEAL DECISIONS 197 - 200 

 (copy attached).  
 
Members are asked to note that plans for any planning application listed on the agenda are 
now available on the website at: http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk 

http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/index.cfm?request=c1199915


 

The City Council actively welcomes members of the public and the press to attend its 
meetings and holds as many of its meetings as possible in public. Provision is also made on 
the agendas for public questions to committees and details of how questions can be raised 
can be found on the website and/or on agendas for the meetings. 
 
The closing date for receipt of public questions and deputations for the next meeting is 12 
noon on the fourth working day before the meeting. 
 
Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, on audio tape or on 
disc, or translated into any other language as requested. 
Infra-red hearing aids are available for use during the meeting. If you require any further 
information or assistance, please contact the receptionist on arrival. 
 
FURTHER INFORMATION 
For further details and general enquiries about this meeting contact Shaun Hughes ( email 
shaun.hughes@brighton-hove.gov.uk ) or democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk  
 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website. At the 
start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being filmed. You 
should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act 1998.  
Data collected during this web cast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s 
published policy. Therefore, by entering the meeting room and using the seats in the chamber 
you are deemed to be consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and 
sound recordings for the purpose of web casting and/or Member training.  If members of the 
public do not wish to have their image captured, they should sit in the public gallery area. 
 
ACCESS NOTICE 
The Public Gallery is situated on the first floor of the Town Hall and is limited in size but does 
have 2 spaces designated for wheelchair users. The lift cannot be used in an emergency.  
Evac Chairs are available for self-transfer and you are requested to inform Reception prior to 
going up to the Public Gallery. For your own safety please do not go beyond the Ground 
Floor if you are unable to use the stairs. Please inform staff on Reception of this affects 
you so that you can be directed to the Council Chamber where you can watch the meeting or 
if you need to take part in the proceedings e.g. because you have submitted a public 
question. 
 
FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the 
building by the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to the nearest exit by council staff.  
It is vital that you follow their instructions: 

 You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts; 

 Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 

 Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building, but move 
some distance away and await further instructions; and 

 Do not re-enter the building until told that it is safe to do so. 

 
Date of Publication - Tuesday, 26 March 2024 

 

 

     

mailto:democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk


     



1 
 

BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

12.00pm 6 MARCH 2024 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, HOVE TOWN HALL 
 

MINUTES 
 

Present: Councillors Loughran (Chair), Allen (Deputy Chair), Cattell, Nann, Robinson, 
Shanks, C Theobald, Thomson, Winder and Earthey (Substitute)  
 

Officers in attendance: Jane Moseley (Planning Manager), Katie Kam (Lawyer), Alice 
Johnson (Assistant Planning Officer), Helen Hobbs (Senior Planning Officer), Rebecca Smith 
(Planning Officer), Emily Stanbridge (Senior Planning Officer), Jack Summers (Senior 
Planning Officer), and Shaun Hughes (Democratic Services Officer). 
 

 
PART ONE 

 
 
86 PROCEDURAL BUSINESS 
 
a) Declarations of substitutes:  
 
86.1 Councillor Earthey substituted for Councillor Fishleigh. 
 
b) Declarations of interests 
 
86.2 Councillor Thomson declared they had views on item A: BH2023/02756: 65 Orchard 

Gardens and would not be taking part in the discussions or voting. 
 
c) Exclusion of the press and public 
 
86.3 In accordance with Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 (“the Act”), the 

Planning Committee considered whether the public should be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of any item of business on the grounds that it is likely in 
view of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members 
of the public were present during it, there would be disclosure to them of confidential 
information as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act. 

 
86.4 RESOLVED: That the public are not excluded from any item of business on the 

agenda.  
 
d) Use of mobile phones and tablets 
 
86.5 The Chair requested Members ensure that their mobile phones were switched off, and 

where Members were using tablets to access agenda papers electronically ensure that 
these were switched to ‘aeroplane mode’. 

7



 

2 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 6 MARCH 2024 

 
87 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
87.1 RESOLVED: The committee agreed the minutes of the meeting held on 7 February 

2024. 
 
88 CHAIR'S COMMUNICATIONS 
 
88.1 There were none. 
 
89 PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 
89.1 There were none. 
 
90 TO AGREE THOSE APPLICATIONS TO BE THE SUBJECT OF SITE VISITS 
 
90.1 There were no requests for site visits to items on the agenda.  
 
91 TO CONSIDER AND DETERMINE PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
91.1 The Democratic Services officer called the agenda applications to the committee. The 

following items were not called for discussion and were therefore taken to be agreed in 
accordance with the officer’s recommendation. 

 

J: BH2023/03245: 8 Wayfield Avenue, Hove 
 

All other applications were called for discussion, including major applications and those 
with speakers. 

 
A BH2023/02756 - 65 Orchard Gardens, Hove - Full Planning 
 

1. The Planning Manager introduced the application to the committee. 
 
Speakers 
 

2. Jo Elsden addressed the committee as a resident and stated that they considered the 
development not to be in keeping with the area and too high, dwarfing other buildings. 
The slope of the site has not been shown on the plans. The planning history of the site 
is controversial with previous refusals. The development feels like planning permission 
by stealth. Parking is an issue in the area and the development will have an overspill 
onto the surrounding streets. The scheme will reduce daylight to nearby houses and the 
proposed balconies will overlook neighbouring properties. There is no water runoff. The 
scheme is an overdevelopment of the site, will result in parking issues in the area and 
leads to environmental concerns by residents.  
 

3. Ward Councillor Bagaeen addressed the committee and stated that planning permission 
should not be granted. There was zero affordable housing. The planning inspector in 
Essex recently dismissed a similar scheme as a result of the effect on the character and 
appearance of the area. The scheme contrasts with existing homes and will be out of 
step with the two storey neighbours. The relationship between them will be discordant. 
Ward Councillor Lyons addressed the committee and stated that the existing works 
were not attractive, however, a more in keeping development would be preferred up 

8



 

3 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 6 MARCH 2024 

against the two storey neighbours. This application is too large and not enough parking 
spaces. More houses would be preferred over flats. 104 objections is a lot and the ward 
councillors support the residents. The committee were requested to refuse the 
application. 
 

4. Sarah Hufford addressed the committee as the agent acting on behalf of the applicant 
and stated that they considered the variations to be minor. The design has already been 
approved. Surveys of car ownership in the area indicate that most residents of the 
scheme will not own cars, so parking will not be an issue. The scheme has been revised 
with increases in height on Neville Roadside of the development. Through CIL and the 
S106 agreement £1m will be spent in the area. There is no sound planning reason to 
refuse the application on this brownfield site. 
 
Answers to Committee Members’ questions 
 

5. Councillor Allen was informed that the Southern Water response and conditions 
remained the same as the previous approved application. 
 

6. Councillor Shanks was informed that the development was outside parking zones and 
there was capacity in on street parking at night.  
 

7. Councillor Robinson was informed that if the committee refused this application the 
applicant could build the previously approved scheme. It was noted by the District 
Valuer that the build costs consisted of several elements which change over time, hence 
the need for a review mechanism to ensure the real build and sale costs were reflected 
in affordable housing provision. The Head of Transport Policy & Strategy noted that the 
parking surveys carried out did not include future parking demand. The Planning 
Manager noted the scheme complied with planning policy.  
 

8. Councillor Nann was informed by the agent that the previous scheme was considered 
less profitable and less deliverable, and not as viable as the scheme before the 
committee. 
 

9. Councillor Theobald was informed by the agent that the viability assessment looked at 
affordable housing and it was not viable for this scheme. Basement parking has been 
included in the development which added to the cost. 
 

10. Councillor Loughran was informed by the agent that the cost of the parking was included 
in the viability assessment. In previous schemes the parking had been removed but that 
was not popular with locals or members. For this scheme it was not viable to have both 
affordable housing and parking. The Head of Transport Policy & Strategy stated that the 
application included parking, and this was assessed and deemed acceptable.  
 
Debate 
 

11. Councillor Shanks considered there was not much difference between the previous 
scheme and the proposed. The councillor noted there was no residents’ parking scheme 
and the development would be an improvement on the existing.  
 

12. Councillor Theobald considered the position to be prominent and the development too 
big with an effect on the neighbours. A commuted sum would not be as good as 
affordable housing. The councillor was against the application. 

9



 

4 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 6 MARCH 2024 

 
13. Councillor Allen noted the application was on a brownfield site and a similar 

development had been approved on Old Shoreham Road. The councillor considered the 
scheme to be good and supported the application.  
 

14. Councillor Robinson considered the scheme was not very different from the approved 
development, however, they were disappointed that there was no affordable housing to 
be provided on site. The councillor noted more housing was needed and they supported 
the application.   
 

15. Councillor Theobald considered that the 106 objections should be taken into account. 
 

16. Councillor Cattell considered that the commuted sums were welcome and if refused the 
council would lose the money secured through legal agreement and CIL. 
 

17. Councillor Loughran noted that the need for housing was serious, and the scheme made 
a good contribution. They were sorry to lose the affordable housing. The councillor 
supported the application, and they invited the applicant to review the affordable 
housing if possible. 
 
Vote 
 

18. A vote was taken, and by 8 to 1 the committee agreed to grant planning permission. 
(Councillor Thomson took no part in the discussion or decision-making process). 
 

19. RESOLVED: That the Committee has taken into consideration and agrees with the 
reasons for the recommendation set out in the report and resolves to be MINDED TO 
GRANT planning permission subject to a s106 agreement on the Heads of Terms set 
out in the report and the Conditions and Informatives as set out in the report, SAVE 
THAT should the s106 Planning Obligation not be completed on or before the 6 
September 2024 the Head of Planning is hereby authorised to refuse planning 
permission for the reasons set out in section 14.1 of the report. 

 
B BH2023/02027 - 64 Edward Street, Brighton - Full Planning 
 

1. The application was withdrawn after the agenda was published. 
 
C BH2023/02872 - Land Adjacent to American Express Stadium, Village Way, 

Brighton - Full Planning 
 

1. The Planning Manager introduced the application to the committee.  
 
Answers to Committee Member Questions 
 

2. Councillor Cattell was informed that the green walls would be required to be maintained 
by condition. 
  

3. Councillor Earthey was informed that no additional fan numbers were expected as a 
result of the development and the building hours would be limited by condition. 
 

4. Councillor Nann was informed that ‘away’ games would be shown at the stadium. 
 

10



 

5 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 6 MARCH 2024 

5. Councillor Shanks was informed that the alcohol licence restrictions were not a planning 
issue. Lighting at the stadium would be controlled by condition to minimise impacts on 
South Downs National Park.  
 

6. Councillor Robinson was informed that an up-to-date travel plan was required by 
condition and the Transport Team had found the development acceptable. 
 

7. Councillor Winder was informed that the proposals were policy compliant with 
greenways and two trees being planted. 
 

8. Councillor Theobald was informed that the structure would be used on non-match days. 
 

9. Councillor Loughran was informed that the noise report had been found acceptable by 
Environmental Health Team and doors would be closed by 11pm. 
 
Debate  
 

10. Councillor Allen noted that many other stadiums included fan zones, the student 
accommodation close by would be used to existing noise. The councillor supported the 
application. 
 

11. Councillor Cattell considered the use of space to be good and the fan zone would make 
the site more welcoming, and the additional toilets are good. The Councillor supported 
the application.  
 

12. Councillor Theobald noted that students could access the site via the A27 tunnel. The 
councillor considered the design to be great with good access and the building may help 
congestion after matches. 
 

13. Councillor Nann noted that no complaints had been received from the nearby student 
accommodation. 
 

14. Councillor Earthey supported the application. 
 

15. Councillor Loughran supported the application. 
 
Vote 
 

16. A vote was taken, and the committee agreed the recommendations unanimously.  
 

17. RESOLVED: That the Committee has taken into consideration and agrees with the 
reasons for the recommendation set out in the report and resolves be MINDED TO 
GRANT planning permission subject to a s106 agreement on the Heads of Terms set 
out in the report and the Conditions and Informatives as set out in the report, SAVE 
THAT should the s106 Planning Obligation not be completed on or before the 26th July 
2024 the Head of Planning is hereby authorised to refuse planning permission for the 
reasons set out in section 13.1 of the report. 

 
D BH2023/03236 - Emblem House, Home Farm Business Centre, Home Farm Road, 

Brighton - Full Planning 
 

1. The application was withdrawn after the agenda was published.  

11



 

6 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 6 MARCH 2024 

 
E BH2023/02679 - St Joseph's Church Hall, 6 Milton Road, Brighton - Full Planning 
 

1. The Planning Manager introduced the application to the committee. 
 
Answers to Committee Member Questions  
 

2. Councillor Cattell was informed that the render was through colour render.  
 

3. Councillor Robinson was informed that the design of the development was agreed 
following amendments by the applicant in response to comments from the previous 
Urban Design Officer.  
 

4. Councillor Theobald was informed that events will be held in the new hall and would be 
available to the community for hiring; however, there would be a gap between 
demolition and completion of the new building.  
 

5. Councillor Allen was informed that the date of the existing building was not known, 
however, the estimate was 1960/70s.  
 
Debate 
 

6. Councillor Allen noted that anecdotally they had been informed the existing building was 
used as a Sunday school in 1950s. The councillor was glad the building would remain 
as a community asset. They did not consider the new design to be a blight, but an 
interesting building. They considered careful thought should be given to materials. 
 

7. Councillor Earthey was glad the community facility would continue, and even though 
they considered the design out of keeping they supported the application. 
 

8. Councillor Cattell considered the design out of context as are all churches. The existing 
building is not acceptable and the new build in an interesting design and will be huge 
improvement to the area. The councillor supported the application.  
 

9. Councillor Nann considered the proposals to be better than the existing and supported 
the application. 
 

10. Councillor Allen considered the existing building would have been rejected. 
 

11. Councillor Theobald considered the proposed lift, toilets and general accessibility were 
all improvements and disabled parking would also be good. The councillor supported 
the application.  
 

12. Councillor Shanks considered the materials should be recycled after demolition. 
 

13. Councillor Robinson considered the development to be good for the community, 
however, they considered the external cladding to be unacceptable and they were 
therefore against the application. 
 

14. Councillor requested that materials be brought back to committee for consideration. 
 
Vote 

12



 

7 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 6 MARCH 2024 

 
15. A vote was taken, and by 9 to 1 against the committee agreed the recommendations. 

 
16. RESOLVED: That the Committee has taken into consideration and agrees with the 

reasons for the recommendation set out in the report and resolves to GRANT planning 
permission subject to the Conditions and Informatives in the report.  

 
F BH2023/03090 - 22 Osmond Road, Hove - Householder Planning Consent 
 

1. The Planning Manager introduced the application to the committee. 
 
Answers to Committee Member Questions 
 

2. Councillor Shanks was informed that the proposals included a roof space.  
 

3. Councillor Robinson was informed by the agent that the architect had changed, and this 
resulted in changes to the scheme. The roof area would be a crawl space only used for 
storage so was too low to provide additional living space.  
 

4. Councillor Loughran was informed that a materials condition was not required as the 
aluminium exterior finish was already indicated as matched the existing. 
 

5. Councillor Theobald was informed that the aluminium was powder coated to last 50/60 
years of weathering.  
 
Debate 
 

6. Councillor Shanks supported the application. 
 

7. Councillor Theobald considered that most of the development was already approved, 
and this was a very small change. The councillor supported the application.  
 

8. Councillor Robinson supported the application. 
 

9. Councillor Loughran did not support the application as the front elevation would have a 
negative impact on the townscape and the Victorian style neighbouring properties.  
 
Vote 
 

10. A vote was taken, and by 9 to 1 against the committee agreed the recommendations. 
 

11. RESOLVED: That the Committee has taken into consideration and agrees with the 
reasons for the recommendation set out in the report and resolves to GRANT planning 
permission subject to the Conditions and Informatives in the report.  

 
G BH2023/02789 - 10 Meadow Close, Hove - Full Planning 
 

1. The Planning Manager introduced the application to the committee. 
 
Answers to Committee Member Questions 
 

13



 

8 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 6 MARCH 2024 

2. Councillor Theobald was informed that the development was 1m from the boundary with 
the neighbour.  
 

3. Councillor Earthey was informed that the red site boundary line had been corrected and 
the height of the neighbouring property was considered to be sufficiently accurate but 
could not be required to be surveyed through planning.  
 

4. Councillor Loughran was informed that the proposed front elevation mixture of materials 
and styles was considered acceptable. The agent considered the hanging tiles and 
mock Tudor effects to add interest. The agent confirmed that policy SPD17 was taken 
into account.  
 

5. Councillor Robinson was informed by the agent that the front elevation porch was to 
provide a covered entrance to the property and was common in the area.  
 

6. Councillor Allen was informed by the agent that the existing dwelling was erected in 
1954 and the proposals were within scale. The case officer noted that it was common in 
the area to demolish the existing property and erect a large replacement. 
 
Debate 
 

7. Councillor Theobald considered the design good, even though the front elevation façade 
was not. The councillor supported the application. 
  

8. Councillor Allen stated that ‘McMansion’ meant that the design was incoherent. 
 

9. Councillor Cattell noted there were many different designs in the area and design 
varied. A better garage door was requested.  
 
Vote 
 

10. A vote was taken, and by 6 to 4 against the committee agreed the recommendations. 
(Councillor Allen voted against the application).  
 

11. RESOLVED: That the Committee has taken into consideration and agrees with the 
reasons for the recommendation set out in the report and resolves to GRANT planning 
permission subject to the Conditions and Informatives in the report. 

 
H BH2023/03253 - Hollingbury Library, Carden Hill, Brighton - Full Planning 
 

1. The Planning Manager introduced the application to the committee. 
 
Answers to Committee Member Questions 
 

2. Councillor Shanks was informed that 7 out of the 9 flats would have private terraces and 
there was a communal roof terrace. 
 

3. Councillor Theobald was informed that all the flats would be affordable rented and the 
impact on neighbouring properties would be lessened by the topography of the hillside 
site.  
 

14



 

9 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 6 MARCH 2024 

4. Councillor Thomson was informed that there were no parking controls in the area. There 
is on street parking and the car share scheme was not considered to be justified.  
 

5. Councillor Nann was informed that the affordable housing would have capped rents but 
that this was not a material planning consideration. 
 

6. Councillor Allen the site was allocated for development before the existing building was 
locally listed in 2017. A photographic record will be kept of the existing building.  
 

7. Councillor Robinson was informed that the solar panels will be included on the 
roofscape by the applicant. It was noted that the heating system was not a planning 
issue by the Planning Manager.  
 

8. Councillor Shanks was informed by the applicant that there was no gas heating/power in 
the development and the improvements such as the air source heat pumps were being 
looked at. 
 

9. Councillor Loughran was informed by the applicant that the height of the development 
had been limited to reduce the impact.  
 
Debate 
 

10. Councillor Allen considered it was a shame to lose the existing prefab building, however, 
they supported the application. 
 

11. Councillor Nann noted the housing situation was desperate and supported the 
application. 
 

12. Councillor Shanks supported the application. 
 

13. Councillor Earthey supported the application. 
 

14. Councillor Theobald noted that the library had been replaced, they preferred a lower 
development with some parking, however, the affordable housing was good, and they 
supported the application. 
 

15. Councillor Cattell considered it was great to see council supported housing and they 
expressed concerns over balcony treatments. The councillor supported the application. 
 

16. Councillor Thomson supported the application. 
 

17. Councillor Loughran considered the development to be of a high-quality design and 
good affordable housing. The councillor supported the application.  
 
Vote 
 

18. A vote was taken, and the committee agreed the recommendations unanimously.  
 
19. RESOLVED: That the Committee has taken into consideration and agrees with the 

reasons for the recommendation set out in the report and resolves to be MINDED TO 
GRANT planning permission subject to a s106 agreement and the Conditions and 
Informatives, SAVE THAT should the s106 Planning Obligation not be completed on or 

15



 

10 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 6 MARCH 2024 

before the 6th September 2024 the Head of Planning is hereby authorised to refuse 
planning permission for the reasons set out in section 10.3 of the report. 

 
I BH2023/03224 - 14 Millcross Road, Portslade - Householder Planning Consent 
 

1. The Planning Manager introduced the application to the committee. 
 
Speakers 
 

2. Janet Morgan addressed the committee as a neighbouring resident and stated that they 
objected to the scheme as it added to the destruction of the area. The development 
overlooked the garden, and allowed no light to the washing line, making the house dark 
and damp leading to health conditions. The speaker was a music and light therapist and 
they had had to abandon the work. The speaker considered the structure 2 inches to 
high and 10 inches too long. Communications had been unclear, and the council owed a 
duty of care to the council taxpayers. Due to overlooking the speaker felt uncomfortable 
in the garden and would retreat to the kitchen. The slope of the site meant neighbours 
overlooked gardens. The tall building was vulnerable on this high, steep windy site. The 
committee were requested to refuse the application.  
 

3. The applicant sent the following speech which was read out by the Democratic Services 
officer: This planning application follows a Prior Approval application approved at 
Planning Committee in April 2022 for a single storey rear extension, extending beyond 
the house by 3.25m. The current planning application seeks to regularise consent as the 
rear extension now includes 2 lantern rooflights. The roof lanterns were fitted during 
construction due to unforeseen issues on site and are the only revised detail from the 
approved scheme. The loft conversion built was intended to be constructed under 
permitted development rights, however the decision was taken for the dummy pitch of 
the ground floor extension to be attached to the bottom of the rear dormer. Whilst the 
loft on this property could be converted and extended under permitted development 
rights, the connected extensions as a whole development require planning permission, 
and so the loft conversion has subsequently been included within this application. The 
scale and massing of the proposals are not considered unusual for a single storey 
extension and loft conversion to a semi-detached bungalow of this nature. The rear 
extension is of the same modest depth as the previous Prior Approval application and 
replaces a pre-existing conservatory which had a similar depth. It should also be noted 
that the depth of the extension is only 0.25m over permitted development rights.  The 
addition of the raised lantern rooflights, given their positioning and glazed nature, do not 
result in the extension having any greater impact than the approved scheme. Prior to 
submission of the original Prior Approval application, the immediately adjoining 
neighbours were consulted with the proposals, and during design stages consideration 
was given to the impact that the extensions may have on neighbours in terms of 
overshadowing. This can be attested in the design of the modest proportions and depth 
of the rear extension, as well as the flat roof design. The extension has been set away 
from the shared boundary to the east by approximately 0.3m to ensure the existing 
boundary is not affected. Prior to the construction, the applicant instructed a Right for 
Light surveyor on the request of the adjoining neighbour, to ensure that the extension 
would not impact the internal light levels of the adjoining property under the 
requirements of the Right for Light Civil Law. The report concluded that if the proposed 
extension was completed, there would not be a substantial interference with the light to 
120 Foredown Drive as a whole or any room within it. They also stated that the 
remaining light would be enough for comfortable use and enjoyment of the house 

16



 

11 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 6 MARCH 2024 

according to the ordinary requirements of humankind. Aside from the 1 objection 
received by the Council, no concerns have been raised by any other neighbouring 
residents, and no complaints were received about the development during construction. 
Concerns have been raised by one neighbour that the bungalow is not for residential 
purposes. We would like to put on record that the applicant is the owner of the property, 
and this is their full-time residence. The applicant has moved to the city in retirement to 
be closer to her family. The extensions were part of a general refurbishment and 
modernisation of the layout of the property following purchase, to future proof the 
dwelling, and enable immediate family members and her grandchildren to be 
accommodated when they visit.  
 
Answers to Committee Member Questions 
 

4. Councillor Cattell was informed by the neighbour that the rear garden was 
overshadowed by the development which blocks light and leads to overlooking. The 
Planning Manager confirmed that the loft was converted under permitted development 
and a planning application was required when the dormer was attached to the roof 
extension.  
 

5. Councillor Theobald was informed that the extension is subservient to the dwelling and 
below the roofline. The dormer is 1.3m high, 1.6m deep and 3.5m wide.  
 

6. Councillor Robinson was informed that the application was retrospective, but this is not 
relevant. The extension is new, the dormer was erected under permitted development 
rights, however, the two elements join and therefore the whole requires planning 
permission.  
 

7. Councillor Nann was informed that all the elements of the development combined 
resulted in the requirement for planning permission. 
 

8. Councillor Shanks was informed that the dormer was permitted development.  
 
Debate 
 

9. Councillor Theobald considered the neighbour was suffering as a result of the 
development and they did not therefore support the application. 
 

10. Councillor Nann sympathised with the neighbour; however, they supported the 
application.  
 

11. Councillor Robinson noted the extension was agreed. They sympathised with the 
neighbour however, they supported the application.  
 
Vote 
 

12. A vote was taken, and by 7 to 3 the committee agreed the recommendations. 
 
13. RESOLVED: That the Committee has taken into consideration and agrees with the 

reasons for the recommendation set out in the report and resolves to GRANT planning 
permission subject to the Conditions and Informatives in the report.  

 
J BH2023/03245 - 8 Wayfield Avenue, Hove - Householder Planning Consent 

17



 

12 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 6 MARCH 2024 

 
1. This application was not called for discussion and the officer recommendation was 

therefore taken as having been agreed unanimously. 
 
92 LIST OF NEW APPEALS LODGED WITH THE PLANNING INSPECTORATE 
 
92.1 The Committee noted the new appeals that had been lodged as set out in the planning 

agenda. 
 
93 INFORMATION ON INFORMAL HEARINGS/PUBLIC INQUIRIES 
 
93.1 The Committee noted the information regarding informal hearings and public inquiries 

as set out in the planning agenda. 
 
94 APPEAL DECISIONS 
 
94.1 The Committee noted the content of the letters received from the Planning 

Inspectorate advising of the results of planning appeals which had been lodged as set 
out in the agenda. 

 
 

The meeting concluded at 4.30pm 
 

Signed 
 
 
 
 
 

Chair 

Dated this day of  
 

18



 

DATE OF COMMITTEE: 3rd April 2024 
 

 
ITEM A 

 
 
 

  
Brighton Hippodrome  

51 and 52-58 Middle Street 
BH2022/02443 
Full Planning 

19



20



P

El

Dukes Lane

DUKE STREET

MI
DD

LE
 ST

RE
ET

Daisy Court
Lane
Black

Bo
lla

rd

Ship St Ct

El Sub Sta

Union Street
BOYCE'S STREET

SH
IP 

ST
RE

ET

DUKE STREET

7

6

3

8

4

12

5

9

School

Old Ship

Middle Street

Hippodrome

11

34

16

38

52

70

37

62

12

30

24
25 26

10

68

22

58

13

40

1a

19

39

59

53

31

60

23

64
69

20 54

55

27

45

18

47
67

14

71

15

41
56

35

29

73

36

76
74

44

50

66

17 61

51

7a

75

El House

15c59
c

Sta

42
a

13a

37b

59
a

15b

15
a

59d

37a

17
a

14
a

72
a

Synagogue

Duke's Court

Ovest House

22
B

PH

13
.5

Club

2 t
o 5 1 t
o 9

ESS

Surgery

1 to 63

9 t
o 1

2

Kin
gs

Friends

Gardens

51
 to

 53

15
 to

 17

52
 to

 58

54
 to

 56

65
 to

 67

34 to 37

12 to 14

Buildings

Bartholomew

Wenlock

Cla
ren

ce 
Ho

use

10

12

4

13

11

5

16

3

9

17

8
7

PH

14 15

34

1

3
53

2

1

8

59

30
35

64
18

61

10

40

58

22

PH

1

18

PH

6

15

PH

24

PH

6

PH

25

41

59

13

37

27

22

House
60

3

69

PH

PH

14

19

8

24

16

27

17

1

70

PH

16

2

16

7

27
3

2

25

22

7

7

1

62

13

14

40

16

24

4

(c) Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence: 100020999, Brighton & Hove City Council. 2023.

BH2022 02443 - Brighton Hippodrome

1:1,250Scale: ̄

21



22



No: BH2022/02443 Ward: Regency 

App Type: Full Planning 

Address: The Hippodrome, 51 And 52 - 58 Middle Street, Brighton 

Proposal: Restoration, renovation, part-demolition works and extensions to 
The Hippodrome to create a new mixed use development 
including multi-format performance space (Sui Generis), and 
apart-hotel (C1), restaurant/café (E) with rooftop bar and terrace 
(Sui Generis) including; erection of new apart-hotel building 
fronting Ship Street of 3 to 7 storeys with retail (E) at ground floor, 
conversion of existing Hippodrome Fly Tower to create additional 
rehearsal/performance space, conversion of Hippodrome House 
to provide bar, members club with external terrace and apart-
hotel, and other associated works.  

Officer: Matthew Gest tel. 292525 Valid Date: 12.08.2022 

Con Area: Old Town Conservation 
Area 

Expiry Date:  16.01.2024 

 

Listed Building Grade: Grade II* EOT: 30.04.2023   

Agent: Lomax Design, 44 New Road, Shoreham By Sea, BN43 6RA 

Applicant: 52-58 Middle Street Brighton Ltd, Sussex House, Crowhurst Road, 
Hollingbury, BN1 8AF 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1. The application relates to the Hippodrome, 51 and 52-58 Middle Street. The 

buildings are Grade II* Listed and appears on the Historic England at risk 
register. The building has a varied history which is detailed in the report but 
was most recently used for Bingo and has been vacant since this use ceased. 

 
1.2. The application proposes to create a mixed-use development including a multi 

format performance space and an apart hotel fronting Ship Street. Various 
alterations are proposed to both the Hippodrome and Hippodrome House 
internally and externally. Section 5 of the report outlines the alterations in full. 

 
1.3. Amended plans and additional information has been sought and received 

during the application to address concerns raised during the consultation of 
the application and include amendments to the height of the apart hotel as it 
fronts Ship Street.  

 
1.4. As originally submitted objections were received from a number of consultees 

including the Heritage team, Historic England and National Highways. The 
holding objections of Historic England and National Highways have been 
withdrawn following the submission of additional information. Conditions are 
recommended that secure additional information to ensure the alterations and 
proposals do not cause further loss of the historic building and both respect 
the heritage assets of the listed building and surrounding Conservation Area. 

23



 
1.5. The considerations of the application are discussed in section 10 of the report. 

The application is recommended for approval. Case law has held that the 
desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest it possesses, and the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a conservation area 
should be given “considerable importance and weight”. 

 
1.6. The proposed development is considered to sustain and enhance both the 

architectural and historic significance of the buildings and the use proposed is 
considered to be suitably viable and consistent with the history of the site and 
the ongoing conservation of this at risk Grade II* Listed Building. The proposed 
development would contribute to the re-generation and vitality of this part of 
the Old Town Conservation Area and would also improve the public realm and 
make a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness.  

 
1.7. The report does recognise that there will be some harm resulting from the 

development, in particular, impact on amenity to a number of residential 
occupiers in the vicinity of the site and heritage harms to Hippodrome House 
and modest harm to the Conservation Area.  

 
1.8. Whilst the harm of the proposals are acknowledged, it is recognised that the 

proposals do bring forward the restoration of the Grade II* Listed Building, 
which has fallen into disrepair. Therefore on balance, subject to the conditions 
and obligations identified, the harm outlined in the report is considered to be 
outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1. That the Committee has taken into consideration and agrees with the reasons 

for the recommendation set out below and resolves to be MINDED TO 
GRANT planning permission subject to: 
A) Completion of a s106 Agreement and secure the Heads of Term as set 

out below: 
o Employment and Training Strategy 
o Contribution of £70,800 for Employment and Skills Training 
o Contribution for monitoring obligations (Events Management 

Plan) 
o Contribution for monitoring obligations (Delivery and Servicing 

Management Plan) 
o Contribution for monitoring obligations (Travel Plan) 

B) The Conditions & Informatives set out at Appendix B 
 
SAVE THAT should the s106 agreement not be completed on or before 3rd 
August 2024 the Head of Planning is hereby authorised to refuse planning 
permission for the reasons set out in Appendix C of this report:  

 
 

3. SITE LOCATION 

24



 
3.1. The application relates to the Grade II* Listed Brighton Hippodrome (52-58 

Middle Street) a late 19th Century venue. The building was originally 
constructed as an ice rink in 1896/97 and has undergone many iterations of 
use in its time. Most recently the building was used as a Bingo Hall and has 
been vacant since 2006. The building is included on Historic England's register 
of "buildings at risk" due to being in a substantial and ongoing state of 
deterioration. The building together with the associated and adjoining 
Hippodrome House (51 Middle Street) occupies a substantial site between 
Middle Street and Ship Street in the heart of the Old Town Conservation Area 
of the city with the principal entrance onto Middle Street and a rear yard with 
access from Ship Street. The site also lies within an Archaeological 
Notification Area. 

 
 
4. RELEVANT HISTORY 

 
4.1. BH2022/02444 - Restoration, renovation, part-demolition works and 

extensions to The Hippodrome to create a new mixed use development 
including multi-format performance space (Sui Generis), and apart-hotel (C1), 
restaurant/café (E) with rooftop bar and terrace (Sui Generis) including; 
erection of new apart-hotel building fronting Ship Street of 3 to 7 storeys with 
retail (E) at ground floor, conversion of existing Hippodrome Fly Tower to 
create additional rehearsal/performance space, conversion of Hippodrome 
House to provide bar, members club with external terrace and apart-hotel, and 
other associated works. (Listed Building Consent)  
Under Consideration 

 
4.2. BH2023/02483 - Certificate of lawfulness for the proposed re-use of the 

building for live public performance entertainment (with ancillary provision of 
food and beverage). 
Refused 7th November 2023 

 
4.3. BH2022/00648 - Clearance and treatment of dry rot infested areas including 

removal of non structural timbers and bingo hall installed fixtures and fittings. 
Approved 26th May 2022 

 
4.4. PRE2021/00110 - Repair and refurbishment of existing Grade II listed building 

for use as an entertainment venue, also including conversion of part of the 
existing building to an 18 room apartment hotel, another part to office use, and 
a newbuild extension at the rear to create 60 additional apartment hotel rooms 
and a small retail unit fronting onto Ship Street. Alterations to the Listed 
Building will be both internal and external on all floors. 
Advice issued 24th August 2021 

 
4.5. BH2021/01080 - Erection of new roof structure to the domed roof, and the 

demolition of several roof structures that penetrate through the existing roof 
fabric. (Listed Building Consent) 
Approved 5th October 2021 

 

25



4.6. BH2021/01079 - Erection of new roof structure to the domed roof, and the 
demolition of several roof structures that penetrate through the existing roof 
fabric. 
Approved 5th October 2021 

 
4.7. BH2013/04348 - Internal and external alterations to Brighton Hippodrome and 

Hippodrome House to form an eight screen cinema (D2) and four associated 
café/restaurants units (A3) to include the following works: demolition of the fly 
tower and other later additions and construction of replacement rear 
extensions; excavation works to extend existing basements; construction of 
two storey extension to northern elevation; reinstatement of original 
Hippodrome entrance on Middle Street; demolition of 11 Dukes Lane to create 
a new pedestrian route; new bay window to western elevation of 10 Dukes 
Lane, new windows to 47 Middle Street; new windows and entrance way to 
Hippodrome House; reconfiguration of existing service yards and parking 
areas; improvements to pedestrian and disabled access to Middle Street and 
Dukes Lane; construction of new three storey plus basement unit on land 
adjacent to 18-19 Ship Street (referenced as 19A Ship Street in supporting 
documents and plans) comprising A1/A2/A3 use on the ground floor and B1 
use on the upper floors; and other associated works. 
 Approved 28th November 2014  

 
4.8. BH2013/04351 - Internal and external alterations, restoration and repair to 

Brighton Hippodrome and Hippodrome House to facilitate conversion to 
cinema (D2) and associated café/restaurant units (A3) to include the following 
works: demolition of the rear fly tower and other later additions and 
construction of replacement rear extensions; construction of two storey 
extension to northern elevation to provide new access way into the 
Hippodrome; excavation works to stalls and orchestra pit; installation of 
mezzanine floor; reinstatement of original Hippodrome entrance on Middle 
Street; new windows and entrance way to Hippodrome House; and other 
associated works. 
Approved 28th November 2014  

 
 
5. APPLICATION DESCRIPTION 
 
5.1. The application proposes a new mixed use development across site including; 

 Restoration, renovation, part-demolition and extensions to The 
Hippodrome to provide a multi-format performance/event space (Sui 
Generis) with restaurant/café (E) 

 Conversion and alterations to Hippodrome House to provide bar, 
members club and apart-hotel (Sui Generis), and other associated works. 

 Erection at the rear of a new 3-7 storey apart-hotel (Sui Generis) fronting 
Ship Street with retail (E) at ground floor 

 
The Hippodrome 

5.2. The proposal is to restore and bring the auditorium back into use as a 
performance venue/events space in a “Theatre of Varieties” concept. This is 
to utilise the auditorium as a flexible performance and events space capable 

26



of hosting both musical and theatrical performances as well as providing a 
venue for conferences, exhibitions, banquets as well as other uses such as 
event cinema, lectures and weddings. The circle is to be retained with fixed 
raked seating (400 seats) whilst the main auditorium floor would be re-
modelled as a flat floor event space. The decorative plasterwork within the 
auditorium would be repaired and restored with the retention and preservation 
of a number of other historic elements, fixtures and fittings. The ground floor 
of the venue would also enclose a kitchen in the south eastern corner and 
ancillary bar areas set within the auditorium.  

 
5.3. At mezzanine level (03) the area at the rear of the stage within the fly tower 

would be converted to a rehearsal/practice performance space with additional 
Apart Hotel bedrooms on the floor above. 

 
5.4. From circle level there is also proposed access to an enclosed “roof top” bar 

(level 03) with a capacity of 32 covers that faces north and in turn leads onto 
an external roof terrace fronting Middle Street for 44 covers. 

 
5.5. The ground floor lobby of the auditorium would be converted to a 

bar/restaurant with a frontage onto Middle Street catering for 60 covers 
internally and 44 externally on the public highway (pavement) and would re-
utilise the box booths between the foyer and auditorium.  

 
5.6. The ground floor would also be remodelled with the provision of washroom 

and toilet facilities as well as a re-designed back of house at the rear of the 
stage to provide dressing rooms, changing rooms and green rooms, stage 
lobbies and other performance facilities and storage.  

 
5.7. The stage get in and get out would be in the same overall location as the 

current elephant/equestrian ramp providing a direct and ramped access to the 
stage side and rear. A late night exit for patrons is sited adjacent to this in the 
northern side of the auditorium. 

 
5.8. Servicing and delivery of the auditorium would take place through the existing 

vehicle access on the northern side of Hippodrome House. 
 
5.9. External alterations are proposed to the Middle Street frontage and these 

relate largely to matters of detailing and infilling and installation of doors and 
windows. 

 
Hippodrome House 

5.10. The ground floor of the northern part of Hippodrome House would be 
remodelled for use as a private members club with bar and lounge areas. The 
bar at ground level would have a capacity of 59 opening out on an outside 
terrace in the Elephant’s Yard of 32 covers.  

 
5.11. At mezzanine level is a proposed Member’s dining room, with a 24 person 

capacity served by its own kitchen. The northern upper parts of Hippodrome 
House would be remodelled and facilitate 16 Apart Hotel rooms. 

 

27



5.12. The southern section of Hippodrome House adjoining the Hippodrome 
auditorium would be entirely remodelled as the Apart Hotel entrance lobby 
providing access via the stair core to rooms above to the street frontage with 
the rear remodelled for WC facilities and access to the auditorium. 

 
The Apart Hotel 

5.13. The application proposes the erection of an extension at the rear and side of 
the auditorium and infilling of the rear car park with a new 3-7 storey apart-
hotel building proposed at 21.4m in height, providing 62 hotel rooms fronting 
onto Ship Street with a new retail unit (Class E) at ground floor. The extension 
would be set down at its eastern end and would appear largely as a three 
storey building with accommodation in the roof from Ship Street. The 
extension steps up with the 5th and 6th storey 9m back from the street front 
with a metal clad mansard roof addition above. The elevations propose 
differing treatments of brickwork detailing punctuated by set ins and set backs 
along with windows and canted bays serving the Apart Hotel rooms on the 
northern and southern sides.  

 
5.14. Additional alterations are proposed to the Hippodrome fly tower and roof. The 

roof spaces would feature a number of rooflights, PV panels, plant equipment 
and acoustic louvres. New window openings are proposed to the fly tower on 
the south eastern side. 

 
Amendments 

5.15. Amended plans and further information have been provided during the course 
of the application. Principally the amendments have reduced the height of the 
rear Apart Hotel building and removed a proposed use of the fly tower for 
separate office use (E) from the application and in its place is the proposed 
rehearsal/studio space. 

 
Condition of the Hippodrome 

5.16. The building has been vacant since 2006 and during this time has fallen into 
considerable disrepair in this time. Water ingress and an infestation of dry rot 
have been somewhat remedied by recent planning and listed building 
consents to renew the auditorium roof and remove non-structural dry rot. 
These consents have been implemented by the applicant. 

 
5.17. It is also of note that the applicant has commenced some works which would 

require listed building consent but are not yet approved, most notably the 
restoration of the auditorium plaster work with some of this work already 
considerably underway. These proposed part-retrospective works form part of 
this consent and the associated listed building application BH2022/02444. 

 
 
6. REPRESENTATIONS  
 
6.1. Overall and in total Fifty one (51) public representations from forty four (44) 

individuals have been received in regards to the application during the course 
of the application. These are broken down in the following paragraphs. 

 

28



Original consultation 
6.2. Thirteen (13) representations were received from individuals and the following 

groups, Brighton and Hove Heritage Commission, The Ship Street, 
Middle Street and Ship Street Gardens Residents Association objecting 
to the proposed development for the following reasons: 

 Adverse impact on listed building 

 Adversely affects Conservation Area 

 Apart Hotel would harm character of the street 

 Apart Hotel would be overly dominant, oppressive / excessive bulk 

 Additional traffic and concerns on road capacity 

 Detrimental impact on property value 

 Inappropriate Height of Development 

 Overdevelopment 

 Overshadowing 

 Loss of outlook 

 Overbearing 

 Poor design 

 Impact on Brighton skyline 

 Would create enclosing impact 

 Hotel too close to residential properties 

 Impacts on security from crowds 

 Noise, disturbance and vibration from venue 

 Out of keeping 

 Loss of privacy from hotel windows 

 Roof-terrace to Apart Hotel too close to boundary 

 Concerns of noise from rooftop bar 

 Rooftop bars should close 9pm weekday and 10pm on weekends 

 Loss of privacy from offices / fly tower conversion 

 Disruptive and detrimental to peaceful enjoyment of Quakers Meeting 
House and Gardens 

 Would block light to gardens of Quakers Meeting house 

 Harm to trees of Quakers Meeting House 

 Loss of area at rear would prevent large scale theatre 

 No sufficient space for deliveries and performance equipment 

 Rear yard should be retained 

 Early morning deliveries should be restricted 

 Concerns of noise from crowds 

 Concerns of dust and noise from construction 

 Would set dangerous precedent for future development in the 
Conservation Area 

 Severe loss of light to residential properties  

 Inappropriate siting of refuse storage for Apart Hotel 

 Restriction of view 

 Impact on parking in area 

 Concern on table and chairs on Middle St  

 Potential for anti-social behaviour 

 Lack of historic detail 

 Poor management of the site currently 

29



 Poor quality of workmanship of current repairs 

 Inaccuracies in Heritage Statement 

 Urgent works not completed 

 Would harm views from outside the site 

 Hotel façade is inappropriate design 

 Fly tower must be retained and operational 

 Concerns that the site will be subdivided without benefits being achieved 
 
6.3. Five (5) representations were received from individuals and the following 

group, Hove Civic Society, supporting the proposed development for the 
following reasons: 

 In keeping with Listed Building 

 Respects and protects the Heritage asset 

 Flexibility beneficial for the venue 

 Cultural benefits from restoration for the public use 

 Brighton needs venue to attract high class acts 

 Variety and higher quality performances in new space 

 Quality venue needed to provide quality entertainment 

 Assist in regeneration 

 Beneficial to the city 

 Would be a great asset culturally 

 Beneficial to local business 

 High end venue is what the city needs 
 
6.4. Four (4) representations were received commenting on the proposed 

development: 

 More toilets required 

 Support principle but concerns expressed on height and mass of Apart 
Hotel and offices 

 Should improve disability access provisions 

 Should increase back of house areas and dressing rooms 

 Would like to see Palm Court restored also 
 

Following amendments to the scheme and a re-consultation in April 2023: 
6.5. Twenty two (22) representations were received objecting to the proposed 

development for the reasons stated above. 
 
6.6. Five (5) representations were received supporting the proposed development  
 
6.7. Two (2) representations were received commenting on the proposed 

development for the reasons as stated above. 
 
6.8. Two (2) representations have been received from Caroline Lucas (MP) on 

24th October 2022 and 25th April 2023 supporting the proposals. 
 
6.9. A representation has been received from the Brighton Hippodrome CIC 

(Community Interest Company) on 7th October 2022 objecting to the proposals 
for the following reasons; 

 

30



 The plans contain insufficient detail and evidence of an overall strategy 
and business plan. 

 Liquor licensing in the cumulative impact zone (CIZ) may limit the potential 
of the scheme. 

 Issues of noise transfer and neighbourhood disturbance are not 
addressed. 

 The impacts of regular 1,800-person concerts are not discussed. 

 This proposal is similar to one that failed for a major music operator 10 
years ago. 

 The scheme is not reversible for future theatre use, as required of previous 
schemes. 

 
 
7. CONSULTATIONS 
 

Internal:  
7.1. City Clean: Comment 

No issues to note if refuse and recycling storage are kept off public highway 
 
7.2. Economic Development: Support 

Where possible the preferred option would be de-construction and the reuse 
of materials used in the existing building.  

 
7.3. Employment and skills: Comment  

Based on the information provided in the application, a contribution is 
requested of £70,800 via S106 Agreement towards the Local Employment 
Scheme, and an Employment and Training strategy should be secured.  

 
7.4.  Environmental Health (noise/acoustic assessment): No objection subject 

to conditions 
Further acoustic design assessment required by condition, post completion 
testing required, limits recommended to plant and equipment and further 
informative recommended. 

 
7.5. Environmental Health (Land contamination): No objection 

Conditions recommended for desk study, site investigation, a method 
statement for risk/remediation and verification. Asbestos informative 
suggested. 

 
7.6. Heritage: 22nd February 2024 (final comments):  

Approve subject to conditions 
The addendum submitted in December 2023 provides more information on 
the back of house provision, operational management, and servicing of the 
site. This helps to clarify the type and scale of activity that could take place at 
this venue and how it will operate and be managed.  

 
7.7. The latest information provided has not addressed fully the concerns of the 

previous Heritage comments and this would align with Historic England’s 
latest comments who have particular concerns regarding (but not exclusively) 
the Palm Court interiors: 

31



We consider that harm to heritage significance could be reduced by the 
retention and re-use of some of the historic Palm Court interiors for additional 
bar and front of house areas to serve the entertainment use. 
 

7.8. Where works are proposed which would lead to harm, local planning 
authorities are required to follow the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) that any harm or loss of significance would require clear and 
convincing justification. Paragraphs 203, 205, 206, 207 and 211 are all 
relevant however 208 is most worthy of note: 
Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset (in this case a listed building), this 
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, 
where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 

 

NPPF paragraph 208 
7.9. These benefits are defined in the Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) as 

‘anything that delivers economic, social or environmental objectives’, and 
which are ‘of a nature or scale to benefit the public at large and not just be a 
private benefit’. The Hippodrome would offer public benefits in the form of 
renovating a at risk listed building and bringing it back into use. The building 
has been vacant for a long time and is in a poor condition. It has deteriorated 
over this period and is on Historic England’s ‘buildings at risk’ register. It is 
also on the Theatres Trust’s register of theatres at risk. The public would also 
have the benefit of seeing and experiencing this historic performance space 
as well as having an additional venue in the city. There will also be additional 
employment opportunities. However, the heritage impacts would need to be 
minimised by the imposition of conditions to avoid loss to historic fabric such 
as plasterwork and original fixtures and fittings in The Hippdrome and 
Hippodrome House and to ensure all works carried out are appropriate to the 
heritage asset. Whilst the Apart-hotel is considered acceptable, further details 
are required by condition to ensure that it does not affect the significance of 
the historic building as well as preserving and enhancing the Old Town 
Conservation Area. The imposition of conditions and compliance with the 
conditions are critical to ensuring the public benefit tests are met and that the 
alterations preserve the special character of the building. 
 

7.10. Historic England outlines a staged approach to decision making in their Advice 
Note 12. Previous Heritage comments would indicate that the Heritage Impact 
Statement hasn’t satisfactorily addressed these. The proposals as currently 
submitted will lead to less than substantial harm, but to a high degree if clear 
conditions are not set out for each individual part of the development to ensure 
that the loss of original fabric is minimised. The viable option likely to cause 
the least harm to the significance of the asset would also require clear 
conditions to be set.  

 
7.11. Conditions are recommended for; methodology and details of how the historic 

features would be restored and protected during works, a detailed phasing 
plan, further details on the historic floor layers, details for the internal sound 
wall, updated information on the fibrous plaster works undertaken, the porch 

32



canopy to Hippodrome House, details of the treatment for the basement of 
Hippodrome House, details of the restoration of the Middle Street canopy, 
details of the juliette balconies fronting Middle Street, further information on 
the retention of the circle seating and a proposed colour scheme for the interior 
plasterwork. 

 
28th April 2023: Seek Amendments/Seek Further Information 

7.12. There is still therefore a need for a clearer understanding, with appropriate 
specialist input, of how the multi-format venue would viably operate as 
currently designed and laid out. There also remains the need for a clear 
phasing plan to provide confidence that the listed building will be fully restored. 
More details of the alterations to the Hippodrome are still required in order to 
be confident that the works would conserve the significance of the building 
and that the package of heritage benefits is sufficiently great as to outweigh 
the harmful aspects of the proposals. 
 

7.13. The new building elements, including the apart hotel and the infill addition to 
Hippodrome House, are now considered to be broadly acceptable in terms of 
minimising their harm, but further design amendments are recommended to 
achieve a suitable development in heritage terms. 
 
30th September 2022: Seek Amendments/Seek Further Information 

7.14. Whilst the principle of these applications is supported, there are significant 
concerns that as submitted the applications; lack justification and detail for the 
proposed alterations and restoration works, lack clarity around how the multi-
use venue would viably operate and how it would comfortably co-exist with 
other proposed uses, lack details of how acoustic separation would be 
provided and how that may impact on the interior and features of the 
auditorium etc, lack a phasing plan, may not allow for future reversibility and 
for flexibility of use(s), involve substantial alterations to Hippodrome House 
and large scale new development. 

 
7.15. Planning Policy: No objection 

The proposed mix of uses appears broadly policy compliant, subject to 
detailed assessment in terms of design, heritage and amenity impacts. 

 
7.16. Sustainability: No objection subject to conditions 

Conditions recommended to secure BREEAM Excellent rating, a Biodiversity 
Net Gain assessment and the layout of roof-mounted solar panels. 

 
7.17. Sustainable Drainage: No objection subject to pre-commencement 

conditions 
Site is low flood risk. Insufficient information provided within the application 
and full details of the proposed surface water and foul water drainage strategy 
and a demonstration of their effectiveness will be required by pre-
commencement condition. 

 
7.18. Sustainable Transport: No objection subject to conditions, Section 106 to 

secure event plans and contribution and informatives 
September 2023 

33



 
12th May 2023 –Objection- seek further information 

7.19. Further information required in regards to; trip generation, assignment and 
distribution information, servicing and delivery and local modes of transport. 

 
23rd February 2023 –Objection- seek further information 

7.20. Further information required in regards to; trip generation, assignment and 
distribution information, servicing and delivery and local modes of transport. 

 
14th October 2022 – Objection- seek further information 

7.21. Further information to be provided by the applicant in regards to; revised 
transport assessment, revised trip generation, assignment and distribution 
information, servicing and delivery, cycle parking and local modes of transport. 

 
7.22. Urban Design: Comment (seek amendments) 

Design of the retail and Apart-Hotel frontage should be improved and 
consideration given to reducing the number of storeys and height to lessen 
impact on the conservation area, review or clarify Apart-hotel in terms of 
accessibility from Middle Street and arrangements during the night when the 
hippodrome is closed. Reduce scale of infill development and review material 
composition to create a development that is distinctive and harmonious. 

 
External 

7.23. Brighton and Hove Archaeological Society: Comment 
Proposed development lies in the archaeologically sensitive centre of Old 
Brighton. Palaeolithic deposits may remain or vestiges of the medieval or 
Reformation periods. 

 
7.24. Conservation and Advisory Group: Support 

Noted concerns on height of Apart Hotel building, request a Section 106 
obligation to ensure hotel is prevented from trading until Hippodrome 
completed. 

 
7.25. County Archaeologist: Support 

Information provided is satisfactory and identifies that there is a risk that 
archaeological remains will be damaged. Risk of damage to archaeology is 
recommended to be mitigated by the application of planning conditions. 

 
7.26. Health and Safety Executive: No comment 

 
7.27. Historic Buildings and Places (Ancient Monuments Society): Objection 

Concerns that information provided within the HIA (Heritage Impact 
Assessment) is inadequate for Grade II* Listed Building, decorative elements 
of Hippodrome House (Palm Court interiors) should be retained, concerns on 
Apart Hotel height and design. Suggests further information and advice is 
obtained. 

 
7.28. Historic England: 30th January 2024: Comment 

34



It will be for the Council to decide whether this scheme is deliverable and 
viable in the Brighton entertainment market and would therefore secure a long-
term sustainable use for this important heritage asset. 

 
7.29. We consider that harm to heritage significance could be reduced by the 

retention and re-use of some of the historic Palm Court interiors for additional 
bar and front of house areas to serve the entertainment use, and through a 
reduction in height of the apart- hotel development. 

 
7.30. Should you decide the proposals are acceptable, we would encourage you to 

consider the recommended conditions which would further reduce harm. 
 

27th April 2023: Seek Amendments/Seek Further Information/Objection 
7.31. Welcome the further information and amendments but consider that they do 

not go far enough to address previous concerns. This is because they still do 
not provide sufficient evidence to demonstrate: the deliverability of the 
scheme; that the potential harm has been minimised and that the public 
benefits can be delivered to outweigh the harm and be legally secured. 

 
7.32. Importantly, we consider it is crucial that the applicant demonstrates that the 

proposed multi-format performance use is deliverable within the re-designed 
spaces, including its servicing and back of house arrangements, and is viable 
and sustainable within the Brighton entertainment market. If adequate 
information and amendments as described are provided, we think that we 
might be able to support the proposed re-use of this important historic building. 

 
13th October 2022: Seek Amendments/Seek Further Information/Objection 

7.33. This scheme has the potential to retain and restore important aspects of the 
building’s significance, which counts in its favour, although other aspects of 
the scheme would result in harm to significance and we have some 
overarching questions about its overall deliverability. 

 
7.34. We think that we could support the proposed scheme if persuaded that the 

harm had been minimised and that heritage benefits capable of outweighing 
the harm could be legally secured. However, to be confident of all these 
matters, we would need further information that demonstrates that the 
proposed multi-format performance use, including its servicing, is viable and 
sustainable and would work within the re-designed spaces. In addition, we 
would need to be persuaded that an historically accurate restoration of the 
fibrous plasterwork in the auditorium can be achieved, while minimising loss 
of historic fabric. We also consider that amendments to the design and height 
of the apart-hotel development are required in order to reduce harm to the 
conservation area. We therefore advise you to seek this further information 
and amendments before the application is determined. 

 
7.35. National Highways: No objection 

Sufficient information submitted (August 2023) to demonstrate that the 
proposals, if consented, would not have an unacceptable impact on the safety, 
reliability and/ or operational efficiency of the SRN (strategic road network). 

 

35



6th June 2023, 21st April 2023, 6th March 2023, 6th January 2023, 9th December 
2022 – Holding objection 

7.36. Further information required on trip generation, distribution assignment and 
assessment. 

 
5th September 2022 – Holding objection 

7.37. Further information to be provided by the applicant in order that an informed 
decision can be made in relation to the potential impacts of the development 
on the SRN (strategic road network). Further information required on trip 
generation, distribution assignment and assessment. 

 
7.38. Theatres Trust: 10th January 2024: Objection 

Additional information provides some reassurance on particular aspects of the 
application such as the ability to accept large vehicles and that operational 
matters are being considered to some degree, overall it does not 
fundamentally address the primary objections and concerns that we have 
raised previously. Therefore our existing recommendations and position 
remains unchanged. 

 
21st April 2023: Objection 

7.39. Welcome that revisions have been made to the proposed plans which go 
some way towards addressing previous concerns and objections. In terms of 
internal layout and function to back of house areas and within the fly tower 
there is some improvement. In particular, the removal of serviced offices from 
the fly tower has given much needed additional space and facilities over to the 
event/performance function, including the addition of an indicative rehearsal 
space. Operationally there is now less complication and scope for potential 
conflict around the Elephant Yard which improves function and safety, partly 
through having one less use (the serviced offices) and partly through the 
apparent removal of external seating for the Members Bar. There is now a 
slightly more straightforward access route to the stage for get-ins (delivery and 
removal of equipment, props and sets for shows). Externally, the massing of 
the serviced apartments to the rear yard has been reduced and we consider 
this now sits more comfortably with the existing building so has reduced 
impact on its setting. 

 
7.40. Nonetheless, we still have significant concerns regarding the operability and 

viability of the scheme as a venue for live music, comedy, cabaret, 
conferencing and other such functions and events. This is based on our own 
expert advice informed through engagement and consultation with established 
venues and operators offering similar provision at a similar scale and capacity. 
These matters will need to be addressed if the flexible, multi-purpose use for 
Hippodrome is to be a success and the loss and harm to heritage of such a 
significant asset is to be justified. 

 
7th October 2022: Objection 

7.41. Priority is to see a viable, sustainable and long-term future for the Hippodrome 
as a live performance venue. At this stage consider there to be a number of 
flaws with the design and proposed operation of this venue which prevent that, 
requiring significant amendment. There is also a general lack of evidence and 

36



detail within the submission that would ordinarily be required of any proposal 
to support the granting of planning permission or listed building consent and 
to justify heritage loss and harm (both substantial and less than substantial) 
as well as conflict with policy and departure from optimum viable use. 

 
7.42. Whilst no objection to the overall principle of change of use (again subject to 

further evidence), until the revisions and further information come forward, 
position will be to object to the granting of planning permission and listed 
building consent. 

 
7.43. Sussex Police: Comment 

No concerns on design and layout, concerns on protecting residential amenity 
due to number of external covers, suggests conditions for reasonable trading 
hours, condition that alcohol is ancillary to food, external terraces should be 
safe to avoid items being dropped/thrown, appropriate security measures 
should be incorporated across the venue for safe and secure access. 

 
7.44. UK Power Networks: Comment 

The applicant is advised to adhere to guidance with regard to safe construction 
practice close to cables/apparatus.  

 
7.45.  Victoria Society: Objection 

 Concerns that information provided within the HIA (Heritage Impact 
Assessment) is not sufficient. 

 Concerns that harms are caused to the significance of the Listed Building 
and Conservation Area and would set a dangerous precedent due to the 
scale of Apart Hotel. 

 Further historic restoration detailing should be achieved 
 

7.46. Visit Brighton: Support 
In order to sustain and grow visitor economy it is essential we continue to 
innovate and develop the portfolio of product in the City which appeals to both 
residents and tourists.  

 
 
8. MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS  
 
8.1. In accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 

Act 2004, this decision has been taken having regard to the policies and 
proposals in the National Planning Policy Framework, the Development Plan, 
and all other material planning considerations identified in the "Considerations 
and Assessment" section of the report. 

 
8.2. The development plan is: 

 Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One (adopted March 2016); 

 Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two (adopted October 2022); 

 East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Plan 
(adopted February 2013);  

 East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals 
Sites Plan (adopted February 2017);  

37



 Shoreham Harbour JAAP (adopted October 2019). 
 
 
9. RELEVANT POLICIES & GUIDANCE  
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
 

Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One:  
SS1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
SA2 Central Brighton 
CP2 Sustainable economic development 
CP4 Retail provision 
CP5 Culture and tourism 
CP6 Visitor accommodation 
CP7 Infrastructure and developer contributions 
CP8 Sustainable buildings 
CP9 Sustainable transport 
CP10 Biodiversity 
CP11 Flood risk 
CP12 Urban design 
CP13 Public streets and spaces 
CP15 Heritage 
CP18 Healthy city 

 
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two:  
DM18 High quality design and places 
DM20 Protection of Amenity 
DM21 Extensions and alterations 
DM22 Landscape Design and Trees 
DM23 Shopfronts 
DM26 Conservation Areas 
DM27 Listed Buildings 
DM33 Safe, sustainable and active travel 
DM35 Travel Plans and Transport Assessments 
DM36 Parking and servicing 
DM37 Green Infrastructure and Nature Conservation 
DM43 Sustainable Drainage 
DM44 Energy Efficiency and Renewables 

 
Supplementary Planning Documents:  
SPD03 Construction & Demolition Waste 
SPD06 Trees & Development Sites 
SPD09 Architectural Features 
SPD11 Nature Conservation & Development 
SPD12 Design Guide for Extensions and Alterations 
SPD14 Parking Standards 
SPD17 Urban Design Framework 

 
 
10. CONSIDERATIONS & ASSESSMENT 

38



 
10.1. The main considerations in the determination of this application relate to the 

principal of the proposed use, the impact upon the significance of the Grade 
II* Listed Buildings, impacts on neighbouring and local public amenity, design 
and appearance and impacts upon the Conservation Area and other nearby 
listed buildings, highways and transport impacts, energy efficiency and 
sustainability of the development proposed. 

 
10.2. In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which 

affects a listed building or its setting, the Council has a statutory duty to have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
Moreover, when considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development in a conservation area the Council has a statutory duty to pay 
special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character 
and appearance of the area. 

  
10.3. Case law has held that the desirability of preserving a listed building or its 

setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest it possesses, 
and the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of 
a conservation area should be given “considerable importance and weight”. 

 
Significance of the Hippodrome (History of the site and historic significance) 

10.4. Numbers 52-58 Middle Street is the Hippodrome, which with the associated 
building at number 51 known as Hippodrome House, is a Grade II* Listed 
Building and occupies a substantial site in the heart of the Old Town 
conservation area of the city.  
 

10.5. The Hippodrome has both special architectural and historic interest and the 
surviving Matcham auditorium interior is of greatest note.  
 

10.6. The site has a long history as an entertainment venue, having been built 
originally to serve Brighton’s burgeoning tourist market during the rapid 
expansion of the city in the late 19th century.  
 

10.7. The building’s vast circular auditorium is largely concealed within the tight 
urban grain of the Old Town’s lanes and twittens behind an unassuming 
frontage on Middle Street. The various phases of the building’s history remain 
legible in a series of external and internal features including the equestrian 
ramp associated with the circus use in the Middle Street yard. The plain brick 
fly tower is a later addition to the building which along with the yard and car 
park to the east presents an uncharacteristically utilitarian outlook when seen 
from Ship Street. 

 
10.8. The building has been reinvented a number of times. Originally built as an 

indoor ice rink by Lewis Kerslake in 1896/97 the building was converted to a 
circus four years later by renowned theatre architect Frank Matcham. After a 
year the eminent theatre architect, Bertie Crewe, altered it again to create a 
variety theatre for theatre magnate Tom Barrasford by removing the circus 

39



ring, creating an orchestra pit with stage, adding a pair of boxes and re-seating 
the ground floor. 
 

10.9. Major alterations were then carried out in 1915/16 by another theatre architect 
J. Emblin Walker. Further alterations followed in the 1930s, 1940s and 1950s 
and the Hippodrome was used as a variety entertainment venue playing host 
to many of the most famous performers of the 20th Century until 1964. 
Following a brief conversion of the building to a film and TV studio in 1966, the 
building reopened as a bingo hall in 1969.  

 
10.10. The building was occupied by Mecca Bingo from 1969 until it closed and fell 

into disuse in 2006. In the 18 years since, the building has been in a 
substantial and ongoing state of deterioration with sufficient water ingress, dry 
rot and general decay and disrepair occurring for the building to be 
longstanding on Historic England's and the Theatres Trusts registers of 
"buildings at risk".  

 
10.11. Notwithstanding the overall state of disrepair, the building retains a great deal 

of interior detailing with much of the plaster work throughout the Hippodrome 
auditorium and Hippodrome house surviving. The building retains a number 
of unusual fixtures and fittings and much of the foyer, with mahogany panelling 
and it’s decorative ceiling, remains in good condition.  

 
10.12. It is from Matcham’s designs that the main aesthetic interest of the 

Hippodrome as we know it today internally and externally is derived. The 
historic significance of the building is largely attributed to the interiors 
flamboyant rococo plasterwork created by Matcham, surviving decorative 
detailing and to the large auditorium itself as a single open volume capable of 
maintaining a performance function in view of the buildings rich and varied 
performance history.  
 

10.13. The application site also includes the adjoining ‘Hippodrome House’, originally 
two mid-nineteenth century dwellings, in which Tom Barrasford lived until his 
death in 1910. The house is in an altered condition and includes within it a 
miscellany of colourful theatre set pieces likely dating from its 1930s and later 
use as a lounge bar. The basement, however, is relatively unaltered and 
retains a fine, large kitchen range, original storage shelving and extensive 
brick vaults, all reflecting the status of the original house and its owner. 

 
Principle of the Development:  
Policy background 

10.14. Of key relevance to this application are paragraphs 201, 203, 205, 206, 207, 
208 and 211 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). In particular:  
Paragraph 203: In determining applications, local planning authorities should 
take account of:  
a)  the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage 

assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  
b)  the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make 

to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and  

40



c)  the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to 
local character and distinctiveness.  

Paragraph 205: When considering the impact of a proposed development on 
the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts 
to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.  
Paragraph 206: Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 
heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within 
its setting), should require clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm 
to or loss of:  
a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, should 

be exceptional; 
b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, 

protected wreck sites, registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed 
buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and gardens, and World 
Heritage Sites, should be wholly exceptional. 

Paragraph 208: Where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 

 
10.15. Public benefits are defined in the Planning Practice Guidance as ‘anything that 

delivers economic, social or environmental objectives’, and which are ‘of a 
nature or scale to benefit the public at large and not just be a private benefit’.  
 

10.16. The guidance also states; “It is important that any use is viable, not just for the 
owner, but also for the future conservation of the asset: a series of failed 
ventures could result in a number of unnecessary harmful changes being 
made to the asset. 
If there is only one viable use, that use is the optimum viable use. If there is a 
range of alternative economically viable uses, the optimum viable use is the 
one likely to cause the least harm to the significance of the asset, not just 
through necessary initial changes, but also as a result of subsequent wear and 
tear and likely future changes. The optimum viable use may not necessarily 
be the most economically viable one. Nor need it be the original use. However, 
if from a conservation point of view there is no real difference between 
alternative economically viable uses, then the choice of use is a decision for 
the owner, subject of course to obtaining any necessary consent. 
 

10.17. The application proposes the re-use of the Hippodrome as a flexible 
performance and events space, a new retail unit fronting Ship Street, a new 
members club and Apart Hotel. In addition to the above policy framework and 
guidance, local policies SA2, CP4, CP5, CP6, CP13 and CP15 of the Brighton 
and Hove City Plan Part One as well as DM18, DM26 and DM27 of the 
Brighton and Hove City Plan Part Two are also relevant to establishing the 
acceptability of the principal of the proposals.  

 
Policy assessment of the proposal 

41



10.18. Strategic policy SA2 seeks to reinforce and improve central Brighton as the 
city’s vibrant, thriving, regional centre for shopping, leisure, tourism, cultural, 
office and commercial uses. The policy, amongst other elements, recognises 
the role of independent retail offerings, promotes a balance of evening and 
night-time economy uses which appeal to a wide range of age and social 
groups and promotes active ground floor uses. 

 
10.19. Policy CP4 (retail provision) seeks to support new retail development within 

the defined shopping centres. CP5 (Culture and Tourism) seeks to maintain 
and enhance the cultural offer of the city for residents and visitors with a range 
of high quality facilities and event spaces. The policy supports the provision of 
performance and rehearsal space within major mixed use schemes and seeks 
to protect existing arts and performance facilities. CP6 (Visitor 
Accommodation) supports the provision of wide-ranging visitor 
accommodation and directs proposals for new hotel accommodation firstly, to 
within area SA2. 

 
10.20. Policy CP15 (Heritage) promotes the conservation, preservation and 

enhancement of the city’s historic environment and prioritises positive action 
for heritage assets at risk through neglect, decay and vacancy.  

 
10.21. Policy DM18 (High Quality Design and Spaces) of the Brighton and Hove City 

Plan Part Two requires proposals to demonstrate a high standard of design 
and make a positive contribution to a sense of space and visual quality 
ensuring new proposals respond positively to the urban grain, scale and shape 
of buildings. 

 
10.22. Policy DM26 (Conservation Areas) requires new development to preserve or 

enhance the distinctive character and appearance of the area. New 
development within a conservation area should be of the highest design 
quality and should take the opportunity to enhance the special interest of the 
area wherever possible, having regard to any adopted management plan. 

 
10.23. Policy DM27 (Listed Buildings) requires listed buildings to be retained in viable 

use and good repair. Proposals involving the alteration, extension, or change 
of use of a listed building will be permitted where they would not harm the 
special architectural or historic interest of the building, where vacancy is an 
on-going concern, consent will be granted for a new viable use that is 
consistent with the conservation of the building’s special interest, provided that 
this would not unacceptably conflict with other policies or material 
considerations. In applying other policies the council will have special regard 
to the benefits of bringing the listed building back into use. 

 
10.24. Both DM26 and DM27 require that where either substantial harm or less than 

substantial harm is identified, the council will expect the applicant to fully meet 
the requirements set out in the NPPF, having regard to the significance of the 
heritage assets affected. 

 
The renovation and re-use of the Hippodrome 

42



10.25. The renovation of the Hippodrome (Grade II* listed building) and its restoration 
as a flexible events and entertainment venue would be strongly welcomed and 
would broadly support key objectives of policy SA2 for central Brighton and 
Policy CP5 in terms of enhancing the city’s culture and tourism offer. A detailed 
justification for the various proposed uses is provided in the applicant’s Design 
& Access Statement, including issues relating to the design of the buildings 
and interaction of uses, as well as viability. The acceptability of the principal 
of the proposed re-use of the Hippodrome as a flexible events and 
performance space also requires an assessment against policies DM26 and 
DM27, the NPPF and PPG guidance relating to the impact of development 
proposals upon Heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent 
with their conservation (paragraph 203 of the NPPF). This is explored further 
in the sections below. 

 
The provision of the Apart Hotel 

10.26. The site is located within the Hotel Core Zone and within the “Central Brighton” 
area covered by strategic allocation policy SA2 and policy CP6 (Visitor 
Accommodation) which directs new visitor accommodation to the Central 
Brighton area.  

 
10.27. The applicant has submitted a Visitor Accommodation Impact Statement 

which provides evidence that there is longer term market potential for further 
hotel provision and a relative under-supply of ‘apart-hotel’ accommodation in 
the city. This is also highlighted in the Brighton & Hove Visitor Economy 
Strategy 2018-2023. As such, the proposed Apart-Hotel would strengthen and 
diversify the city’s visitor accommodation offer and meet the requirements of 
Policy CP6. 

 
The provision of the Members Club, Foyer and other bars 

10.28. The proposals include several bar/catering facilities within the development of 
which some would operate independently of the live event space and others 
in direct conjunction with. Strategic policy SA2.4 states that the “Council will 
promote a balanced range of complementary evening and night-time economy 
uses which appeal to a wide range of age and social groups, avoid a spread 
of large bars/pubs and night clubs and address public safety concerns.” 

 
10.29. The application site is situated within the Cumulative Impact Zone (CIZ) and it 

is noted that a premises licence has been granted for the re-development and 
re-use of the Hippodrome on 3rd October 2022 which remains subject to a 
number of licence conditions. This is a separate process to that of the planning 
system. Subject to an assessment of the wider amenity impacts, which is 
discussed in detail below, the proposed internal bars, foyer bar and members 
club are considered as broadly in accordance with the policy objectives of 
SA2.  

 
The provision of the Ship Street retail unit (Class E) 

10.30. The application includes a small retail unit fronting Ship Street, outside but 
adjacent to the boundaries of the Regional Centre defined in Policy CP4. This 
provision would contribute positively to the street scene and generate activity 
providing an active frontage in accordance with Policies SA2 and CP13. 

43



 
Optimal Viable Use 

10.31. National and local policy require new uses and development to be viable and 
consistent with the conservation of a building’s special interest. Where harm 
is identified this needs to be weighed against the public benefits of a proposal 
including, where appropriate, securing the optimal viable use. 

 
10.32. The application includes the submission of the “Colliers Optimal Viable Use” 

report (OVU) which analyses and assesses potential uses of the Hippodrome 
and whether these would represent the optimal viable use of the site. The 
report includes a report dated 2022 with an addendum from December 2023. 
The report also draws much from an earlier report and assessment conducted 
by Colliers in 2015 on behalf of the Theatres Trust and a range of other 
stakeholders. A copy of this report was also submitted with the application.  

 
10.33. The reports include and references the feasibility study undertaken in 2015 

examining the potential for three proposed uses of the Hippodrome;  

 the use as a lyric theatre,  

 the use as a flat floor flexible performance space,  

 and non-events use.  
 
10.34. The OVU report concludes that use of the auditorium as a flexible multiple-

purpose event venue would be optimal. The strategy underlying what is 
described as the “Theatre of Varieties” concept is outlined to: 

 Make the building as flexible as possible, able to stage performances of 
many types in layouts of many types. 

 Make it possible for the building to operate as a venue that has people 
using it on a continuous basis by day and evening rather than one which 
only opens for performances and events. 

 Make it easy and attractive for people to spend money on food and drink, 
which would be a main source of entertainment and of revenue. 

 
10.35. In regard to financial viability, the report does not include specific financial 

modelling for the scheme proposed however financial modelling was 
undertaken for the 2015 study. The report concludes that the modelling 
indicated such a use as that proposed in this application, could make a 
reasonable operating profit but that this was unlikely to be enough to deliver 
the project on a purely commercial basis and that cross-subsidy would be 
required from grant and/or development of the rest of the site. The report notes 
that development costs are likely to have significantly increased since the 
original financial assessments were undertaken and that the funding and grant 
environment is even more challenging now.  

 
10.36. The Colliers OVU report accompanying the application provides an assurance 

that the use of the building as proposed would have the potential to create a 
niche in the Brighton market and that such a use could be viable and attractive 
to operators. The application has not been submitted with specific financial 
modelling for the proposed use or proposed re-development and is not 
therefore considered to be true “enabling development”. However, the 
development would provide a cross subsidy of the renovation and restoration 

44



of the Hippodrome auditorium through the Apart Hotel development proposed 
in the rear car park and the re-development of Hippodrome House. The uses 
proposed for these areas of the site are considered to be compatible with the 
use of the auditorium as a flexible performance and events space and are not 
considered likely to disrupt or be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation 
of the Hippodrome as an events venue subject to sufficient internal sound 
proofing. The report concludes that the “Theatre of Varieties” concept is the 
Optimum Viable Use for the site. 

 
10.37. In line with the PPG, further matters require consideration in regard to the 

overall viability of the proposed use and further assessment is required in 
order to secure against future harmful outcomes. Such matters in this instance 
relate to whether the building itself can facilitate the use proposed in regard to 
its structural ability to support modern day live performance equipment, 
whether there is suitable provision for back of house and support space, and 
whether the development can be suitably serviced as necessary as well as 
the balancing of identified heritage harms. Whilst further consideration to 
some of these specifics is given in other areas of this report, these factors 
remain critical elements in securing the overall operational viability and 
sustainability of the proposal. 

 
10.38. The application originally proposed a suite of office accommodation within the 

Hippodrome Fly tower. Whilst the provision of office accommodation was 
supported in principle and considered to be policy compliant this element of 
the proposal was removed from the scheme during the consideration of the 
application. This was due to concerns regarding potential conflicts arising 
between the proposed uses. Furthermore, to bring forward the office 
accommodation, this required further interventions and alterations into the fly 
tower, which were considered to be harmful to the building which was not 
considered acceptable and could not be justified in the public benefit test.  
 

10.39. The office space was replaced in the application by additional performance 
rehearsal space. This was considered to be a positive alteration to the scheme 
for two reasons; firstly the additional performance and rehearsal spaces 
contributes to the cultural offering of the scheme in providing a space in the 
heart of a performance venue for performance development but also that such 
a use required less physical intervention into the fly tower. With this in mind 
should a future use of the fly tower in association with the stage below be 
proposed - the re-use and reversibility of these proposed works is considered 
more likely. This additionally contributes to ensuring that the harm to the 
heritage asset is minimised. 

 
10.40. During the course of the application, information was requested to 

demonstrate that the building was structurally capable to host 
performances/events and the necessary technical equipment. Whilst internal 
alterations are not normally something a planning application would consider 
in detail (this would usually apply to listed building consent in such cases), 
given the optimal viability assessment required with this application, it is 
important to consider whether the building can accommodate and support the 
equipment necessary and facilities without resulting in harm to the building. A 

45



rigging design by Solotech was submitted as part of the application in 
December 2023. The design indicates attachment points for a hung audio 
system and lighting system and approximate loadings. Solotech is a global 
technical support company and there is no reason to dispute that the design 
would appear to be a workable one providing sufficient audio and lighting 
system support for a variety of modern entertainment uses. The Design and 
Access Statement submitted with the application identifies that the proposal 
would provide a lighting and audio system that would remain in-situ which 
would involve both less disruption to get in and get out of large amounts of 
audio/visual equipment and less need for some larger vehicles to support 
events.  

 
10.41. An addendum to the Colliers OVU report was provided (dated December 

2023) and this assesses the layout and functionality of the back of house 
space and considers that the Hippodrome offers a significant, indeed large 
amount of back of house space sufficient to support the types of entertainment 
and events proposed. The report provides a comparison of the presented back 
of house space at the Brighton Hippodrome with two comparable London 
venues. The conclusion within the report is that the Hippodrome would provide 
back of house space of approximately 432m2 which is substantially more than 
the compared venues being The Troxy (Limehouse, London) with an audience 
capacity of 3100 and c.61m2 of back of house space and Lafayette (Kings 
Cross) with an audience capacity of 600 and a back of house space of c.54m2. 
Given that the Hippodrome would have a potential back of house area at 
432m2 officers are satisfied that such a provision could only be likely positive 
for the viability of the venue. 

 
10.42. Turning to the servicing and delivery of the venue, the specific impacts of the 

proposal upon the Highway network is considered elsewhere in this report. 
Nonetheless, an adequate provision of space for vehicles that would support 
the types of performances and events proposed is necessary for the success 
and future sustainability of the proposals and therefore its operational viability. 
Vehicle tracking information has been provided (December 2023) which 
demonstrates that the Middle Street vehicle access is capable of housing 
individual coaches, vans and other large delivery vehicles including a 13.7m 
articulated lorry off the public highway. Opposite the site are a number of street 
refuse bins, however, even with the presence of these the information shows 
that vehicles such as a 13.7m Stage Truck, 12m Coach and 12m articulated 
lorries could access the side service yard, albeit that suitable provision for 
traffic marshals would be required given they would need to reverse into this 
area. The tracking information has been assessed by the Highways Team and 
considered acceptable.  

 
10.43. The supporting information submitted during the course of the application has 

demonstrated that the building is capable of structurally supporting the flying 
of modern audio and visual equipment and has been demonstrated to have a 
layout which would both provide sufficient back of house space as well as 
minimal intervention into the form of the fly tower which are considered to be 
longer term positive aspects of the proposal. The application has also 

46



sufficiently demonstrated that, in principle, servicing by larger vehicles could 
be achieved. 

 
Use of the building as a Lyric Theatre (alternative Optimum Viable Use) 

10.44. It is noted that The Theatres Trust maintain an objection to the proposal and 
do not agree that the proposed scheme would represent the optimum viable 
use for the building. A number of other consultees and representations have 
put forward a similar viewpoint that the use as a “lyric theatre/large scale 
theatre” would represent the Optimum Viable Use of the site and that such a 
use would be realistic and viable. 

 
10.45. A lyric theatre is a theatre that can accommodate touring productions of 

musicals and other music-orientated genres like dance and opera. The 
productions that a theatre like this caters for require, in many cases a large 
winged stage behind a proscenium arch. They also require a fly tower so that 
scenery can be raised and lowered. The Theatre Royal (New Road, Brighton) 
is an example of this, however the Theatre Royal is the smallest theatre owned 
by the Ambassador Group in the UK and due to its overall size and smaller 
audience capacity it is unable to accommodate many “West End” touring 
productions or larger scale productions. The Brighton Dome is not a lyric 
theatre and whilst it shares similarities with the Hippodrome in regard to its 
round auditorium the Brighton Dome lacks the presence of a fly tower, stage 
and proscenium arch. 

 
10.46. It is considered that Brighton does not therefore have a theatre capable of 

accommodating large scale theatrical productions and therefore such a 
proposed re-use of the Hippodrome as a lyric theatre would likely fill a gap 
within the theatre provision of the city given that the existing building retains a 
proscenium arch, winged stage and fly tower. 

 
10.47. The Colliers OVU reports also assess the viability of the lyric theatre proposal 

and concludes a number of advantages and disadvantages. “There is a 
reasonable prospect of a theatre of the Hippodrome’s size making an 
operating profit on an ongoing basis, provided it does not have to pay 
significant finance costs.” 

 
10.48. Notwithstanding this, the Colliers Report also notes a number of 

disadvantages of a lyric theatre concept. One disadvantage is that the 
Hippodrome was not originally designed as a lyric theatre, rather one “in the 
round” and therefore, in the context of a traditional stage based performance, 
the audience capacity is affected by sightlines not directed to the stage. The 
report concludes that the lower expected capacity the Hippodrome could 
accommodate (1350) for a stage directed performance would remain viable 
(Theatre Royal has a capacity of 932) but a greater capacity would enable 
more confidence in the viability. The shape of the auditorium being, in the 
round, would also not facilitate retractable seating limiting the flexibility of the 
venue to accommodate other events and performances which would 
represent another disadvantage. 

 

47



10.49. A further disadvantage of the large scale lyric/theatre use is the servicing, 
delivery and requirements for large vehicles that deliver sets and equipment 
facilitating large productions. Historically the Hippodrome was serviced from 
the northern entrance from Middle Street (Elephant Yard). The rear yard of the 
Hippodrome was granted consent for use as a car park in 1956.  

 
10.50. The preferred delivery vehicles supporting large productions is now commonly 

a 16.5m articulated lorry. When the Hippodrome was last in use for substantial 
performances the preferred vehicles were the rigid Luton vans which are 
significantly smaller (approx. 7m). Whilst the rear yard (Ship Street) of the 
Hippodrome did not historically provide servicing to the venue it does however 
present as a space which could, in theory, facilitate these larger vehicles. The 
rear yard as existing does provide sufficient space to house and park a large 
lorry or lorries however there is an inherent difficulty in such vehicles 
accessing this area from Ship Street.  

 
10.51. 16.5m artic lorries would be required to reverse into the yard from Ship Street, 

however, it has been stated within the OVU report that this would only be 
possible by utilising land adjacent to the Hippodrome rear yard and which is 
not in the ownership of the applicants. In addition, it has also been 
demonstrated that such manoeuvres would also have a high likelihood of 
causing harm and damage to buildings on Ship Street and present profound 
difficulties. Within the 2015 OVU report it is concluded that the preference for 
using the rear yard in this way would be by reversing the traffic flow and one-
way system of Middle Street and Ship Street. A further consideration is that 
the regular use of such vehicles may stymie future improvements to the public 
realm whilst the regular presence of such large vehicles is also likely to be 
less than desirable in this tight-nit area of the city.  

 
10.52. Utilising the rear car park for servicing and delivery of a theatre with large 

trucks would inevitably require either the retention of an open yard or a 
development incorporating an under-croft delivery bay. Both cases would 
result in a development which would not provide an active street frontage to 
Ship Street or contribute positively to the Conservation Area. An active and 
attractive street frontage is considered an important benefit and contributes to 
ensuring the enhancement of the heritage assets. Moreover, use of the area 
would present significant challenges for access by large vehicles. This is 
recognised and given consideration in the planning balance of the application. 

 
10.53. It should, however, be clearly recognised that the current application proposal 

includes development across the rear yard/car park and that in doing so the 
site would not likely facilitate a large scale theatre use in the future. There are 
therefore clear advantages and disadvantages of the proposals presented 
within this application as well as clear advantages and disadvantages for the 
proposal of a large scale lyric theatre to be considered. 

 
Optimal Viable Use Conclusion: 

10.54. With reference back to the PPG guidance; “If there is a range of alternative 
economically viable uses, the optimum viable use is the one likely to cause 
the least harm to the significance of the asset, not just through necessary initial 

48



changes, but also as a result of subsequent wear and tear and likely future 
changes. The optimum viable use may not necessarily be the most 
economically viable one. Nor need it be the original use. However, if from a 
conservation point of view there is no real difference between alternative 
economically viable uses, then the choice of use is a decision for the owner, 
subject of course to obtaining any necessary consent.” 

 
10.55. Historic England have advised the Council in their consultation response; “It 

will be for the Council to decide whether this scheme is deliverable and viable 
in the Brighton entertainment market and would therefore secure a long-term 
sustainable use for this important heritage asset.”  

 
10.56. The Hippodrome has been vacant for 16 years and is in very poor condition, 

appearing on the Historic England’s at risk register and the Theatres Trust 
register of Theatres at Risk. There is particular concern for the long term future 
of the elaborate Matcham-designed plasterwork to the auditorium. The nature 
of the building and the significance of its interior (particularly the auditorium 
and foyer) means that options for its future viable use are comparatively 
limited. Given the vulnerability of the building, a proposal that seeks to retain 
the auditorium as a single space and bring it back into use a public venue – 
together with appropriate development of the unsightly car park area - must in 
principle be very much welcomed and given considerable weight as benefits. 
 

10.57. The submitted OVU report by Colliers as referenced above states that it 
remains the case that, as concluded in their 2015 report, restoration of the site 
for a flexible multiple-purpose event venue would be the optimal viable use. It 
goes on to say that proposals in these applications have close alignment with 
this.  
 

10.58. In consideration of all the above, the OVU reports and submitted evidence 
there is sufficient information and justification to demonstrate that the 
proposed use of the site for a flexible performance space can be considered 
to be the Optimal Viable Use and that this is a significant public benefit. Whilst 
it is disappointing that a fuller review of the 2015 report (in particular the 
financial considerations and precise proposal presented here) was not 
commissioned as part of this application, it is considered that in principle this 
form of flexible use of the space is the most likely to realistically achieve the 
preservation and restoration of the listed building and avoid continued vacancy 
and deterioration.  

 
10.59. Whilst alternative proposals and aspirations for the use of the Hippodrome are 

acknowledged, the development proposed would not require the contribution 
of public money, grants or funding and is considered to propose a use which 
aligns with the historic significance of the site through the provision of a flexible 
performance/events space in reflection of the buildings earlier origins and use. 
The proposal would also facilitate the re-use of the auditorium as a single 
volume and the proposals would allow public use and appreciation of the 
building which is also considered a significant benefit and, again, concurrent 
with the historic significance of the building. The proposals would not require 
the use of the large delivery vehicles associated with the lyric theatre/large 

49



scale theatre use and should a singular proposed entertainment/event use fail, 
the auditorium would remain as a single volume with the flexibility of the 
proposal allowing for a range of other uses (banquets, event cinema, 
conferencing) which assist in the future sustainability and viability of the use 
proposed.  

 
10.60. In conclusion, whilst it is recognised that whilst there is no operator on board 

and the proposals, as a result, are somewhat speculative with regards to the 
precise operation, officers consider that the application and supporting 
information contained in the two Colliers OVU reports demonstrate that the 
proposed use as a flexible performance and events space can be considered 
to be the optimal viable use of the site.  

 
10.61. The OVU report at concludes at page 15 “Our judgement is that a scheme 

akin to that proposed by the owners is much more viable than use as a lyric 
theatre. This, in summary, is because: 

 It would cost much less. 

 It enables a capital contribution from development to the rear towards the 
cost of restoring the heritage asset. 

 It is realistic to achieve funding for it. 

 It does not have involve profound difficulties, especially need for access 
by pantechnicons. 

 
10.62. The OVU report concludes that the proposed use would be largely consistent 

with the preservation of the heritage asset and is deliverable, sustainable and 
viable within the Brighton market. This is considered to be a significant public 
benefit in accordance with the NPPF and the principles of relevant local 
development plan policies DM26 and DM27. 

 
Design, appearance and Heritage Impacts: 

10.63. The development is sited within the Old Town Conservation Area of the city. 
There are a significant number of listed buildings within close proximity to the 
site, in Boyces Street, Middle Street, Ship Street and Ship Street Gardens. 
These are generally small-scale buildings (residential and/or commercial) 
dating from the late 18th and early 19th centuries, whose scale and grain 
contrast with that of the Hippodrome. Slightly further to the south is the grade 
II* listed Middle Street Synagogue.  
 

10.64. The Old Town Conservation Area Management Plan (OTCAMP) includes the 
following paragraph (7.72) in respect of the Hippodrome site: 
 “The council will expect any acceptable scheme for the site to fully restore the 
Hippodrome for a use that retains the auditorium as a single open volume 
capable of maintaining a performance function, together with the conservation 
of the other front and back of house spaces (including the foyer and 
Hippodrome House) that contribute greatly to its significance, and which 
enable its appropriate reuse. The adjoining land offers the opportunity for new 
development that would partially fill the gaps on Middle Street and Ship Street 
and enhance those street scenes through development, for a mix of uses, of 
sympathetic scale and massing. Such development must not, however, 
prejudice the appropriate reuse and future servicing of the Hippodrome itself. 

50



The centre of the site adjacent to the fly tower may potentially accommodate 
greater height than the street frontages but must be mindful of longer views. 
The view eastwards from Boyce’s Street is of particular importance as 
Hippodrome House terminates this view in an attractive manner. The building 
frontage to Middle Street should be carefully restored in accordance with the 
available historic drawings”. 
 

10.65. The OTCAMP also identifies Middle Street (together with Boyce’s Street and 
South Street) as a priority for future improvement and enhancement in the 
conservation area, noting the current blight arising from a number of vacant 
buildings, most notably the Hippodrome site. The proposed mix of uses across 
the site, the restorative works proposed and the infilling of the Ship Street 
frontage are similarly beneficial to the character and appearance of the 
conservation area and are in line with the aspirations of the OTCAMP. 
 

10.66. Policies DM26, DM27 and CP15 seek to preserve and enhance existing 
heritage assets and seek to ensure new development responds and 
contributes positively to the identified character and appearance of the area. 
Policy CP12 Urban Design considers that development should, amongst other 
elements, raise the standard of architecture and design in the city, conserve 
or enhance the city’s built heritage and it’s settings and protect or enhance 
strategic views. Paragraph 203 of the NPPF, in summary, states that heritage 
assets should be sustained, enhanced, put to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation and that new development should make a positive contribution 
to local character.  
 
The Hippodrome 

10.67. The ground floor of the front elevation (Middle Street) would be largely 
restored and retained. New windows are proposed either side of the central 
entrance, the doors would be retained and restored where possible and the 
entrances with decorative moulding flanking the ground floor would be 
restored. The modern faux traditional entrance canopy which stretches along 
the front of the venue is proposed to be replaced as part of the restoration. 
This replacement of the canopy with one more reflective of the original 
Matcham canopy is a potentially important heritage benefit of the proposals. 
Any replacement should be sufficiently detailed and researched with a view to 
balancing a design which reflects the original and adapts to the changes that 
have occurred to the frontage since the original canopy was in place. Details 
are proposed to be secured by condition and given the importance of this 
replacement in the overall benefits of the scheme it should be ensured that 
the replacement is secured as part of this consent and implemented before 
any use of the site. 

 
10.68. Above ground floor the openings either side of the “Hippodrome” lettering and 

an opening at the southern end frontage would be infilled. Replacement 
windows and doors are proposed to the two entrance towers and the 
installation of two juliette balconies are also proposed. The detailing proposed 
to the balconies is not considered appropriate as submitted, but 
notwithstanding this, further acceptable detail is proposed to be secured by 
condition for agreement at a later date. 

51



 
10.69. At roof level an acoustic louvre is proposed spanning the auditorium frontage 

and PV panels are proposed for installation on the roofs southern side. 
 
10.70. The north facing elevation to the Hippodrome at the rear adjoining 

Hippodrome House would be rebuilt at three storeys with a brick finish with 
coping detail, new windows at doors with glass balustrade at first and second 
floor with new doors at ground level providing access to the backstage load-
in and auditorium access adjacent. The existing rear access stairs and what 
survives of the existing elephant ramp/animal shelter would be removed. 
 

10.71. The enlivening of the Middle Street elevation with various entrances and 
reviving of the ground floor interest would be a considerable benefit of the 
proposals, particularly in terms of enhancing the character and appearance of 
the Old Town conservation area and meeting the aspirations of the OTCAMP. 
These alterations are not considered to be harmful to the setting of other 
nearby listed buildings and subject to appropriate details being secured for the 
new windows, doors, juliette balconies, acoustic louvres, PV panel placement, 
balustrading and replacement canopy are in accordance with policy CP15 of 
the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part One and policies DM26 and DM27 of 
the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part Two. 
 
The Hippodrome Interior 

10.72. Internally the hippodrome auditorium is proposed to be largely restored with 
restoration of the decorative plasterwork, restoration of the boxes flanking the 
stage, new internal bars, new stage, creation of the foyer bar and alterations 
and restoration of the ground floor booths. New internal partitions, WC areas, 
stairs and handrails between the auditorium floor levels are also proposed. 
 

10.73. The existing flat level floor is to be retained on entry but there would then be 
a significant drop down in level and it is unclear how this would impact on the 
various historic floor levels and structures that exist beneath the current flat 
floor, down to the original ice rink level, including the raked floor of the theatre. 
It is assumed though, based upon the drawings, that there would be some 
loss of historic layers and fabric. A recording condition and condition requiring 
structural details of the new alterations and proposed flooring is recommended 
to address this. 
 

10.74. At first floor circle level the existing seating is proposed to be removed. A 
condition to secure details of any replacement or restoration and salvage of 
the removed seating is proposed to ensure re-use or appropriate replacement 
seating is secured prior to any removal of the existing.  
 

10.75. Information on the methodology and approach to the repair and restoration of 
the auditorium ceiling is submitted within the application and is welcome and 
broadly sufficient but the recording of the works that have been undertaken 
needs to be more comprehensive. The record of works undertaken by the 
applicant to date – and how it compares to the methodology remains required 
as noted in consultation responses from Historic England and the Heritage 
Team. Further recording and information to address this is proposed to be 

52



required by condition. Similarly, there is no specific repair and restoration 
schedule and specification of the auditorium plasterwork, only a general, 
generic repair approach. There is also a need for a historically-informed 
approach to the internal colour scheme. The submitted specialist paint 
research report on the auditorium is acceptable and informative, but no detail 
has been provided to show how this report has informed any proposed colour 
scheme. The proposed colour scheme should also include the ceiling to the 
foyer and this is recommended as part of the suite of conditions. 
 

10.76. A schedule of the retention of historic features has been provided and is 
considered broadly acceptable although there is a general lack of detail on 
how the existing internal historic features, fixtures and finishes (including 
joinery and plasterwork) would be retained and restored and how this is to be 
approached within the overall scheme, as well as the design approach to new 
interventions, and how this relates to the layers of historic change in the 
interior. Further details including sections and full detail are required by 
condition and should be secured prior to any internal removal taking place. 
 

10.77. The grand master control lighting panel in the northern part of the stage area 
is of significant historic interest and should be retained on site, whilst the 
information in the application confirms that this is to be retained it is suggested 
that it would be relocated in order that it can be more publicly accessible and 
appreciated. The area in which it is currently situated would also undergo 
significant re-development as part of the proposal and therefore a condition is 
recommended to ensure that this is retained and protected in situ until such 
time as a suitable location for its relocation is identified and agreed. 
 

10.78. As referred to later in this report the submitted Noise Survey and Assessment 
concludes that “the assessment results show that in order for in-audibility to 
be achieved, it would be necessary for significant mitigation measures to the 
current state of the building to be employed using substantial upgrades to the 
building envelope (which is currently under repair) and by clever and sensible 
internal design of the main auditorium with enclosed buffer zones and sound 
lobbies”. Such measures are likely to necessitate the creation of sound wall 
through the interior of the Hippodrome particularly at circle level. Given that 
this is likely to have an impact on the visual and special qualities of the interior 
details are therefore required by condition prior to further internal works being 
undertaken. 
 

10.79. The intention to restore the auditorium as a single space and to restore and 
convert the entrance foyer and boxes to a bar area has the potential to be a 
great benefit, but for these benefits to be properly realised demonstration of a 
clearer ‘informed conservation’ approach is needed and such realisation can 
be secured through conditions. It is potentially likely that once an operator is 
appointed/on board further alterations may be required and proposed it is 
therefore essential that such conditions are worded, phased and secured 
appropriately such that the benefits of the scheme are realised. 
 

10.80. Subject to a comprehensive suite of conditions to secure appropriate details 
of proposed internal fixtures, fittings, doors and installations, methodologies 

53



of proposed restorative work, retention of historic features and overall interior 
appearance, the internal works can be considered likely to result in a 
sympathetic and appropriate restoration of this historic space in accordance 
with the NPPF and policy DM27 of the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part Two.  

 
Hippodrome House 

10.81. The northern part of the Middle Street frontage is Hippodrome House and this 
property, whilst physically attached to the Hippodrome, is made up of two 
surviving 19th Century dwellings. The southern most of these would be almost 
entirely rebuilt and replaced. An entirely new frontage is proposed with a 
change in internal floor levels requiring new doors and windows at ground floor 
providing the Apart Hotel entrance. New windows and cornice detail at first 
floor level are proposed alongside a new roof-with revised pitch and two front 
facing dormer windows.  

 
10.82. The most northern of the two houses would be largely retained and restored 

at the street frontages with new windows and a replacement street entrance. 
The opened up entrance on Middle Street, which originally had a porch, would 
benefit from a surround that draws inspiration from that porch, as it is 
somewhat crudely finished in its current form. This is proposed to be secured 
by condition. The two storey projection on the north facing elevation would be 
renovated with a new window opening at first floor and ground floor louvre 
doors that facilitate access to a proposed refuse store.  

 
10.83. Replacement windows are proposed along the rest of the northern elevation 

along with four new openings at first floor.  
 
10.84. The area at the rear of Hippodrome House would see substantial re-

development with the removal of a number of existing extensions and a 
complete remodelling of the rear section of the two buildings with an infilling 
at first and second floor extending approximately 0.6m at the rear with its 
eastern elevation rationalised with the removal of a number of rear extensions 
which are all now in poor repair and poor condition. The remodelled section 
would have two different brick finishes with a flat roof to the infill section to the 
rear of the roof ridges. This would provide flat roof space for plant which would 
be largely concealed behind a parapet. A combination of aluminium and timber 
doors and windows are proposed to the eastern elevation with doors at ground 
level providing an external access to the ground floor of the Apart Hotel and 
proposed members club. Externally the new approach to Hippodrome House, 
with the new infill to the L-shape footprint set back from the existing rear 
corner, is considered an appropriate approach although the set back is noted 
as modest.  

 
10.85. The basement is the most intact part of Hippodrome House and of 

considerable interest. It has been clarified that the original wine cellar vaults 
in the basement of Hippodrome House would be retained. The schedule of 
features to be retained includes the kitchen range which is welcome and 
positive. It is also welcome that the adjacent modern partition would be 
removed to give the kitchen range back something of its historic context. It 
remains unclear from the information submitted whether the unused vaults are 

54



to be infilled or simply closed off. The latter would be expected (i.e. 
‘mothballing’ them) however, details of this or any scheme for potential use of 
this area can be secured by condition. 

 
10.86. Hippodrome House also contains the “Palm Court” interiors which are of great 

interest however it is accepted that much of the Palm Court interiors cannot 
be retained, particularly given their flimsy ‘theatre set’ construction, dry rot and 
poor current condition, and that the late 19th century conservatory iron 
framework is also impractical to retain. Whilst this is regrettable given their 
existing condition their total retention is not considered to be wholly 
practicable. Notwithstanding this, it is considered that where possible, features 
of interest should still be retained even within the re-designed scheme and a 
further condition is proposed to ensure retention where possible. 

 
10.87. Whilst it is acknowledged that Hippodrome House is less significant than the 

Hippodrome itself, these are nevertheless late Georgian houses that have a 
strong historic connection with the Hippodrome. The extent of proposed 
demolition and remodelling Hippodrome House is substantial, both internally 
and externally. The loss of the L-shaped plan form, the loss of original roofs in 
favour of a flat roof at the rear, the change to rear elevation materials and 
windows and the alterations to the facade of the southern house are all of 
notable concern. Internally the original staircase would also be lost. 
Notwithstanding that there are significant interventions to Hippodrome House 
which would undoubtedly affect and cause harm to the significance of this part 
of the site, given that the re-development of Hippodrome House is proposed 
in order to achieve the overall benefits of the scheme a number of conditions 
are proposed in order to ensure that where possible original features and 
detailing are sufficiently provided and secured and harm minimised. 

 
10.88. New metal gates are proposed to the access on the northern side of the 

building and details of the external doors, windows, cornices and eaves 
detailing are recommended to be secured by condition. 

 
10.89. The external works to Hippodrome House are considered to provide an overall 

improvement in the visual quality of the site from the public realm preserving 
and enhancing the Conservation Area and the setting of other nearby listed 
buildings in accordance with policies DM26, DM27 and CP12 and CP15. The 
direct works to Hippodrome House would cause some harm and paragraphs 
201, 203, 206, 207 and 208 of the NPPF are relevant and a weighting 
assessment of the harms against the public benefits of the proposal is 
required. This is considered further below. 

 
The Apart Hotel 

10.90. At the rear of the Hippodrome a large extension is proposed adjoining the rear 
fly tower and auditorium, infilling the rear yard/car park and extending to the 
Ship Street frontage. The new build extension would be 3-7 stories in height 
with a maximum height of 21.4m. Appearing as a three storey building with 
accommodation in the roof at the Ship Street frontage the 5th and 6th stories 
would be set back 9m from the street frontage with the 7th storey being set 
approximately 14m from the street front appearing as a metal clad mansard 

55



roof extension with dormers on its north, south and eastern sides. The height 
of the proposed Apart Hotel building would present as a full storey above the 
height of the existing fly tower. 

 
10.91. Above ground floor the northern elevation would feature a number of insets 

and set backs to provide visual relief and differentiation also facilitated by a 
number different brick types with lighter bricks on the most northern flank and 
a darker brick type proposed for the insets and set ins. The set-ins being nearly 
3m deep would assist in the visual breaking of the massing. Different window 
types with brick relief set-ins and their positioning across the northern 
elevation contribute to the northern elevations visual interest. Additional 
improvements of window size to solid/void ratio recommended on the north 
facing elevation (increasing window size) is advised in both the Urban Design 
and Heritage comments received. However, this has to be balanced against 
the likely additional amenity impacts that would result from increased 
perceived and actual overlooking to the properties of 3-11 Dukes Lane. The 
windows on this elevation is therefore considered to be on balance acceptable 
subject to the use of quality materials, which further details are conditioned. 

 
10.92. The Ship Street elevation would feature a mixed aluminium and timber shop 

front at street level utilising a brick finish with fascia above. The southern part 
of the ground floor would also feature a gated access to the rear of the 
Hippodrome and servicing for the Apart Hotel. At first and second floor a 
projecting bay would be metal clad at first and second floor level with the rest 
of the east facing elevation in light brick. At roof level a false pitched roof would 
be slate clad with three metal clad dormers projecting towards the east. The 
setback 5th and 6th floors would feature a darker brick type that wraps around 
the eastern and returning southern elevation and the metal clad mansard 
extension set back further appearing as the 7th storey with a small external 
terrace facing east. 

 
10.93. The southern elevation would be a mix of two different brick types with a lighter 

brick for the return of the Ship Street frontage and then a darker brick 
throughout the south side. The elevation is proposed with canted metal clad 
window bays, vents and a mix of aluminium and timber windows facing south 
across the 5th and 6th stories. 

  
10.94. A number of new window openings and installation of rooflights are proposed 

to the red-brick fly tower building with acoustic louvre screening upon the roof.  
 
10.95. The infilling of the ground floor with a Class E unit (and entrance to Apart 

Hotel) is welcome and would provide an active frontage to this part of Ship 
Street infilling the current unsightly gap and sustaining and enhancing the 
appearance of the Conservation Area street frontage. The scale and design 
approach to the Ship Street frontage building is considered to be appropriate 
as a contemporary but contextual response to the site, subject to detailing and 
materials being secured. Further detail of the shopfront is required by 
condition in order to secure an appropriate street level frontage in accordance 
with policy DM23 (shopfronts) of the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part Two. 

 

56



10.96. The overall scale of the proposed apart hotel would appear without precedent 
and significant in scale to the mostly small-scale and modest context of the 
Old Town Conservation Area. This element of the proposal would be 
considered a “tall building” (being over 18m) under the terms of policy CP12 
(Urban Design) and SPD17 and does not lie within one of the tall building 
zones set out in policy. However, somewhat unusually, due to the tight nature 
of the Old Town’s urban grain the 6/7 storey element of the Apart Hotel would 
not be readily visible from much of the surrounding public realm of Middle 
Street, Duke Street to the north of the site or from the southern ends of Ship 
Street on the eastern side of the site.  

 
10.97. The principal building and upper floors of the apart hotel would however be 

visible in oblique views directly outside the site on Ship Street, and also visible 
from the junction of Ship Street and Prince Albert St and from some longer 
views further down Prince Albert Street. The upper floors of the development 
would also be visible from the junction of Ship Street and North Street to the 
north of the site as a skyline backdrop above 30-34 Duke Street. For this 
reason detailed information on the use of materials for the Apart Hotel upper 
floors and roof is recommended – the dark cladding is considered to be key 
here to assimilating the development into the skyline of the Old Town. The 
development would only be seen in some longer views from higher vantage 
points in the City as from Dyke Road (near St Nicholas Church) however, here 
the development would be seen from a significant distance and in the context 
of other roofscape and other large scale development therefore no further 
concerns are held in this regard. Further verified modelling provided with the 
application shows that it would not be visible from the Old Steine given that 
the land levels would result in its maximum height being below the existing 
visible skyline in this location. 

 
10.98. The limited visibility of the Apart Hotel, despite its scale is a key factor in its 

acceptability. The minimal visual impact from the public realm mitigates and 
ensures that it would not have an unacceptable impact on the setting of 
proximal listed buildings or overall Conservation Area from the public realm.  
 

10.99. Policy DM27 of CPP2 covers the reuse of ongoing vacant listed buildings and 
states that “in applying other policies the council will have special regard to 
the benefits of bringing the listed building back into use”. This does allow for 
some flexibility with regard to height under CP12.  

 
10.100. Overall the harm to the conservation area from the scale of the new build apart 

hotel is considered to be sufficiently modest that it could be considered to be 
outweighed by an appropriately designed and detailed scheme to bring the 
listed building back into performance use together with the other restorative 
elements of the proposal.  

 
Heritage harms and benefits 

10.101. Paragraph 207 of the NPPF states that; “Where a proposed development will 
lead to substantial harm to (or total loss of significance of) a designated 
heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it can 
be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve 

57



substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or all of the 
following apply:  
a)  the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; 

and  
b)  no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium 

term through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and  
c)  conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable 

or public ownership is demonstrably not possible; and  
d)  the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back 

into use.  
 

10.102. Paragraph 208 of the NPPF states; “Where a development proposal will lead 
to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal 
including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.” 

 
10.103. It is clear that The Hippodrome re-development would offer public benefits. 

These are the restoration and re-use of the auditorium as a single volume 
capable of performance, improvements to the public realm from the overall 
regeneration of the site, retention and restoration of some historic features 
across the site including the entrance canopy and bringing a long vacant 
deteriorating listed building back into a viable use. There are also harms which 
are considered to be less than substantial although this may be to a high 
degree if suitable conditions do not secure the positive outcomes and benefits 
needed. Identified harms in the heritage context would relate to harms to the 
significance of Hippodrome House, the removal of original fabric and form 
from the Hippodrome and fly tower and some harm due to the scale of the 
Apart Hotel.  

 
10.104. Considerable importance and weight is given to the restoration and reuse of 

the Hippodrome together with the proposed new development which, subject 
to the necessary conditions and obligations would overall enhance and 
preserve the character and appearance of the Old Town Conservation Area 
and nearby listed buildings as well as provide significant public benefits in the 
restoration of a long deteriorating heritage asset and the ability for the public 
appreciation and enjoyment of this space.  

 
10.105. In light of the above it is essential that appropriate phasing of the development 

is managed through suitably worded conditions and a Section 106 agreement 
in order that the public benefits of the scheme are secured and materialise. 
Such an agreement should ensure that the Hippodrome and auditorium are 
restored and fitted out ready for purpose prior to the Apart Hotel being 
occupied.  

 
10.106. Subject to the public benefits of the scheme being realised it is considered that 

the application is, on balance, in accordance with the NPPF, policy CP15 of 
the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part One and Brighton and Hove City Plan 
Part Two policies DM26 and DM27. 

 
Impact on Amenity: 

58



 
10.107. Policy DM20 of the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part Two states that planning 

permission for development will be granted where it would not cause 
unacceptable loss of amenity to existing, adjacent or nearby users, residents 
or occupiers or where it is not liable to be detrimental to human health. Policy 
DM40 seeks the protection of the Environment and Health through the suitable 
control of pollution and nuisance. 

 
10.108. Consideration of the impacts upon amenity of the proposed development 

relate to the operational impacts of the uses proposed being; the occupation 
and operation of the Apart Hotel, members club, rooftop bar, Foyer bar and 
the reuse of the auditorium as a flexible events and performance space, the 
impacts of comings and goings associated with the uses (particularly the 
potential for crowd and audience management) as well as the impact from the 
physical development proposed upon neighbouring residents amenity in terms 
of outlook, privacy, overbearing and impacts upon sunlight and daylight. 

 
10.109. In general terms the area surrounding the Hippodrome can be considered to 

be largely commercial in nature at ground floor with a mix of retail, bars, cafes, 
pubs and other commercial uses such as offices, schools and other public 
buildings although there is also some residential at ground floor within the 
area. At first floor and above the surrounding area is characterised with 
predominantly residential units and flats.  

 
10.110. More specifically, to the north of the site are commercial uses with retail units 

at ground floor leading north into the core shopping areas of the City Centre. 
Dukes Lane directly north of the site features boutique retail units and other 
cafes and restaurants at ground floor. The majority of these properties contain 
residences at first floor level and above however further north from Dukes 
Lane the uses above ground return to commercial. North west of the site, 
almost directly opposite the Middle Street yard entrance is Middle Street 
Primary School. 

 
10.111. To the west of the site along Boyces Street is a mix of pubs, restaurants and 

bars at ground floor with largely residential above. To the direct west and 
running south along Middle Street there is, again a mix of commercial at 
ground floor and further residential at first floor. Similarly to the east of the site 
along Ship Street the ground floors are characterised by a mix of commercial 
uses including some retail, restaurants and office uses with residential above. 
South of the site along Ship Street Gardens which runs east to west, many of 
the buildings are in sole residential use as single dwellings. 

 
10.112. Whilst the site is within a City Centre location there is a high amount of 

residential property surrounding the site, particularly at first floor and above 
and this is noted and considered in more detail below. 

 
Impacts from proposed bars and external terraces 

10.113. The application proposes a Foyer Bar with 60 covers internally and external 
terrace onto Middle Street of 44 covers, a Members Club and bar at 
Hippodrome House of 59 covers with external area in the Middle Street 

59



yard/Elephant Yard 44 of covers and a Rooftop Bar of 32 covers with an 
external terrace of 42 covers. 

 
10.114. As noted earlier in this report the site is located in a central city location and 

sited within the “Cumulative Impact Zone”. A premises licence has been 
granted for the re-development and re-use of the Hippodrome on 3rd October 
2022 which remains subject to a number of licence conditions. 

 
10.115. Given that the site is situated within a central city location it is considered that 

the principle of these facilities is acceptable and subject to planning conditions 
securing hours of operation of the bars and securing closure of the ground 
floor external terraces at 2300 and the rooftop terrace at 2230 it is considered 
that the impacts of these bar and restaurant spaces, in principle, can be 
suitably controlled in planning terms. Planning conditions to exclude 
performances of any kind and amplified music from the external terraces, 
closure of the external terraces, doors and windows during performances are 
considered desirable and necessary in order to protect the amenity of 
neighbouring residents. Conditions on the premises licence restrict “vertical 
drinking” to the auditorium during events only with seated alcohol only a 
condition across the rest of the site whilst other conditions on the licence 
require thorough management of the bar areas and operations. Together the 
suggested planning conditions and licensing controls are considered sufficient 
to mitigate the potential harmful impacts of this element of the proposals.  

 
Impacts from new auditorium use  
Event management 

10.116. The proposal to utilise the venue as a flexible performance and events space 
would mean that different types of performances and events may occur. The 
Design and Access statement refers to banquet or cabaret layouts with a 
capacity of 263. A maximum capacity for a concert is proposed as an audience 
of approximately 1800 with 400 fixed raked seats at first floor and a standing 
capacity of 1400. Matters relating to public safety are considered within other 
Health and Safety legislation such as fire regulations and licensing controls, 
however in order to manage comings and goings from events at the 
Hippodrome, a detailed events management plan is recommended to be 
secured through a Section 106 agreement that secures regular reviews and 
implementation of a site management strategy relating to the safe and 
appropriate audience management. A similar Section 106 obligation for 
Delivery and Servicing is recommended (referred to later in this report) where 
the event type may require individual management and measures. 

 
Noise breakout / disturbance / plant machinery 

10.117. Roof top plant and machinery is proposed across the site, upon the roof of 
Hippodrome House, the Middle Street frontage at roof level and at the rear of 
the Apart Hotel. Conditions to control the noise levels of plant and machinery 
are recommended by Environmental Health and subject to compliance no 
overall concerns are held in this regard given the City Centre and existing 
background noise levels.  

 

60



10.118. With regards to noise breakout from the Hippodrome auditorium and use for 
performance and events. Environmental Health have confirmed that the 
acoustic impacts and noise breakout from the venue can be suitably mitigated 
and controlled through planning conditions that require a pre-occupation 
acoustic design and assessment as well as post completion testing and 
implementation of mitigation as necessary. It is noted that to control the 
acoustic impacts considerable sound insulation and the creation of an interior 
“sound wall” may be required. This is likely to be required to the rear of the 
Circle and it is considered that such measures could be accommodated 
without undue harm to the Listed Building although more detail is required 
prior to installation and occupation. The weight of such measures in ensuring 
the success of the scheme should also be noted and measures should also 
include interior sound proofing in other areas to ensure the different uses 
proposed can comfortably operate and co-exist. In the case of post completion 
and pre-operational acoustic testing both should ensure that a worst case 
scenario of noise type and audience capacity is considered in the 
assessments.  

 
10.119. Subject to the necessary conditions for pre-occupation acoustic design and 

assessment as well as post completion testing and implementation of 
mitigation the noise impacts from the proposed use of the auditorium and 
ancillary spaces is considered acceptable and in accordance with DM20 and 
DM40 of the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part Two. 

 
Impacts from physical development 

10.120. The properties which would experience most impact from the physical 
development proposed are those directly adjacent to the site. In particular 
these are 3-11 Dukes Lane and 22 Ship Street to the north of the site, 59 Ship 
Street directly to the east, 18/19 Ship Street which lies immediately to the 
south of the site and the properties of Ship Street Gardens further south.  

 
10.121. Whilst the properties along and to the west of Middle Street would experience 

some impact from the development overall, their separation to the Apart Hotel 
development by approximately 50m over the roofspace of the Hippodrome 
Auditorium and Hippodrome House would mean the impacts of this aspect of 
the proposal would not be demonstrably harmful.  

 
10.122. The proposed physical alterations would not introduce any significant bulk to 

the Middle Street elevation over and above the existing to be considered 
sufficiently harmful. The proposed Apart Hotel use of the upper floors would 
introduce hotel bedrooms facing west across Middle Street, however, these 
would face across the street, separated by the road and pavement itself. Given 
the busy central location no harmful impacts from the uses and consequential 
overlooking from the first and second floors of Hippodrome House or the 
balcony bar are expected to occur. 

 
3-11 Dukes Lane  

10.123. To the north of the Apart Hotel extension and Hippodrome House are 3-11 
Dukes Lane, properties with commercial and other units at ground floor and 
residential above appearing mostly as a small raised south facing terrace of 

61



two storey town houses with raised ground floor front amenity spaces. The 
dwellings are separated by the existing adjoining car park bordering the site 
on the northern side. The north elevation of the Apart Hotel closest to the 
properties would be circa 18m in height and separated from the windows that 
serve these residential properties by approximately 23m and their front 
boundaries by approximately 18m. The northern elevation of the Apart Hotel 
would be to the south and south east of these properties and is proposed with 
a varying brick and material treatment, however there are also three recesses 
in the north elevation of near 3m in depth which provides a relief to the 
massing on this elevation. The depth of these recesses, use of quality 
materials and separation of 23m (and c.26m within the reliefs) would mean 
this elevation would not be harmfully overbearing.  

 
10.124. The highest part of the apart hotel (faux mansard) would be set away from the 

northern edge by 3m also, therefore whilst this height would reach 21m, again, 
there would be sufficient separation to mitigate the impact. 

 
10.125. The proposed northern elevation would have windows that serve Apart Hotel 

bedrooms directly facing 3-11 Dukes Lane. The separation distance to the 
dwellings of 23m is considered sufficient to mitigate any loss of privacy. These 
properties also have south facing external amenity areas which would be 
separated by about 17m from the Apart hotel and some degree of mutual 
overlooking of these areas already exists between the properties. It is also 
noted that the residential properties and proposal are situated within a densely 
populated town centre location where some mutual overlooking can be to 
some degree, expected. 

 
10.126. It is acknowledged that the development would create a very different outlook 

from these properties, however, the impacts of the bulk of the Apart Hotel are 
not considered demonstrably harmful in terms of loss of outlook, overbearing 
or loss of privacy in this instance. 

 
22 Ship Street 

10.127. 22, 22A and 22B Ship Street is the closest building to the site on the northern 
and eastern side. Recent planning history shows that this remains in 
commercial use/s with retail on the GF’s and offices at the rear and above. 
The majority of the windows of this property to the rear face west so would be 
minimally affected by the proposal. There is a two storey projection at the rear 
with windows that face south however these are separated from the site by 
12m. Three side facing windows on the southern elevation of the main building 
are separated by the car park and entrance from the Apart Hotel. As the 
property is in a commercial use no significantly harmful impacts in terms of 
overbearing, loss of privacy or loss of outlook are expected to occur. 

 
59 Ship Street 

10.128. 59 Ship Street is a three storey, Grade II Listed Building directly to the east of 
the Apart Hotel on the junction of Prince Albert Street and Ship Street. The 
property has a retail/Class E unit on the ground floor and residential in the 
stories above and is separated from the east facing elevation of the Apart 
Hotel (class E unit at ground floor with the Apart Hotel above) by the road and 

62



pavements of Ship Street itself. The infilling of the Apart Hotel would create a 
different outlook for this property as it currently faces the open rear car park 
at the rear of the auditorium. The proposal, at street frontage would appear as 
a three storey building with development in the roof-space and although the 
outlook would reduce in quality from the open aspect currently experienced, 
the Hippodrome car park historically had two houses open it and the tight 
nature of development within the Old Town would mean that infilling of this 
open site is representative of the character of the area. The separation across 
the street would also mean that no harmful impacts from loss of privacy, 
outlook or overbearing would be experienced beyond those already present 
on Ship Street. 

 
10-16 Ship Street Gardens 

10.129. 10-16 Ship Street Gardens lie directly south of the site and are separated by 
approximately 25m from the Apart Hotel development which is considered 
sufficient in regard to alleviate any overbearing impacts or loss of outlook from 
the proposal. The proposed development would also be seen across the rear 
flat roof terrace at 18/19 Ship Street. There are rear gardens to these 
properties along Ship Street Gardens (including those of 16 and 17 Ship Street 
on the east) and there would be some overlooking and perceived loss of 
privacy from the Apart Hotel extension given its size and south facing 
windows, however, there is currently a degree of mutual overlooking of this 
area from adjacent properties given the tight and compact development in this 
location. Whilst there would be some impacts to privacy in this location the 
overall separation distance and mutual overlooking already present is not 
considered that harm would result to these properties sufficient to warrant 
refusal of the application. 

 
15-17 Ship Street 

10.130. 15-17 Ship Street on the south western side of the site have west facing rear 
windows so whilst the Apart Hotel would be partly visible the views would be 
more oblique and no concerns of overbearing or loss of outlook would result. 
These properties also currently experience the bulk of the existing 
Hippodrome to the rear of the gardens and the alterations proposed would 
have little impact over and above the existing situation when viewed from 
within the dwellings. The rear development of the fly tower would include the 
insertion of new windows to the southern and eastern aspects. Given that 
these windows would serve the performance rehearsal space on level 03 and 
Apart Hotel rooms above, a condition to obscure glaze and fix shut these 
windows to a height of 1.8m from floor level is recommended in order to 
alleviate privacy concerns of direct views from these windows to the residential 
properties to the south. 

 
18/19 Ship Street 

10.131. 18/19 Ship Street is the property arguably most affected by the proposal and 
lies directly to the south of the Apart Hotel development bordering the site. 

 
10.132. The lower ground floor and ground floor of this property is in use as a Hair 

Salon at the eastern end. Building Control plans from a 2001 development 
show the rear part of the ground floor developed into a 3no bedroom 

63



residential unit. On the northern side of the ground floor is a bathroom, 
bedroom and part of a lounge dining area which stretches across the ground 
floor at the rear of the unit. The separation distance to the southern elevation 
of the Apart Hotel would be c.2m and given the height proposed this would be 
detrimental to the outlook from the GF bedroom, bathroom and part of the 
existing living area, however, given that the glazed roof of the residential unit 
continues around the western and then southern part of the building an 
acceptable overall quality of outlook would remain from the unit as a whole. 

 
10.133. At first floor 18/19 Ship Street has two flats in the eastern end. The southern 

most unit would not suffer a detrimental loss of outlook as the existing windows 
face east onto Ship Street and south away from the site.  

 
10.134. The northern first floor front unit has an existing living area with an east facing 

outlook overlooking Ship Street which would be unaffected, however 
“bedroom 2” is served solely by an existing north facing window which would, 
again, be 2m from the southern flank of the Apart Hotel and would lose nearly 
all outlook as a result of the proposal. The master bedroom has a west facing 
window which would also be affected and enclosed by the proposed 
development although the directly west facing and skyward aspect would be 
similar to existing. Demonstrable harm would result to the outlook from the 
existing bedrooms of this unit. Whilst this is the case the principal living room, 
dining area and kitchen would continue to face east and be unaffected. On 
balance whilst the harm to bedrooms is noted, the overall standard of 
accommodation retained across the unit is considered acceptable. 

 
10.135. At the rear of the first floor there is an additional two bedroom flat which is 

again served almost solely by the glazed slanted roof wrapping round the 
north, west and southern sides of the unit providing the light and outlook. The 
flat layout has a bathroom and kitchen on the northern side and the outlook 
from these rooms would be enclosed and detrimentally affected, however, the 
main living area is at the western end and whilst there would be harm to the 
northern outlook the western and southern aspects would remain largely 
unaffected and similar to the existing. Given that the southern part of the unit 
accommodates the bedrooms and a substantial portion of the living area the 
overall harm, on balance, and remaining living conditions are considered 
acceptable.  

 
10.136. On the second floor of the building is a three bedroom flat. The living room, 

master bedroom and bedroom 2 are all served by east or southern facing 
windows where the outlook would remain unaffected. Bedroom 3 to the rear 
of this unit (on the northern side) has a dual aspect and whilst the northern 
window to this room would have it’s outlook detrimentally affected the west 
facing window would retain an aspect similar to existing but a sense of 
enclosure would result. It is, however, again noted that the principal living 
spaces and master bedroom would be unaffected by the proposal. The unit 
also has a large rear roof terrace extending over the flat roof. The impact from 
the Apart Hotel building would be significant upon the experience of this 
terrace and the structure would have an overbearing and somewhat enclosing 

64



impact on the use of this space, however the views southwards would remain 
open and unaffected.  

 
10.137. In general terms the proposal would have a detrimental and significant impact 

upon three of the residential units at 18/19 Ship Street in terms of being 
overbearing and creating a loss of outlook for a number of the north facing 
windows. Such an impact is clearly regrettable, however, whilst the proposal 
would undoubtedly affect the views to the north of this building, those to the 
south, west and east would remain mostly unaffected. The dual aspects of 
these units therefore plays a considerable role in ensuring that the harms are 
not sufficiently detrimental to warrant refusal of the application. It is also noted 
that the windows most affected are side facing windows. Side facing windows 
within a tight city centre location are considered somewhat likely to experience 
impacts from adjacent development. 

 
10.138. The south elevation Apart Hotel bedroom windows are proposed within canted 

bays which assist in breaking up the massing but are also designed to alleviate 
concerns of loss of privacy to neighbouring occupiers. Whilst the canted bays 
do alleviate this in part, in general there would be some clear harms to the 
occupiers of the 18/19 Ship Street and the volume and mass of windows in 
this elevation would be considerable. A suitable mitigation to this would be for 
their obscure glazing. It is considered that a condition to require that the hotel 
windows are obscure glazed to 1.7m from floor level would help to mitigate 
some harms from the development of the Apart Hotel and would resolve 
matters from direct overlooking in close proximity. Such a condition would 
allow skyward views from within the Apart Hotel rooms and given the 
transience of this accommodation such an impact is considered acceptable 
whilst, in part, addressing some of the harm caused to the directly 
neighbouring residencies. 

 
10.139. On balance of these overall harms and subject to the recommended 

conditions it is considered that the living conditions for the residential 
occupiers of these units in regards to outlooking, loss of privacy and 
overbearing would remain overall acceptable and in accordance with DM20 of 
the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part Two.  

 
Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing  

10.140. The applicant has submitted a Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing report 
from XDA dated May 2023 with the subsequent findings. 

 
Vertical Sky Component 

10.141. The amount of skylight that reaches windows is assessed by determining the 
Vertical Sky Component (VSC). The vertical sky component is the ratio of 
direct sky light that reaches a vertical plane (wall or window) to the amount of 
sky light that reaches the horizontal plane (the ground). This ratio is expressed 
as a percentage. The maximum VSC that could be achieved for a completely 
unobstructed window/wall is almost 40%. 

 
Annual Probable Sunlight Hours 

 

65



10.142. When considering the impact of a development on an existing dwelling, the 
sunlight to a “living space” received is considered to be adversely affected if: 

 It receives less than 25% of annual probable sunlight hours and less than 
0.8 times its former value or less than 5% of annual probable sunlight 
hours between 21st September and 21st March and less than 0.8 times its 
former value during that period. 

 And also has a reduction in sunlight received over the whole year greater 
than 4% of annual probable sunlight hours 

 
10.143. When assessing the impact of a new development on existing buildings the 

BRE Guidance document “BR209: Site Layout Planning for Daylight and 
Sunlight, a Guide to Good Practice, 2022” suggests that if with a new 
development, an existing window has a VSC greater than 27% it should still 
receive sufficient skylight. If the VSC is reduced below 27% and less than 0.8 
times its former value, then the occupants are likely to notice the loss of 
skylight. 

 
10.144. The results demonstrate that of the 103 windows assessed of properties along 

Dukes Lane, Ship Street, Ship Street Gardens and Middle Street 10 windows 
will be materially impacted. All remaining properties would experience a 
negligible impact and the results of these impacts are considered to be within 
BRE guidelines. 

 
10.145. 13a Ship Street Gardens is sited to the south west of the development and 

another property which is close enough to the development (aside from 18/19 
Ship Street) to directly experience an impact in these terms. There are four 
ground floor windows to this property which serve a kitchen, two of which face 
directly north. The report states that all of these windows currently have a VSC 
less than the recommended 27%. The two ground floor windows of the rear 
projection directly facing north would have their VSC reduced to 0.73 and 0.78 
their former value. This is considered to be a minor adverse impact and given 
the separation from the site and existing situation these impacts are 
considered acceptable.  

 
10.146. 59 Ship Street is the three storey listed building directly to the east of the 

proposal. No recent planning or Building Control history appears relevant to 
this site from which floor plans can be assessed, however, the XDA report 
notes that four of the six windows on the first and second floors facing west 
serve habitable rooms. The report notes that the VSC to these windows will 
be reduced beyond the 0.8 threshold recommended by the BRE. In this case 
it is considered that a moderate adverse impact would occur. Whilst this is 
noted the most eastern section of the Apart Hotel has been designed in such 
a way that this projecting section closest to Ship Street would be three stories 
with development in the roof. This section of the Apart Hotel is commensurate 
with the scale of other development along Ship Street and as above, whilst 
this building has had a open westerly aspect in recent times, it would be 
somewhat reasonable to expect development and infilling to occur at some 
stage in the development of the Old Town. The upper floors of the Apart Hotel 
(stories 5, 6 and 7) would be some 9m back from the street frontage. 

66



Notwithstanding this a moderate adverse impact would still occur above the 
existing situation. 

 
10.147. In regards to ASPH the first floor more northern windows are reported in the 

XDA assessment to experience a reduction in sunlight to 20%. It is assessed 
that the winter APSH would remain unchanged and the report concludes that 
this property would consequently experience a minor adverse impact from loss 
of sunlight to the four windows directly assessed. 

 
10.148. 18/19 Ship Street is immediately adjacent to the Apart Hotel development to 

the south as referred to in the sections above. The XDA report notes that the 
first floor north facing window to bedroom 2 would have almost all light to this 
bedroom blocked by the new development. The submitted report incorrectly 
assumes that the second floor northerly windows of this building are in office 
use, although, as referred to earlier these windows do serve a kitchen and 
then a rear facing bedroom with a dual aspect. Notwithstanding this the north 
facing windows on the northern elevation remain referenced and evaluated 
within the XDA report. The proposed development would have a major 
adverse impact upon the VSC to these side facing windows blocking nearly 
all light. 

 
10.149. In the case of APSH to 18/19 Ship Street the XDA report only assesses one 

singular window (which appears to serve a bedroom on the first floor) and 
receives only 11% of APSH and no winter probable sunlight hours. This 
assessed window would be reduced by more than 4%, would not meet the 
BRE recommendations and would cause a moderate adverse impact. Whilst 
not specifically evaluated within the XDA it is considered to be likely given that 
the other windows facing north within the building would also experience a 
moderate adverse impact in regards to the APSH to a similar degree. Whilst 
these windows would serve two kitchens and bedrooms the principal living 
room spaces would remain unaffected. 

 
Overshadowing 

10.150. The BRE guidance states that the sunlight to a garden would be adversely 
affected if the area of garden than can receive 2 or more hours of direct 
sunlight on 21st March is reduced to below 50% of the total area and also if 
the total area of garden to receive 2 or more hours of direct sunlight on 21st 
March is reduced by 20% or more of the existing value as a result of a 
proposed development. The amenity spaces most affected by the 
development in this respect are those of 3A-8A Dukes Lane. The assessment 
concludes that 4A, 5A and 6A Dukes Lane would experience a change to 
direct sunlight to the amenity spaces of an hour less to 50% of the amenity 
space. In area terms all three would experience a reduction of sunlight to 
approximately 1m2 less than the existing situation as a result of the proposal. 
Whilst therefore some degree of overshadowing of these amenity spaces 
would result the impact would be in accordance with the BRE guidance and 
acceptable in this case. 

 
10.151. The remaining properties across Ship Street, Ship Street Gardens, Middle 

Street and Dukes Lane would experience impacts from the proposals in 

67



regards to changes to daylight and sunlight which are considered to be within 
BRE guidelines. Some overlooking from the proposed Apart Hotel and from 
its built form is also expected to occur to these properties however, these 
properties are considered to be sufficiently separated from the site to alleviate 
concerns of a severely detrimental impact sufficient to warrant refusal of the 
application. 

 
Overall considerations/conclusions on amenity impacts 

10.152. The above analysis concludes that the properties most affected by the 
proposal would be: 
13a Ship Street Gardens where a minor adverse impact is expected, however 
the ground floor kitchen is served by four windows and two of these would 
experience an impact in respect to loss of the VSC. No other substantial 
impacts are expected to occur to this property given the location and 
orientation of the site subject to the conditions proposed. 

 
10.153. 59 Ship Street is considered to have a moderate adverse impact from the 

proposals with regards to daylight and sunlight. Whilst the outlook and privacy 
would be altered from the existing, given the central location this is not 
considered to be sufficiently harmful in these respects to warrant refusal of the 
application. 

 
10.154. 18/19 Ship Street is arguably most affected by the development. The flats with 

north facing windows would experience considerable impacts to some 
bedrooms and kitchens particularly, upon their light and outlook and a degree 
of overlooking and enclosure would also result. The loss of light and outlook 
to the north facing/placed windows is noted and would cause harm to the 
rooms in which they serve however as noted above, side facing windows in a 
central city location are more likely to be sensitive to adjacent development. 
Due to the dual aspects existing within these units, together with the minimal 
impacts upon core living and dining areas, the impacts are considered, on 
balance, to still result in acceptable living conditions overall. 

 
10.155. Paragraph 214 of the NPPF states that  

Local planning authorities should assess whether the benefits of a proposal 
for enabling development, which would otherwise conflict with planning 
policies but which would secure the future conservation of a heritage asset, 
outweigh the disbenefits of departing from those policies.  

 

10.156. It is of note that the proposal of the Apart Hotel is not true “enabling 
development” as the application did not include any specific financial 
modelling and the proposal is more one of cross subsidy.  

 
10.157. DM27 of the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part Two also states that; “Where 

vacancy is an on-going concern, consent will be granted for a new viable use 
that is consistent with the conservation of the building’s special interest, 
provided that this would not unacceptably conflict with other policies or 
material considerations. In applying other policies the council will have special 
regard to the benefits of bringing the listed building back into use.”  

 

68



10.158. The development of the Apart Hotel would overall cause some harm to the 
amenities of adjacent occupiers which would be contrary to policy DM20 of 
the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part Two. Notwithstanding this in 
consideration of the special regards given to bringing the listed building back 
into use in DM27 and the weighting applied to the public benefits of the 
proposal, subject to ensuring appropriate phasing of the scheme the 
development can be, on balance, considered to result in public benefits which 
may outweigh the harms noted above when considered in the overall planning 
balance. 

 
Sustainable Transport: 

10.159. During the course of the application further information and details have been 
provided in order to address concerns held by both National Highways and 
the Local Highways Authority. The application site is bounded by Middle 
Street, to the west, and Ship Street to the east, which form the public highway 
and is managed and maintained by the Council. 

 
10.160. Middle Street is a one-way street, which operates in a northbound direction 

from its priority junction with the A259 Kings Road until it becomes Duke Street 
at its most northern end. Ship Street is situated to the east of the site and 
starts at the north where Duke Street becomes Ship Street and operates as a 
one-way southbound road until its priority junction with the A259 Kings Road 
at the southern end. Signalised junctions are located on the A259 Kings Road 
to the west of Middle Street and to the east of Ship Street. 

 
10.161. Paragraph 115 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented 

or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would 
be severe.  

 
10.162. City Plan Policy CP9 reflects the NPPF and states that the council will work 

with partners, stakeholders and communities to provide an integrated, safe 
and sustainable transport system that will accommodate new development; 
support the city’s role as a sub-regional service and employment hub; and 
improve accessibility. The policy seeks to ensure developments promote and 
provide measures that will help to manage and improve mobility and lead to a 
transfer of people and freight onto sustainable forms of transport to reduce the 
impact of traffic and congestion, increase physical activity and therefore 
improve people’s health, safety and quality of life. Policies DM33, DM35 and 
DM36 of the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part Two are also relevant to the 
application. 

 
10.163. Policy DM33 requires that new developments are designed in a way that is 

safe and accessible for all users, and encourages the greatest possible use 
of sustainable and active forms of travel. DM35 sets out the standard and 
scale of information required in assessing Highways impacts. DM36 sets 
standards for parking and servicing of new development. 

 

69



10.164. The existing site is not currently operational and has not been so for some 
time, therefore the development proposal is considered to result in an increase 
in new trips generated by or attracted to the site. 

 
10.165. The proposal seeks to bring Brighton Hippodrome back into use, as a modern, 

flexible, entertainment and events venue. The following is proposed in relation 
to capacity, seats, suits and floor areas: 

 A new live events space will have a maximum person capacity of 1,800 
people* (standing). 

 A new use of the auditorium would have a seated capacity for 263 seat 
theatre with 400 seats in the circle 

 Circa 2,000 sqm of restaurant/ bar uses. 

 77 aparthotel suites. 
 
10.166. Following review and feedback from the LHA the applicant submitted a 

Transport Addendum (July 2023) which advises that large touring shows are 
not anticipated to occur on-site with the likely ongoing use being more the 
scale of cabaret-style shows, events or concerts. Given the limited space on-
site and on-street, the addendum notes that that it is likely the site will not 
attract large global headlining acts, and the Transport Addendum points to 
more appropriate venues that could support the delivery and servicing needs 
for acts of this size within the City.  

 
10.167. The application proposes the use of the northern existing vehicle access and 

yard on Middle Street for the delivery and servicing of the Hippodrome. No 
other parking provision would be provided on site. As referred to above the 
prospective operator is not known or yet secured and therefore the anticipated 
schedule of events and therefore associated Highways activity may vary 
depending both upon the eventual end user and the nature of the event. The 
LHA considers that sufficient information has, however been provided to 
demonstrate that the proposal would not have an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or that residual cumulative impacts on the road network would 
be severe in accordance with the NPPF.  

 
Trip Generation 

10.168. Whilst there are several unknowns in respect of the operation/ operators of 
the site, the trip generation and distribution assumptions are broadly accepted 
in principle. The majority of trips generated by the event space are forecasted 
to originate from local locations already within the City centre and are 
expected to be walking trips. The Transport Addendum (July 2023) forecasts 
how event patrons may attend a future event at the Hippodrome using data 
obtained from nearby Brighton venues and considers the likely distribution of 
car/taxi trips (car parks, drop off areas etc) which are expected to disperse the 
trips across the surrounding and wider road network. The information provided 
is considered acceptable by the LHA and National Highways and satisfies 
concerns on road capacity and trip generation. 

 
10.169. Whilst the applicant has demonstrated that trips generated by the site will be 

dispersed across the surrounding network and car parks, a Travel Plan for the 
mixed-use events space is nonetheless recommended to be secured and 

70



should seek to reduce the number of car and taxi trips, where possible, for 
event-attendees and also include mitigation measures to reduce the level of 
impact a maximum person capacity event could have on the surrounding road 
and transport network(s). The Event Space Travel Plan is recommended to 
be secured as the plan will require ongoing review, data collection (surveys), 
adjustments to targets and monitoring through engagement with the Council, 
to ensure the Travel Plan is flexible and responsive to trends in mobility and 
active travel as well as the different event types/styles and the subsequent 
changes to the demands associated with the events space. 

 
10.170. It is also recommended by the LHA that Travel plan measures should be also 

secured for the Apart Hotel development and should provide the prospective 
communication strategy for encouraging and promoting active and 
sustainable travel modes over single occupancy car trips and taxi or private 
hire car trips where possible. 

 
Operational Impacts 

10.171. Whilst there remains some uncertainty on the exact use proposed but also to 
provide assurance and control of any ongoing use of the Hippodrome, an 
Event Management Plan is recommended to be secured. The plan should be 
subject to ongoing monitoring and review to ensure its flexibility to respond to 
the evolving needs of the Old Town, pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles that 
use Middle Street and its adjoining street network. It is recommended that the 
Event Management Plan will also be required to include details on how 
queueing (arriving) or dispersing (departing) pedestrians will be managed on 
Middle Street in the interests of highway and pedestrian safety.  

 
10.172. The submitted transport information describes methods of staggering and 

managing the peak arrival and departure flows of patrons within the Transport 
Addendum (July 2023), i.e. “soft close strategy at end of events can be used 
to minimise the rush to leave the venue”, which is a welcomed measure and 
strategies to manage the movement of all event-generated trips should be set 
out in the live Event Management Plan, which will be required to be 
responsive, flexible and therefore subject to change to prioritise pedestrian 
safety. 

 
Delivery and Servicing 

10.173. The tight grain and limited Highway widths of the surrounding streets is worthy 
of note and the majority of public houses, bars and restaurants in the 
surrounding area are serviced using the existing on-street provision.  

 
10.174. The proposals indicate that events and performances would be serviced 

directly from the Middle Street service yard. The Apart Hotel and Hippodrome 
kitchen is indicated to be serviced from Ship Street utilising the rear/side 
access.  

 
10.175. The applicant has provided swept path analysis which shows that larger 

vehicles (up to 13.7m/12m) could access and utilise the Middle Street access. 
However, given that these large vehicles are proposed to reverse into the site 
off Middle Street (the public highway), the recommended Delivery & Servicing 

71



Management Plan (to be secured by s106) should detail planned management 
measures, including the use of traffic marshals to ensure safe access to the 
site for reversing vehicles and manage pedestrian and cycle movement in the 
interest of highway safety. 

 
On street impacts 

10.176. As part of the re-development and creation of the Foyer Bar area on Middle 
Street 44 covers are proposed externally proposing to place tables and chairs 
on Middle Street, resulting in a reduction of available footway width on the 
public highway for pedestrians and risks pedestrians stepping into the 
carriageway (risking collision with vehicles) to pass the proposed 
development’s tables and chairs. 

 
10.177. No specific dimensions of the proposal to utilise the footpath has been 

provided to demonstrate Highway Safety and therefore the LHA cannot 
ascertain whether the provision of tables and chairs would be impactful for 
pedestrian comfort or safety. The Transport Addendum (July 2023), however, 
acknowledges the perceived benefit of providing tables and chairs on the 
footway and states the following, “Sussex Police have welcomed the inclusion 
of the seating because an active frontage will reduce anti-social behaviour, 
which is a problem in this part of Middle Street.” 

 
10.178. A licence for tables and chairs on the highway would be required before such 

an external use of this area could commence. The licencing process is 
separate to the planning process and planning consent will not guarantee a 
licence will be granted. An informative is recommended to be attached to the 
consent in the event of an approval. 

 
Construction Impacts 

10.179. Given the nature of both the existing highways within the Old Town with 
minimal road and pavement widths and the scale of development proposed a 
Construction and Environmental Management Plan is recommended to be 
secured by condition in order to address concerns raised within 
representations and ensure impacts upon the Highways network are suitably 
mitigated and managed during the construction phase. 

 
Cycle Parking and Sustainable Transport 

10.180. Cycle parking of 16 spaces was originally proposed to be provided within the 
rear of the Middle Street service yard. Following amendments and negotiation 
this element of the scheme was removed in order to better provide a suitable 
area for technical get-in and get-out of the performance venue and also to 
provide sufficient space for exiting patrons. Whilst the scheme therefore no 
longer proposes policy-compliant cycle parking, the LHA recommends a 
sustainable transport contribution is secured to increase cycle parking 
provisions (Sheffield stands) in the surrounding area, in the interests of 
promoting and encouraging active and sustainable transport, in line with Policy 
DM33 of City Plan Part 2. The provision of increased cycle parking options is 
considered a vital active travel measure to increase parking options nearby 
and reduce the need to travel to and from the site by vehicle where possible, 
which will work hand in hand with the recommended Travel Plan(s). 

72



 
Highways Conclusion 

10.181. The applicant has sufficiently demonstrated that the proposal would not result 
in a severe impact upon the highways network nor highways safety. Subject 
to the recommended travel, event and servicing management plans it is 
considered that the uses proposed can be appropriately managed and would 
be acceptable in Highways terms in accordance with CP9 of the Brighton and 
Hove City Plan Part One, DM33, DM35, DM36 of the Brighton and Hove City 
Plan Part Two and the requirements of the NPPF. 

 
Sustainable Drainage: 

10.182. It has been confirmed within the application that the existing combined foul 
and storm water sewer system should be able to accommodate this 
development with appropriate attenuation of flows if necessary to match 
existing run off rates. 

 
10.183. Based on public flood risk mapping produced by the Environment Agency, the 

site is understood to be at a low risk of flooding from surface water unlikely 
flooding from ground water and at very low risk of flood from sea and rivers. 

 
10.184. Limited information pertaining specifically to drainage has been submitted 

within this application. The information provided includes a planning statement 
and general plans of the proposed development. It is understood that the 
existing drainage systems at the site for the Hippodrome and Hippodrome 
House are to be used and it is believed the drainage to the south of the site is 
shared with an adjacent property. Also based on the limited information 
provided to date, it is understood that surface water and foul water will be 
discharged to adjacent public sewers. No increase in hard- standing areas is 
however proposed within the application.  

 
10.185. Whilst the above are noted, full details of the proposed surface water and foul 

water drainage strategy and a demonstration of their effectiveness will be 
required for the new Apart Hotel development and the applicant will be advised 
to ensure liaison with Southern Water in regard to the existing infrastructure. 
The Sustainable Drainage team have confirmed that further information would 
be require as a part of a pre-commencement condition. The information 
required would include; 

 
10.186. A drainage layout plan identifying elements and showing their locations. 

 Surface runoff rates and calculations to support these. 

 Demonstration that no flooding will occur in a 1 in 100yr +40%CC storm 
because of the development. 

 A maintenance and management plan identifying tasks, frequencies and 
parties responsible for all drainage elements. 

 Confirmation that post-development, surface water runoff rates will at least 
match, or preferably, be a betterment over pre-development conditions. 

 Anticipated foul water peak discharge rates. 

 Evidence of consultation with Southern Water, and approval for foul water 
connections. 

73



 Confirmation as to which existing/new connections to the sewer are 
proposed, and proof (I.e., CCTV survey) that they are appropriate. 

 Demonstration that the opportunity to incorporate SuDS into the Apart 
Hotel development has been fully considered and implemented as far as 
possible. (For example, attenuation measures or the absence of such 
measures should be fully justified).  

 
10.187. Further to the adoption of City Plan Part 2 and policy DM43, either the 

inclusion of sustainable drainage, or sufficient justification for its exclusion is 
a requirement but given the existing structures and previous use of the site it 
is considered that the Hippodrome and Hippodrome House could utilise the 
existing infrastructure but that the new build Apart Hotel development requires 
further detail secured by condition. Subject to compliance with the 
recommended conditions compliance of the scheme against policy DM43 is 
considered to be acceptable. 

 
Sustainability: 

10.188. Adopted Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One Policy CP8 Sustainable 
Buildings requires that all developments incorporate sustainable design 
features to avoid expansion of the city’s ecological footprint and mitigate 
against and adapt to climate change. 

 
10.189. Policy CP8 sets out minimum energy and water efficiency standards required 

to be met for all developments: 

 Energy efficiency standards of 19% re duction in CO2 emissions over Part 
L Building Regulations 

 BREEAM ‘Excellent’ certification for major non-residential developments 
 
10.190. The retention and restoration of the Hippodrome is an inherently sustainable 

use for this site while improving the energy and carbon performance of the 
existing buildings and replacing all services. The proposed Apart Hotel would 
maximise the use of a brownfield site. The Design and Access and energy 
statement provides information in these regards but overall limited specific 
detail has been provided within the application. The Hippodrome by nature of 
being an existing Grade II* Listed Building will somewhat restrict the design of 
mechanical and electrical services, ventilation and energy efficiency 
measures.  

 
10.191. Information provided for the historic building elements advise a fabric-first 

approach to maximise air-tightness and include “super-high” insulation of the 
facades, dome and fly-tower but no detail is provided, however it is noted that 
the traditional construction of the building will provide good thermal 
performance.  

 
10.192. The auditorium itself would be heated, ventilated and cooled by a ducted air 

system fed from a roof mounted air handling unit. The ventilation system will 
be controlled by a number of air quality and temperature sensors to reduce 
energy consumption. Heat recovery will be bypassed automatically to prevent 
energy wastage, during certain conditions. Solar PV panels are proposed for 
the roof and although the extent of area available is limited this is welcomed.  

74



 
10.193. Across the development low energy (LED) lighting with occupancy sensors, 

water efficient fittings and improved insulation of all central heating and hot 
water piping and cylinders are proposed. The application also proposes that 
the development will generally utilise air source heat pumps for heating and 
cooling where possible and utilise high efficiency gas boilers for some water 
and heating requirements.  

 
10.194. The Apart Hotel rooms would be air conditioned using ducted heat pumps with 

controls to ensure these are only in use when the room is occupied, with fresh 
air via vents in glazing systems proposed. No assessment of overheating has 
been submitted but it will be necessary to meet the requirements of Building 
Regulations 2021 Part O with regard to overheating.  

 
10.195. In terms of the overall building management this features air conditioning, 

heating and ventilation systems with comprehensive controls and monitoring 
to ensure energy consumption is minimised whilst comfort levels are 
maintained. 

 
10.196. The proposal for most of the heating to be provided by air source heat pumps 

is considered acceptable. Installing new gas boilers would, however, mean 
that the building will not be future-proofed against upgraded building 
regulations expected to be introduced in 2025.  

 
10.197. BREEAM is not mentioned or assessed in the documents submitted and as 

this is a major development, a BREEAM rating of ‘Excellent’ is required by 
policy CP8 to apply to the Apart Hotel development and this is recommended 
to be secured by condition. 

 
10.198. In regard to Carbon Emissions the information presented in regard to 

reduction and management is on a general level and no estimate of carbon 
emissions or potential savings is provided nor targeted EPC ratings.  

 
10.199. Notwithstanding the lack of detailed information it is considered that planning 

conditions could secure appropriate measures are incorporated in the 
proposal across the different phases of development in order to meet 
sustainability policy objectives in accordance with policies CP8 of the City Plan 
Part One and DM44 of the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part Two. 

 
 Landscaping, ecology and biodiversity 

10.200. The development site is a brownfield site located within the City Centre with 
no significant ecology or biodiversity on site. It is noted that the site is not 
within any areas designated for natural protection and there are no green 
corridors within the site or the surrounding area. The application submission 
pre-dates the adoption of City Plan Part Two Policy DM37 and Biodiversity 
Net Gain for major developments and no urban greening or landscaping is 
proposed. 

 
10.201. The application is accompanied by a preliminary bat roost assessment which 

concludes no evidence of bats, droppings or bat roosts within and around the 

75



existing buildings. An informative is recommended to ensure that the applicant 
is aware of responsibilities of species protection in the event that any 
discovery of bats is made during further works. 

 
10.202. In order to improve the biodiversity outcomes of the development conditions 

are recommended for bee-brick and swift boxes to be installed. The 
development would otherwise not impact upon any green infrastructure or 
natural features over and above the existing condition of the site.  

 
 Accessibility 

10.203. Access to the auditorium use would be from the existing northern and southern 
principal entrances fronting onto Middle Street. The northern most entrance is 
suitable for wheelchair access. The design and access statement also notes 
that the two ground floor entrances to the Hippodrome within the Middle Street 
yard would also be wheelchair accessible. The rear doors to the Members 
Club area are shown to be step free from the submitted drawings also. 

 
10.204.  A number of internal lifts are proposed within the rear of the auditorium, 

including an evacuation lift and a further lift is proposed within the Apart Hotel 
frontage onto Ship Street. The Apart Hotel entrance and Ship Street shopfront 
both indicate a level and step free access. 

 
10.205. Horizontal movement, with the exception of Hippodrome House, is through 

corridors designed to allow wheelchair turning spaces and all doors are 
proposed to have minimum clear opening widths compliant with the Building 
Regulations Approved Document M. 

 
10.206. The Transport Addendum (July 2023) states, “Wheelchair access to all areas 

will be controlled under Building Regulations requirements. Chair lifts, similar 
to those employed by the City Council at Prince Regent Swimming Pool for 
instance, will be used within the Hippodrome.” 

 
10.207. The applicant’s approach is accepted, and it is acknowledged that accessibility 

will be reviewed again post planning consent (if permission is granted) and 
required to comply with current Building Regulations. 

 
Other Considerations: 
Property value 

10.208. A number of representations have raised the impact of the development upon 
property value which is not a material consideration in planning terms. 

 
Quakers Meeting House 

10.209. A number of representations have raised the impact of the development upon 
the Quakers Meeting House gardens and trees. The Quakers Meeting House 
is sited on the junction of Ship Street and Prince Albert Street running to the 
south east. The closest part of the boundary of the property to the Apart Hotel 
proposal is c.25m. Due to the orientation of the site the development would 
not have any material impact on this area until the later part of the day with 
the impacts being as existing otherwise. No harm to the use of this space is 

76



considered to result sufficient to warrant refusal of this application due to the 
separation distance and orientation of the site. 

 
Phasing 

10.210. Referred to in the sections above the applicant has provided a phasing plan 
and phasing intention for the development. The applicant has provided the 
following intentions and describes them as follows; 

 
10.211. Phase One relates to the Hippodrome Auditorium, Hippodrome House and the 

rear fly tower and is proposed to include. 
 Demolition works: Strip out remaining “Mecca” related fit out works from 

auditorium including all redundant services. Demolition of any elements 
approved by a Listed Building Consent. The majority of this is to the rear 
of Hippodrome House. Inspection, testing, repairs and renewal of 
drainage system. 

 Construction of newly approved structures mainly in the fly tower area, to 
the rear of Hippodrome House and on the remaining roof areas around 
the perimeter of the auditorium. 

 Installation of M & E services whilst structure is open, following previous 
artex removal. After first fix service installation, the fit out works to 
approved drawings will commence. 

 
10.212. Phase Two relates to the new build extension facilitating the Apart Hotel.  

 For a majority of the work in Phase 1 the Ship Street car park will be 
required for site vehicles, deliveries and materials handling. 

 Towards the start of the internal fit-out works it is anticipated that 
arrangements will have been made to cover the archaeological inspection 
in a phased way to the car park area. 

 It is not anticipated that construction work will commence on the Part Hotel 
until the Hippodrome has opened although this will depend on 
negotiations with the potential occupiers. They may have a requirement 
for the foundation works to be complete before opening of the venue due 
to the potential impact. 

 
10.213. It is considered key to the success and realisation of the benefits of this 

proposal that a phasing plan is appropriately secured. Planning conditions and 
obligations are recommended to be worded in such a way that the auditorium 
is fully restored, completed and fitted out for purpose and that heritage benefits 
and features are appropriately restored and in place prior to the operation of 
other parts of the proposal, such as occupation of the new build Apart Hotel, 
to ensure that the public benefits are secured across the scheme as a whole. 

 
 
11. CONCLUSIONS: 

 
11.1. In addition to the paragraphs cited earlier in this report paragraph 203 of the 

NPPF states; 
In determining applications, local planning authorities should take account of:  
a)  the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage 

assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  

77



b)  the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make 
to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and  

c)  the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to 
local character and distinctiveness.  

  

11.2. In this case the proposed development is considered to sustain and enhance 
both the architectural and historic significance of the buildings and the use 
proposed is considered to be suitably viable and consistent with the history of 
the site and the ongoing conservation of this at risk Grade II* Listed Building 
securing what can be considered as the Optimal Viable Use. The proposed 
development would contribute to the re-generation and vitality of this part of 
the Old Town Conservation Area and would also improve the public realm and 
make a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness.  

 
11.3. There would be some harm from the development proposed. These harms 

are acknowledged as being some harm to residential amenity, harm to the 
Conservation Area and some heritage harm to the adjoining Hippodrome 
House. These harms are considered, in the planning balance, to be 
outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal which would amount to the 
restoration and appropriate re-use of the Grade II * Listed Building with the 
public able to again appreciate and experience a restored Hippodrome 
Auditorium as a single volume providing a programme of performances and 
events and is considered viable and sustainable. 

 
11.4. Subject to an appropriate phasing agreement and suitable planning conditions 

is it considered that the public benefits of the proposal would be secured and 
realised. 

 
11.5. Matters relating to Highways impacts, sustainability and archaeology are 

considered acceptable and can be suitably controlled through appropriately 
worded conditions.  

 
11.6. On balance the development proposal is considered to be in accordance with 

the NPPF, national and local guidance and locally adopted planning policies 
of the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part One and Part Two. 

 
 
12. EQUALITIES 

 
12.1. During the determination of this application due regard has been given to the 

impact of this scheme in relation to the Equality Act 2010 in terms of the 
implications for those with protected characteristics namely age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. There is no 
indication that those with any of these protected characteristics would be 
disadvantaged by this development.  

 
 
13. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY  

 

78



13.1. Under the Regulations of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 2010 (as 
amended), Brighton & Hove City Council adopted its CIL on 23 July 2020 and 
began charging on all CIL liable planning applications on and from the 5 
October 2020. The exact amount will be confirmed in the CIL liability notice 
which will be issued as soon as it practicable after the issuing of planning 
permission.  

 

79



80



Matthew Gest 

 

From:  

Sent: 25 April 2023 11:29 

To: Matthew Gest 

Cc: Liz Hobden 

Subject: Hippodrome BH2022/02444 

Attachments:  

   

Dear Matthew,   

  

Further to my previous letter from 24th October 2022 (attached) I am writing regarding the Hippodrome planning 

application BH2022/02444.   

  

I was pleased to see that, after additional consultation, Matsim have amended their plans to take into account 

feedback regarding aspects which will increase flexibility of large performance space in the future. It's welcome to 

see a developer work in collaboration with campaigners and historic preservation organisations in this way and on 

that basis, I am further encouraged to support Matsim's application.  

  

Yours sincerely, Caroline  

  

Caroline Lucas MP  
Brighton Pavilion  

   

  
   

Constituency Office  
Werks Central  
15-17 Middle Street  
Brighton BN1 1AL  

2 

81



82



 

DATE OF COMMITTEE: 3rd April 2024 
 

 
ITEM B 

 
 
 

  
Brighton Hippodrome  

51 and 52-58 Middle Street 
BH2022/02444 

Listed Building Consent 

83



84



P

El

Dukes Lane

DUKE STREET

MI
DD

LE
 ST

RE
ET

Daisy Court
Lane
Black

Bo
lla

rd

Ship St Ct

El Sub Sta

Union Street
BOYCE'S STREET

SH
IP 

ST
RE

ET

SOUTH STREET

DUKE STREET

1
7

6

3

8

4

2
5

9

School

Old Ship

Middle Street

Hippodrome

11

34

16

52

37

64

70

54

62

12

30

24

26

25

10

68

22

58

13

40

1a

19

39

59

36

53

60

23

69
20

55

27
45

18

47
67

14

71

15

41
56

35

7376
74

44

50

66

17 61

51

7a

75

El House

15c59
c

Sta

42
a

13a

37b

59
a

15b

15
a

59d

37a

17
a

14
a

72
a

Synagogue

Ovest House

22
B

PH

13
.5

Hotel du Vin & Bistro
Club

2 t
o 5 1 t
o 9

5 t
o 8

ESS

Surgery

1 to 63

9 t
o 1

2

Kin
gs

Friends

Gardens

51
 to

 53

52
 to

 58

15
 to

 17

54
 to

 56

65
 to

 67

34 to 37

12 to 14

Wenlock

Cla
ren

ce 
Ho

use

15

7

7

2

11

37
17

16

PH

616

7

3

14

34
18

25

2

24

58
62

35

18

61

1

10

52

PH

19

PH

8

PH

12

7

PH

PH

59

13

24

8

41

39

13

16

40

69

22

House59

64

4

60

PH

PH

14

40

PH

1

30

27

1

17

3

37

PH

164

House

1

1

27

2

3

10

62

24

1

8

70

22

15

9

16

30

27

3

14

(c) Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence: 100020999, Brighton & Hove City Council. 2023.

BH2022 02444 - Brighton Hippodrome

1:1,250Scale: ̄

85



86



OFFRPTLBC 

No: BH2022/02444 Ward: Regency Ward 

App Type: Listed Building Consent 

Address: The Hippodrome 51 And 52 - 58 Middle Street Brighton BN1 1AL  

Proposal: Restoration, renovation, part-demolition works and extensions to 
The Hippodrome to create a new mixed use development 
including multi-format performance space (Sui Generis), and 
apart-hotel (C1), restaurant/café (E) with rooftop bar and terrace 
(Sui Generis) including; erection of new apart-hotel building 
fronting Ship Street of 3 to 7 storeys with retail (E) at ground floor, 
conversion of existing Hippodrome Fly Tower to create additional 
rehearsal/performance space, conversion of Hippodrome House 
to provide bar, members club with external terrace and apart-
hotel, and other associated works. (Amended Plans) 

Officer: Matthew Gest, tel: 292525 Valid Date: 12.08.2022 

Con Area: Old Town Conservation Area Expiry Date: 07.10.2022 

Listed Building Grade: Grade II* 

Agent: Lomax Design 44 New Road Shoreham By Sea BN43 6RA  

Applicant: 52-58 Middle Street Brighton Ltd Sussex House Crowhurst Road 
Hollingbury Brighton BN1 8AF  

 
 

1. RECOMMENDATION 
 
1.1. That the Committee has taken into consideration and agrees with the reasons 

for the recommendation set out below and resolves to GRANT Listed Building 
Consent subject to the following Conditions and Informatives. 

 
Conditions to be added to the Additional Representations List.  
  
Informatives: 
Drawings to be added to the Additional Representations List  

 
 
2. SITE LOCATION  
  
2.1. The application relates to the Grade II* Listed Brighton Hippodrome (52-58 

Middle Street) a late 19th Century venue. The building was originally constructed 
as an ice rink in 1896/97 and has undergone many iterations of use in its time. 
Most recently the building was used as a Bingo Hall and has been vacant since 
2006. The building is included on Historic England's register of "buildings at risk" 
due to being in a substantial and ongoing state of deterioration. The building 
together with the associated and adjoining Hippodrome House (51 Middle 
Street) occupies a substantial site between Middle Street and Ship Street in the 
heart of the Old Town Conservation Area of the city with the principal entrance 
onto Middle Street and a rear yard with access from Ship Street. The site also 
lies within an Archaeological Notification Area. 

87



OFFRPTLBC 

  
 
3. RELEVANT HISTORY  
  
3.1. BH2022/02444 - Restoration, renovation, part-demolition works and extensions 

to The Hippodrome to create a new mixed use development including multi-
format performance space (Sui Generis), and apart-hotel (C1), restaurant/café 
(E) with rooftop bar and terrace (Sui Generis) including; erection of new apart-
hotel building fronting Ship Street of 3 to 7 storeys with retail (E) at ground floor, 
conversion of existing Hippodrome Fly Tower to create additional 
rehearsal/performance space, conversion of Hippodrome House to provide bar, 
members club with external terrace and apart-hotel, and other associated works. 
(Listed Building Consent)  
Under Consideration 

 
3.2. BH2023/02483 - Certificate of lawfulness for the proposed re-use of the building 

for live public performance entertainment (with ancillary provision of food and 
beverage). 
Refused 7th November 2023 

 
3.3. BH2022/00648 - Clearance and treatment of dry rot infested areas including 

removal of non structural timbers and bingo hall installed fixtures and fittings. 
Approved 26th May 2022 

 
3.4. PRE2021/00110 - Repair and refurbishment of existing Grade II listed building 

for use as an entertainment venue, also including conversion of part of the 
existing building to an 18 room apartment hotel, another part to office use, and 
a newbuild extension at the rear to create 60 additional apartment hotel rooms 
and a small retail unit fronting onto Ship Street. Alterations to the Listed Building 
will be both internal and external on all floors. 
Advice issued 24th August 2021 

 
3.5. BH2021/01080 - Erection of new roof structure to the domed roof, and the 

demolition of several roof structures that penetrate through the existing roof 
fabric. (Listed Building Consent) 
Approved 5th October 2021 

 
3.6. BH2021/01079 - Erection of new roof structure to the domed roof, and the 

demolition of several roof structures that penetrate through the existing roof 
fabric. 
Approved 5th October 2021 

 
3.7. BH2013/04348 - Internal and external alterations to Brighton Hippodrome and 

Hippodrome House to form an eight screen cinema (D2) and four associated 
café/restaurants units (A3) to include the following works: demolition of the fly 
tower and other later additions and construction of replacement rear extensions; 
excavation works to extend existing basements; construction of two storey 
extension to northern elevation; reinstatement of original Hippodrome entrance 
on Middle Street; demolition of 11 Dukes Lane to create a new pedestrian route; 
new bay window to western elevation of 10 Dukes Lane, new windows to 47 

88



OFFRPTLBC 

Middle Street; new windows and entrance way to Hippodrome House; 
reconfiguration of existing service yards and parking areas; improvements to 
pedestrian and disabled access to Middle Street and Dukes Lane; construction 
of new three storey plus basement unit on land adjacent to 18-19 Ship Street 
(referenced as 19A Ship Street in supporting documents and plans) comprising 
A1/A2/A3 use on the ground floor and B1 use on the upper floors; and other 
associated works. 
Approved 28th November 2014  

 
3.8. BH2013/04351 - Internal and external alterations, restoration and repair to 

Brighton Hippodrome and Hippodrome House to facilitate conversion to cinema 
(D2) and associated café/restaurant units (A3) to include the following works: 
demolition of the rear fly tower and other later additions and construction of 
replacement rear extensions; construction of two storey extension to northern 
elevation to provide new access way into the Hippodrome; excavation works to 
stalls and orchestra pit; installation of mezzanine floor; reinstatement of original 
Hippodrome entrance on Middle Street; new windows and entrance way to 
Hippodrome House; and other associated works. 
Approved 28th November 2014  

 
 
4. APPLICATION DESCRIPTION 
 
4.1. Listed Building consent is sought for external and internal alterations to facilitate 

a new mixed use development across site including; 

 Restoration, renovation, part-demolition and extensions to The Hippodrome 
to provide a multi-format performance/event space (Sui Generis) with 
restaurant/café (E) 

 Conversion and alterations to Hippodrome House to provide bar, members 
club and apart-hotel (Sui Generis), and other associated works. 

 Erection at the rear of a new 3-7 storey apart-hotel (Sui Generis) fronting 
Ship Street with retail (E) at ground floor 

 
The Hippodrome 

4.2. The proposal is to restore and bring the auditorium back into use as a 
performance venue/events space in a “Theatre of Varieties” concept. This is to 
utilise the auditorium as a flexible performance and events space capable of 
hosting both musical and theatrical performances as well as providing a venue 
for conferences, exhibitions, banquets as well as other uses such as event 
cinema, lectures and weddings. The circle is to be retained with fixed raked 
seating (400 seats) whilst the main auditorium floor would be re-modelled as a 
flat floor event space. The decorative plasterwork within the auditorium would be 
repaired and restored with the retention and preservation of a number of other 
historic elements, fixtures and fittings. The ground floor of the venue would also 
enclose a kitchen in the south eastern corner and ancillary bar areas set within 
the auditorium.  

 
4.3. At mezzanine level (03) the area at the rear of the stage within the fly tower 

would be converted to a rehearsal/practice performance space with additional 
Apart Hotel bedrooms on the floor above. 

89



OFFRPTLBC 

 
4.4. From circle level there is also proposed access to an enclosed “roof top” bar 

(level 03) with a capacity of 32 covers that faces north and in turn leads onto an 
external roof terrace fronting Middle Street for 44 covers. 

 
4.5. The ground floor lobby of the auditorium would be converted to a bar/restaurant 

with a frontage onto Middle Street catering for 60 covers internally and 44 
externally on the public highway (pavement) and would re-utilise the box booths 
between the foyer and auditorium.  

 
4.6. The ground floor would also be remodelled with the provision of washroom and 

toilet facilities as well as a re-designed back of house at the rear of the stage to 
provide dressing rooms, changing rooms and green rooms, stage lobbies and 
other performance facilities and storage.  

 
4.7. The stage get in and get out would be in the same overall location as the current 

elephant/equestrian ramp providing a direct and ramped access to the stage 
side and rear. A late night exit for patrons is sited adjacent to this in the northern 
side of the auditorium. 

 
4.8. Servicing and delivery of the auditorium would take place through the existing 

vehicle access on the northern side of Hippodrome House. 
 
4.9. External alterations are proposed to the Middle Street frontage and these relate 

largely to matters of detailing and infilling and installation of doors and windows. 
 

Hippodrome House 
4.10. The ground floor of the northern part of Hippodrome House would be remodelled 

for use as a private members club with bar and lounge areas. The bar at ground 
level would have a capacity of 59 opening out on an outside terrace in the 
Elephant’s Yard of 32 covers.  

 
4.11. At mezzanine level is a proposed Member’s dining room, with a 24 person 

capacity served by its own kitchen. The northern upper parts of Hippodrome 
House would be remodelled and facilitate 16 Apart Hotel rooms. 

 
4.12. The southern section of Hippodrome House adjoining the Hippodrome 

auditorium would be entirely remodelled as the Apart Hotel entrance lobby 
providing access via the stair core to rooms above to the street frontage with the 
rear remodelled for WC facilities and access to the auditorium. 

 
The Apart Hotel 

4.13. The application proposes the erection of an extension at the rear and side of the 
auditorium and infilling of the rear car park with a new 3-7 storey apart-hotel 
building proposed at 21.4m in height, providing 62 hotel rooms fronting onto Ship 
Street with a new retail unit (Class E) at ground floor. The extension would be 
set down at its eastern end and would appear largely as a three storey building 
with accommodation in the roof from Ship Street. The extension steps up with 
the 5th and 6th storey 9m back from the street front with a metal clad mansard 
roof addition above. The elevations propose differing treatments of brickwork 

90



OFFRPTLBC 

detailing punctuated by set ins and set backs along with windows and canted 
bays serving the Apart Hotel rooms on the northern and southern sides.  

 
4.14. Additional alterations are proposed to the Hippodrome fly tower and roof. The 

roof spaces would feature a number of rooflights, PV panels, plant equipment 
and acoustic louvres. New window openings are proposed to the fly tower on 
the south eastern side. 

 
Amendments 

4.15. Amended plans and further information have been provided during the course 
of the application. Principally the amendments have reduced the height of the 
rear Apart Hotel building and removed a proposed use of the fly tower for 
separate office use (E) from the application and in its place is the proposed 
rehearsal/studio space. 

 
Condition of the Hippodrome 

4.16. The building has been vacant since 2006 and during this time has fallen into 
considerable disrepair in this time. Water ingress and an infestation of dry rot 
have been somewhat remedied by recent planning and listed building consents 
to renew the auditorium roof and remove non-structural dry rot. These consents 
have been implemented by the applicant. 

 
4.17. It is also of note that the applicant has commenced some works which would 

require listed building consent but are not yet approved, most notably the 
restoration of the auditorium plaster work with some of this work already 
considerably underway. These proposed part-retrospective works form part of 
this consent and the associated full planning application BH2022/02443. 

 
 
5. REPRESENTATIONS  
 
5.1. Overall and in total thirty-eight (38) individual public representations have been 

received in regard to the application. It is noted that some individuals and groups 
have submitted more than one representation. These are broken down and 
summarised in the following paragraphs. 

 
Original consultation 

5.2. Twelve (12) representations were received from individuals and the Middle 
Street and Ship Street Gardens Residents Association, objecting to the 
proposed development for the following reasons: 

 The proposal is an overdevelopment, with too many storeys and a poor 
design 

 Will set a precedent for further tall developments in the area 

 Loss of property values 

 The proposal will cause harm to the Conservation Area and listed building  

 The proposal will cause harm to the amenity of neighbouring residents 
through a loss of privacy, outlook and daylight and an overbearing impact 

 Increased noise disturbance 

 The proposed alterations are irreversible and may compromise the ability to 
conduct larger-scale performances are being removed 

91



OFFRPTLBC 

 Errors, omissions and alleged misleading statements within the application 
documents 

 Additional traffic 
 
5.3. Fourteen (14) representations were received from individuals supporting the 

proposed development for the following reasons: 

 Good design, the proposed works are in keeping with the listed building 

 An opportunity to regenerate a historic building that has fallen into disrepair 

 Entertainment venues make a positive contribution to the city and would be 
a great cultural asset 

 

5.4. Two (2) representations were received commenting on the proposed 
development: 

 Renovation of historic building is welcomed 

 Opposition to the proposed seven-storey height as being out of keeping with 
the area 

 Harm to the amenity of neighbouring residents including due to the height of 
the tower and the proposed rooftop terrace 

 
Following amendments to the scheme and a re-consultation in April 2023: 

5.5. Ten (10) representations were received, including from the Middle Street and 
Ship Street Gardens Residents Association, and the Regency Society, 
objecting to the proposed development for the reasons stated above, and: 

 Amendments including a minor reduction in the height of the tower have not 
overcome the concerns raised 

 Restrictions to the hours of use of the rooftop bar should be added 
 
5.6. Three (3) representations were received supporting the proposed development 

for the reasons stated above, and: 

 Delays further the degradation of the building and should be minimised 
 
5.7. Two (2) representations were received commenting on the proposed 

development for the reasons as stated above. 
 

5.8. Two (2) representations have been received from Caroline Lucas (MP) on 24th 
October 2022 and 25th April 2023 supporting the proposals. 

 
5.9. A representation has been received from the Brighton Hippodrome CIC 

(Community Interest Company) on 7th October 2022 objecting to the proposals 
for the following reasons: 

 The plans contain insufficient detail and evidence of an overall strategy and 
business plan. 

 Liquor licensing in the cumulative impact zone (CIZ) may limit the potential 
of the scheme. 

 Issues of noise transfer and neighbourhood disturbance are not addressed. 

 The impacts of regular 1,800-person concerts are not discussed. 

 This proposal is similar to one that failed for a major music operator 10 years 
ago. 

92



OFFRPTLBC 

 The scheme is not reversible for future theatre use, as required of previous 
schemes. 

 
 
6. CONSULTATIONS  

 
Internal 

6.1. Heritage: 22nd February 2024 (final comments): Approve subject to conditions 
The addendum submitted in December 2023 provides more information on the 
back of house provision, operational management, and servicing of the site. This 
helps to clarify the type and scale of activity that could take place at this venue 
and how it will operate and be managed.  

 
6.2. The latest information provided has not addressed fully the concerns of the 

previous Heritage comments and this would align with Historic England’s latest 
comments who have particular concerns regarding (but not exclusively) the 
Palm Court interiors: 
We consider that harm to heritage significance could be reduced by the retention 
and re-use of some of the historic Palm Court interiors for additional bar and 
front of house areas to serve the entertainment use. 
 

6.3. Where works are proposed which would lead to harm, local planning authorities 
are required to follow the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) that any 
harm or loss of significance would require clear and convincing justification. 
Paragraphs 203, 205, 206, 207 and 211 are all relevant however 208 is most 
worthy of note: 
Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset (in this case a listed building), this 
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, 
where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 
 

6.4. NPPF paragraph 208 
These benefits are defined in the Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) as ‘anything 
that delivers economic, social or environmental objectives’, and which are ‘of a 
nature or scale to benefit the public at large and not just be a private benefit’. 
The Hippodrome would offer public benefits in the form of renovating a at risk 
listed building and bringing it back into use. The building has been vacant for a 
long time and is in a poor condition. It has deteriorated over this period and is 
on Historic England’s ‘buildings at risk’ register. It is also on the Theatres Trust’s 
register of theatres at risk. The public would also have the benefit of seeing and 
experiencing this historic performance space as well as having an additional 
venue in the city. There will also be additional employment opportunities. 
However, the heritage impacts would need to be minimised by the imposition of 
conditions to avoid loss to historic fabric such as plasterwork and original fixtures 
and fittings in The Hippdrome and Hippodrome House and to ensure all works 
carried out are appropriate to the heritage asset. Whilst the Apart-hotel is 
considered acceptable, further details are required by condition to ensure that it 
does not affect the significance of the historic building as well as preserving and 
enhancing the Old Town Conservation Area. The imposition of conditions and 

93



OFFRPTLBC 

compliance with the conditions are critical to ensuring the public benefit tests are 
met and that the alterations preserve the special character of the building. 

 
6.5. Historic England outlines a staged approach to decision making in their Advice 

Note 12. Previous Heritage comments would indicate that the Heritage Impact 
Statement hasn’t satisfactorily addressed these. The proposals as currently 
submitted will lead to less than substantial harm, but to a high degree if clear 
conditions are not set out for each individual part of the development to ensure 
that the loss of original fabric is minimised. The viable option likely to cause the 
least harm to the significance of the asset would also require clear conditions to 
be set.  

 
6.6. Conditions are recommended for; methodology and details of how the historic 

features would be restored and protected during works, a detailed phasing plan, 
further details on the historic floor layers, details for the internal sound wall, 
updated information on the fibrous plaster works undertaken, the porch canopy 
to Hippodrome House, details of the treatment for the basement of Hippodrome 
House, details of the restoration of the Middle Street canopy, details of the 
juliette balconies fronting Middle Street, further information on the retention of 
the circle seating and a proposed colour scheme for the interior plasterwork. 

 
28th April 2023: Seek Amendments/Seek Further Information 

6.7. There is still therefore a need for a clearer understanding, with appropriate 
specialist input, of how the multi-format venue would viably operate as currently 
designed and laid out. There also remains the need for a clear phasing plan to 
provide confidence that the listed building will be fully restored. More details of 
the alterations to the Hippodrome are still required in order to be confident that 
the works would conserve the significance of the building and that the package 
of heritage benefits is sufficiently great as to outweigh the harmful aspects of the 
proposals. 
 

6.8. The new building elements, including the apart hotel and the infill addition to 
Hippodrome House, are now considered to be broadly acceptable in terms of 
minimising their harm, but further design amendments are recommended to 
achieve a suitable development in heritage terms. 
 
30th September 2022: Seek Amendments/Seek Further Information 

6.9. Whilst the principle of these applications is supported, there are significant 
concerns that as submitted the applications; lack justification and detail for the 
proposed alterations and restoration works, lack clarity around how the multi-
use venue would viably operate and how it would comfortably co-exist with other 
proposed uses, lack details of how acoustic separation would be provided and 
how that may impact on the interior and features of the auditorium etc, lack a 
phasing plan, may not allow for future reversibility and for flexibility of use(s), 
involve substantial alterations to Hippodrome House and large scale new 
development. 

 
6.10. Urban Design: Comment (seek amendments) 

Design of the retail and Apart-Hotel frontage should be improved and 
consideration given to reducing the number of storeys and height to lessen 

94



OFFRPTLBC 

impact on the conservation area, review or clarify Apart-hotel in terms of 
accessibility from Middle Street and arrangements during the night when the 
hippodrome is closed. Reduce scale of infill development and review material 
composition to create a development that is distinctive and harmonious. 

 
External 

6.11. Conservation and Advisory Group: Support 
Noted concerns on height of Apart Hotel building, request a Section 106 
obligation to ensure hotel is prevented from trading until Hippodrome completed. 

 
6.12. County Archaeologist: Support 

Information provided is satisfactory and identifies that there is a risk that 
archaeological remains will be damaged. Risk of damage to archaeology is 
recommended to be mitigated by the application of planning conditions. 

 
6.13. Historic Buildings and Places (Ancient Monuments Society): Objection 

Concerns that information provided within the HIA (Heritage Impact 
Assessment) is inadequate for Grade II* Listed Building, decorative elements of 
Hippodrome House (Palm Court interiors) should be retained, concerns on Apart 
Hotel height and design. Suggests further information and advice is obtained. 

 
6.14. Historic England: 30th January 2024: Comment 

It will be for the Council to decide whether this scheme is deliverable and viable 
in the Brighton entertainment market and would therefore secure a long-term 
sustainable use for this important heritage asset. 

 
6.15. We consider that harm to heritage significance could be reduced by the retention 

and re-use of some of the historic Palm Court interiors for additional bar and 
front of house areas to serve the entertainment use, and through a reduction in 
height of the apart- hotel development. 

 
6.16. Should you decide the proposals are acceptable, we would encourage you to 

consider the recommended conditions which would further reduce harm. 
 

27th April 2023: Seek Amendments/Seek Further Information/Objection 
6.17. Welcome the further information and amendments but consider that they do not 

go far enough to address previous concerns. This is because they still do not 
provide sufficient evidence to demonstrate: the deliverability of the scheme; that 
the potential harm has been minimised and that the public benefits can be 
delivered to outweigh the harm and be legally secured. 

 
6.18. Importantly, we consider it is crucial that the applicant demonstrates that the 

proposed multi-format performance use is deliverable within the re-designed 
spaces, including its servicing and back of house arrangements, and is viable 
and sustainable within the Brighton entertainment market. If adequate 
information and amendments as described are provided, we think that we might 
be able to support the proposed re-use of this important historic building. 

 
13th October 2022: Seek Amendments/Seek Further Information/Objection 

95



OFFRPTLBC 

6.19. This scheme has the potential to retain and restore important aspects of the 
building’s significance, which counts in its favour, although other aspects of the 
scheme would result in harm to significance and we have some overarching 
questions about its overall deliverability. 

 
6.20. We think that we could support the proposed scheme if persuaded that the harm 

had been minimised and that heritage benefits capable of outweighing the harm 
could be legally secured. However, to be confident of all these matters, we would 
need further information that demonstrates that the proposed multi-format 
performance use, including its servicing, is viable and sustainable and would 
work within the re-designed spaces. In addition, we would need to be persuaded 
that an historically accurate restoration of the fibrous plasterwork in the 
auditorium can be achieved, while minimising loss of historic fabric. We also 
consider that amendments to the design and height of the apart-hotel 
development are required in order to reduce harm to the conservation area. We 
therefore advise you to seek this further information and amendments before the 
application is determined. 

 
6.21. Theatres Trust: 10th January 2024: Objection 

Additional information provides some reassurance on particular aspects of the 
application such as the ability to accept large vehicles and that operational 
matters are being considered to some degree, overall it does not fundamentally 
address the primary objections and concerns that we have raised previously. 
Therefore our existing recommendations and position remains unchanged. 

 
21st April 2023: Objection 

6.22. Welcome that revisions have been made to the proposed plans which go some 
way towards addressing previous concerns and objections. In terms of internal 
layout and function to back of house areas and within the fly tower there is some 
improvement. In particular, the removal of serviced offices from the fly tower has 
given much needed additional space and facilities over to the event/performance 
function, including the addition of an indicative rehearsal space. Operationally 
there is now less complication and scope for potential conflict around the 
Elephant Yard which improves function and safety, partly through having one 
less use (the serviced offices) and partly through the apparent removal of 
external seating for the Members Bar. There is now a slightly more 
straightforward access route to the stage for get-ins (delivery and removal of 
equipment, props and sets for shows). Externally, the massing of the serviced 
apartments to the rear yard has been reduced and we consider this now sits 
more comfortably with the existing building so has reduced impact on its setting. 

 
6.23. Nonetheless, we still have significant concerns regarding the operability and 

viability of the scheme as a venue for live music, comedy, cabaret, conferencing 
and other such functions and events. This is based on our own expert advice 
informed through engagement and consultation with established venues and 
operators offering similar provision at a similar scale and capacity. These 
matters will need to be addressed if the flexible, multi-purpose use for 
Hippodrome is to be a success and the loss and harm to heritage of such a 
significant asset is to be justified. 

 

96



OFFRPTLBC 

7th October 2022: Objection 
6.24. Priority is to see a viable, sustainable and long-term future for the Hippodrome 

as a live performance venue. At this stage consider there to be a number of flaws 
with the design and proposed operation of this venue which prevent that, 
requiring significant amendment. There is also a general lack of evidence and 
detail within the submission that would ordinarily be required of any proposal to 
support the granting of planning permission or listed building consent and to 
justify heritage loss and harm (both substantial and less than substantial) as well 
as conflict with policy and departure from optimum viable use. 

 
6.25. Whilst no objection to the overall principle of change of use (again subject to 

further evidence), until the revisions and further information come forward, 
position will be to object to the granting of planning permission and listed building 
consent. 

 
6.26.  Victoria Society: Objection 

 Concerns that information provided within the HIA (Heritage Impact 
Assessment) is not sufficient. 

 Concerns that harms are caused to the significance of the Listed Building 
and Conservation Area and would set a dangerous precedent due to the 
scale of Apart Hotel. 

 Further historic restoration detailing should be achieved 
 
 
7. MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS  
 
7.1. In accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004, this decision has been taken having regard to the policies and proposals 
in the National Planning Policy Framework, the Development Plan, and all other 
material planning considerations identified in the "Considerations and 
Assessment" section of the report  

  
7.2. The development plan is:  

 Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One (adopted March 2016);  

 Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two (adopted October 2022);  

 East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Plan 
(adopted February 2013);  

 East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Sites 
Plan (adopted February 2017);  

 Shoreham Harbour JAAP (adopted October 2019).  
 
 
8. POLICIES  
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
  
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One  
SS1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
CP15 Heritage  

  

97



OFFRPTLBC 

Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two  
DM26 Conservation Areas  
DM27 Listed Buildings  

  
Supplementary Planning Guidance:  
SPGBH11 Listed Building Interiors  

  
Supplementary Planning Documents:  
SPD09 Architectural Features  

  
 
9. CONSIDERATIONS & ASSESSMENT  
 
9.1. The main considerations in the determination of this application relate to the 

impact upon the significance of the Grade II* Listed Buildings, and impacts upon 
the Conservation Area and other nearby listed buildings. 

 
9.2. In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which 

affects a listed building or its setting, the Council has a statutory duty to have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. Moreover, 
when considering whether to grant planning permission for development in a 
conservation area the Council has a statutory duty to pay special attention to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of the 
area. 

  
9.3. Case law has held that the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting 

or any features of special architectural or historic interest it possesses, and the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a 
conservation area should be given “considerable importance and weight”. 

 
Significance of the Hippodrome (History of the site and historic significance) 

9.4. Numbers 52-58 Middle Street is the Hippodrome, which with the associated 
building at number 51 known as Hippodrome House, is a Grade II* Listed 
Building and occupies a substantial site in the heart of the Old Town 
conservation area of the city.  
 

9.5. The Hippodrome has both special architectural and historic interest and the 
surviving Matcham auditorium interior is of greatest note.  
 

9.6. The site has a long history as an entertainment venue, having been built 
originally to serve Brighton’s burgeoning tourist market during the rapid 
expansion of the city in the late 19th century.  
 

9.7. The building’s vast circular auditorium is largely concealed within the tight urban 
grain of the Old Town’s lanes and twittens behind an unassuming frontage on 
Middle Street. The various phases of the building’s history remain legible in a 
series of external and internal features including the equestrian ramp associated 
with the circus use in the Middle Street yard. The plain brick fly tower is a later 

98



OFFRPTLBC 

addition to the building which along with the yard and car park to the east 
presents an uncharacteristically utilitarian outlook when seen from Ship Street. 
 

9.8. The building has been reinvented a number of times. Originally built as an indoor 
ice rink by Lewis Kerslake in 1896/97 the building was converted to a circus four 
years later by renowned theatre architect Frank Matcham. After a year the 
eminent theatre architect, Bertie Crewe, altered it again to create a variety 
theatre for theatre magnate Tom Barrasford by removing the circus ring, creating 
an orchestra pit with stage, adding a pair of boxes and re-seating the ground 
floor. 
 

9.9. Major alterations were then carried out in 1915/16 by another theatre architect 
J. Emblin Walker. Further alterations followed in the 1930s, 1940s and 1950s 
and the Hippodrome was used as a variety entertainment venue playing host to 
many of the most famous performers of the 20th Century until 1964. Following a 
brief conversion of the building to a film and TV studio in 1966, the building 
reopened as a bingo hall in 1969.  

 
9.10. The building was occupied by Mecca Bingo from 1969 until it closed and fell into 

disuse in 2006. In the 18 years since, the building has been in a substantial and 
ongoing state of deterioration with sufficient water ingress, dry rot and general 
decay and disrepair occurring for the building to be longstanding on Historic 
England's and the Theatres Trusts registers of "buildings at risk".  

 
9.11. Notwithstanding the overall state of disrepair, the building retains a great deal of 

interior detailing with much of the plaster work throughout the Hippodrome 
auditorium and Hippodrome house surviving. The building retains a number of 
unusual fixtures and fittings and much of the foyer, with mahogany panelling and 
it’s decorative ceiling, remains in good condition.  

 
9.12. It is from Matcham’s designs that the main aesthetic interest of the Hippodrome 

as we know it today internally and externally is derived. The historic significance 
of the building is largely attributed to the interiors flamboyant rococo plasterwork 
created by Matcham, surviving decorative detailing and to the large auditorium 
itself as a single open volume capable of maintaining a performance function in 
view of the buildings rich and varied performance history.  
 

9.13. The application site also includes the adjoining ‘Hippodrome House’, originally 
two mid-nineteenth century dwellings, in which Tom Barrasford lived until his 
death in 1910. The house is in an altered condition and includes within it a 
miscellany of colourful theatre set pieces likely dating from its 1930s and later 
use as a lounge bar. The basement, however, is relatively unaltered and retains 
a fine, large kitchen range, original storage shelving and extensive brick vaults, 
all reflecting the status of the original house and its owner. 

  
Principle of the Development:  
Policy background 

9.14. Of key relevance to this application are paragraphs 201, 203, 205, 206, 207, 208 
and 211 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). In particular: 

99



OFFRPTLBC 

Paragraph 203: In determining applications, local planning authorities should 
take account of:  
a)  the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage 

assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  
b)  the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 

sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and  
c)  the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 

character and distinctiveness.  
Paragraph 205: When considering the impact of a proposed development on 
the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to 
the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.  
Paragraph 206: Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 
heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its 
setting), should require clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to or 
loss of:  
a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, should be 

exceptional; 
b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, 

protected wreck sites, registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed 
buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and gardens, and World Heritage 
Sites, should be wholly exceptional. 

Paragraph 208: Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial 
harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, 
securing its optimum viable use. 

 
9.15. Public benefits are defined in the Planning Practice Guidance as ‘anything that 

delivers economic, social or environmental objectives’, and which are ‘of a 
nature or scale to benefit the public at large and not just be a private benefit’.  
 

9.16. The guidance also states; “It is important that any use is viable, not just for the 
owner, but also for the future conservation of the asset: a series of failed 
ventures could result in a number of unnecessary harmful changes being made 
to the asset. 
If there is only one viable use, that use is the optimum viable use. If there is a 
range of alternative economically viable uses, the optimum viable use is the one 
likely to cause the least harm to the significance of the asset, not just through 
necessary initial changes, but also as a result of subsequent wear and tear and 
likely future changes. The optimum viable use may not necessarily be the most 
economically viable one. Nor need it be the original use. However, if from a 
conservation point of view there is no real difference between alternative 
economically viable uses, then the choice of use is a decision for the owner, 
subject of course to obtaining any necessary consent. 

 
9.17. The application proposes the re-use of the Hippodrome as a flexible 

performance and events space, a new retail unit fronting Ship Street, a new 
members club and Apart Hotel. In addition to the above policy framework and 
guidance, local policies SA2, CP4, CP5, CP6, CP13 and CP15 of the Brighton 

100



OFFRPTLBC 

and Hove City Plan Part One as well as DM18, DM26 and DM27 of the Brighton 
and Hove City Plan Part Two are also relevant to establishing the acceptability 
of the principal of the proposals.  

 
9.18. Policy CP15 (Heritage) promotes the conservation, preservation and 

enhancement of the city’s historic environment and prioritises positive action for 
heritage assets at risk through neglect, decay and vacancy. 

 
9.19. Policy DM26 (Conservation Areas) requires new development to preserve or 

enhance the distinctive character and appearance of the area. New 
development within a conservation area should be of the highest design quality 
and should take the opportunity to enhance the special interest of the area 
wherever possible, having regard to any adopted management plan. 

 
9.20. Policy DM27 (Listed Buildings) requires listed buildings to be retained in viable 

use and good repair. Proposals involving the alteration, extension, or change of 
use of a listed building will be permitted where they would not harm the special 
architectural or historic interest of the building, where vacancy is an on-going 
concern, consent will be granted for a new viable use that is consistent with the 
conservation of the building’s special interest, provided that this would not 
unacceptably conflict with other policies or material considerations. In applying 
other policies the council will have special regard to the benefits of bringing the 
listed building back into use. 

 
9.21. Both DM26 and DM27 require that where either substantial harm or less than 

substantial harm is identified, the council will expect the applicant to fully meet 
the requirements set out in the NPPF, having regard to the significance of the 
heritage assets affected. 

 
The renovation and re-use of the Hippodrome 

9.22. The acceptability of the principal of the proposed re-use of the Hippodrome as a 
flexible events and performance space also requires an assessment against 
policies DM26 and DM27, the NPPF and PPG guidance relating to the impact of 
development proposals upon Heritage assets and putting them to viable uses 
consistent with their conservation (paragraph 203 of the NPPF). This is explored 
further below. 

 
Optimal Viable Use 

9.23. National and local policy require new uses and development to be viable and 
consistent with the conservation of a building’s special interest. Where harm is 
identified this needs to be weighed against the public benefits of a proposal 
including, where appropriate, securing the optimal viable use. 

 
9.24. The application includes the submission of the “Colliers Optimal Viable Use” 

report (OVU) which analyses and assesses potential uses of the Hippodrome 
and whether these would represent the optimal viable use of the site. The report 
includes a report dated 2022 with an addendum from December 2023. The 
report also draws much from an earlier report and assessment conducted by 
Colliers in 2015 on behalf of the Theatres Trust and a range of other 
stakeholders. A copy of this report was also submitted with the application.  

101



OFFRPTLBC 

 
9.25. The reports include and references the feasibility study undertaken in 2015 

examining the potential for three proposed uses of the Hippodrome;  

 the use as a lyric theatre,  

 the use as a flat floor flexible performance space,  

 and non-events use.  
 
9.26. The OVU report concludes that use of the auditorium as a flexible multiple- 

purpose event venue would be optimal. The strategy underlying what is 
described as the “Theatre of Varieties” concept is outlined to: 

 Make the building as flexible as possible, able to stage performances of 
many types in layouts of many types. 

 Make it possible for the building to operate as a venue that has people using 
it on a continuous basis by day and evening rather than one which only 
opens for performances and events. 

 Make it easy and attractive for people to spend money on food and drink, 
which would be a main source of entertainment and of revenue. 

 
9.27. In regard to financial viability, the report does not include specific financial 

modelling for the scheme proposed however financial modelling was undertaken 
for the 2015 study. The report concludes that the modelling indicated such a use 
as that proposed in this application, could make a reasonable operating profit 
but that this was unlikely to be enough to deliver the project on a purely 
commercial basis and that cross-subsidy would be required from grant and/or 
development of the rest of the site. The report notes that development costs are 
likely to have significantly increased since the original financial assessments 
were undertaken and that the funding and grant environment is even more 
challenging now.  

 
9.28. The Colliers OVU report accompanying the application provides an assurance 

that the use of the building as proposed would have the potential to create a 
niche in the Brighton market and that such a use could be viable and attractive 
to operators. The application has not been submitted with specific financial 
modelling for the proposed use or proposed re-development and is not therefore 
considered to be true “enabling development”. However, the development would 
provide a cross subsidy of the renovation and restoration of the Hippodrome 
auditorium through the Apart Hotel development proposed in the rear car park 
and the re-development of Hippodrome House. The uses proposed for these 
areas of the site are considered to be compatible with the use of the auditorium 
as a flexible performance and events space and are not considered likely to 
disrupt or be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Hippodrome 
as an events venue subject to sufficient internal sound proofing. The report 
concludes that the “Theatre of Varieties” concept is the Optimum Viable Use for 
the site. 

 
9.29. In line with the PPG, further matters require consideration in regard to the overall 

viability of the proposed use and further assessment is required in order to 
secure against future harmful outcomes. Such matters in this instance relate to 
whether the building itself can facilitate the use proposed in regard to its 
structural ability to support modern day live performance equipment, whether 

102



OFFRPTLBC 

there is suitable provision for back of house and support space, and whether the 
development can be suitably serviced as necessary as well as the balancing of 
identified heritage harms. Whilst further consideration to some of these specifics 
is given in other areas of this report, these factors remain critical elements in 
securing the overall operational viability and sustainability of the proposal. 

 
9.30. The application originally proposed a suite of office accommodation within the 

Hippodrome Fly tower. Whilst the provision of office accommodation was 
supported in principle and considered to be policy compliant this element of the 
proposal was removed from the scheme during the consideration of the 
application. This was due to concerns regarding potential conflicts arising 
between the proposed uses. Furthermore, to bring forward the office 
accommodation, this required further interventions and alterations into the fly 
tower, which were considered to be harmful to the building which was not 
considered acceptable and could not be justified in the public benefit test.  

 
9.31. The office space was replaced in the application by additional performance 

rehearsal space. This was considered to be a positive alteration to the scheme 
for two reasons; firstly the additional performance and rehearsal spaces 
contributes to the cultural offering of the scheme in providing a space in the heart 
of a performance venue for performance development but also that such a use 
required less physical intervention into the fly tower. With this in mind should a 
future use of the fly tower in association with the stage below be proposed - the 
re-use and reversibility of these proposed works is considered more likely. This 
additionally contributes to ensuring that the harm to the heritage asset is 
minimised. 

 
9.32. During the course of the application, information was requested to demonstrate 

that the building was structurally capable to host performances/events and the 
necessary technical equipment. Whilst internal alterations are not normally 
something a planning application would consider in detail (this would usually 
apply to listed building consent in such cases), given the optimal viability 
assessment required with this application, it is important to consider whether the 
building can accommodate and support the equipment necessary and facilities 
without resulting in harm to the building. A rigging design by Solotech was 
submitted as part of the application in December 2023. The design indicates 
attachment points for a hung audio system and lighting system and approximate 
loadings. Solotech is a global technical support company and there is no reason 
to dispute that the design would appear to be a workable one providing sufficient 
audio and lighting system support for a variety of modern entertainment uses. 
The Design and Access Statement submitted with the application identifies that 
the proposal would provide a lighting and audio system that would remain in-situ 
which would involve both less disruption to get in and get out of large amounts 
of audio/visual equipment and less need for some larger vehicles to support 
events.  

 
9.33. An addendum to the Colliers OVU report was provided (dated December 2023) 

and this assesses the layout and functionality of the back of house space and 
considers that the Hippodrome offers a significant, indeed large amount of back 
of house space sufficient to support the types of entertainment and events 

103



OFFRPTLBC 

proposed. The report provides a comparison of the presented back of house 
space at the Brighton Hippodrome with two comparable London venues. The 
conclusion within the report is that the Hippodrome would provide back of house 
space of approximately 432m2 which is substantially more than the compared 
venues being The Troxy (Limehouse, London) with an audience capacity of 
3100 and c.61m2 of back of house space and Lafayette (Kings Cross) with an 
audience capacity of 600 and a back of house space of c.54m2. Given that the 
Hippodrome would have a potential back of house area at 432m2 officers are 
satisfied that such a provision could only be likely positive for the viability of the 
venue. 

 
9.34. The supporting information submitted during the course of the application has 

demonstrated that the building is capable of structurally supporting the flying of 
modern audio and visual equipment and has been demonstrated to have a 
layout which would both provide sufficient back of house space as well as 
minimal intervention into the form of the fly tower which are considered to be 
longer term positive aspects of the proposal. The application has also sufficiently 
demonstrated that, in principle, servicing by larger vehicles could be achieved. 

 
Use of the building as a Lyric Theatre (alternative Optimum Viable Use) 

9.35. It is noted that The Theatres Trust maintain an objection to the proposal and do 
not agree that the proposed scheme would represent the optimum viable use for 
the building. A number of other consultees and representations have put forward 
a similar viewpoint that the use as a “lyric theatre/large scale theatre” would 
represent the Optimum Viable Use of the site and that such a use would be 
realistic and viable. 

 
9.36. A lyric theatre is a theatre that can accommodate touring productions of musicals 

and other music-orientated genres like dance and opera. The productions that a 
theatre like this caters for require, in many cases a large winged stage behind a 
proscenium arch. They also require a fly tower so that scenery can be raised 
and lowered. The Theatre Royal (New Road, Brighton) is an example of this, 
however the Theatre Royal is the smallest theatre owned by the Ambassador 
Group in the UK and due to its overall size and smaller audience capacity it is 
unable to accommodate many “West End” touring productions or larger scale 
productions. The Brighton Dome is not a lyric theatre and whilst it shares 
similarities with the Hippodrome in regard to its round auditorium the Brighton 
Dome lacks the presence of a fly tower, stage and proscenium arch. 

 
9.37. It is considered that Brighton does not therefore have a theatre capable of 

accommodating large scale theatrical productions and therefore such a 
proposed re-use of the Hippodrome as a lyric theatre would likely fill a gap within 
the theatre provision of the city given that the existing building retains a 
proscenium arch, winged stage and fly tower. 

 
9.38. The Colliers OVU reports also assess the viability of the lyric theatre proposal 

and concludes a number of advantages and disadvantages. “There is a 
reasonable prospect of a theatre of the Hippodrome’s size making an operating 
profit on an ongoing basis, provided it does not have to pay significant finance 
costs.” 

104



OFFRPTLBC 

 
9.39. Notwithstanding this, the Colliers Report also notes a number of disadvantages 

of a lyric theatre concept. One disadvantage is that the Hippodrome was not 
originally designed as a lyric theatre, rather one “in the round” and therefore, in 
the context of a traditional stage based performance, the audience capacity is 
affected by sightlines not directed to the stage. The report concludes that the 
lower expected capacity the Hippodrome could accommodate (1350) for a stage 
directed performance would remain viable (Theatre Royal has a capacity of 932) 
but a greater capacity would enable more confidence in the viability. The shape 
of the auditorium being, in the round, would also not facilitate retractable seating 
limiting the flexibility of the venue to accommodate other events and 
performances which would represent another disadvantage. 

 
9.40. A further disadvantage of the large scale lyric/theatre use is the servicing, 

delivery and requirements for large vehicles that deliver sets and equipment 
facilitating large productions. Historically the Hippodrome was serviced from the 
northern entrance from Middle Street (Elephant Yard). The rear yard of the 
Hippodrome was granted consent for use as a car park in 1956.  

 
9.41. The preferred delivery vehicles supporting large productions is now commonly 

a 16.5m articulated lorry. When the Hippodrome was last in use for substantial 
performances the preferred vehicles were the rigid Luton vans which are 
significantly smaller (approx. 7m). Whilst the rear yard (Ship Street) of the 
Hippodrome did not historically provide servicing to the venue it does however 
present as a space which could, in theory, facilitate these larger vehicles. The 
rear yard as existing does provide sufficient space to house and park a large 
lorry or lorries however there is an inherent difficulty in such vehicles accessing 
this area from Ship Street.  

 
9.42. 16.5m artic lorries would be required to reverse into the yard from Ship Street, 

however, it has been stated within the OVU report that this would only be 
possible by utilising land adjacent to the Hippodrome rear yard and which is not 
in the ownership of the applicants. In addition, it has also been demonstrated 
that such manoeuvres would also have a high likelihood of causing harm and 
damage to buildings on Ship Street and present profound difficulties. Within the 
2015 OVU report it is concluded that the preference for using the rear yard in 
this way would be by reversing the traffic flow and one-way system of Middle 
Street and Ship Street. A further consideration is that the regular use of such 
vehicles may stymie future improvements to the public realm whilst the regular 
presence of such large vehicles is also likely to be less than desirable in this 
tight-nit area of the city.  

 
9.43. Utilising the rear car park for servicing and delivery of a theatre with large trucks 

would inevitably require either the retention of an open yard or a development 
incorporating an under-croft delivery bay. Both cases would result in a 
development which would not provide an active street frontage to Ship Street or 
contribute positively to the Conservation Area. An active and attractive street 
frontage is considered an important benefit and contributes to ensuring the 
enhancement of the heritage assets. Moreover, use of the area would present 

105



OFFRPTLBC 

significant challenges for access by large vehicles. This is recognised and given 
consideration in the planning balance of the application. 

 
9.44. It should, however, be clearly recognised that the current application proposal 

includes development across the rear yard/car park and that in doing so the site 
would not likely facilitate a large scale theatre use in the future. There are 
therefore clear advantages and disadvantages of the proposals presented within 
this application as well as clear advantages and disadvantages for the proposal 
of a large scale lyric theatre to be considered. 

 
Optimal Viable Use Conclusion: 

9.45. With reference back to the PPG guidance; “If there is a range of alternative 
economically viable uses, the optimum viable use is the one likely to cause the 
least harm to the significance of the asset, not just through necessary initial 
changes, but also as a result of subsequent wear and tear and likely future 
changes. The optimum viable use may not necessarily be the most economically 
viable one. Nor need it be the original use. However, if from a conservation point 
of view there is no real difference between alternative economically viable uses, 
then the choice of use is a decision for the owner, subject of course to obtaining 
any necessary consent.” 

 
9.46. Historic England have advised the Council in their consultation response; “It will 

be for the Council to decide whether this scheme is deliverable and viable in the 
Brighton entertainment market and would therefore secure a long-term 
sustainable use for this important heritage asset.”  

 
9.47. The Hippodrome has been vacant for 16 years and is in very poor condition, 

appearing on the Historic England’s at risk register and the Theatres Trust 
register of Theatres at Risk. There is particular concern for the long term future 
of the elaborate Matcham-designed plasterwork to the auditorium. The nature of 
the building and the significance of its interior (particularly the auditorium and 
foyer) means that options for its future viable use are comparatively limited. 
Given the vulnerability of the building, a proposal that seeks to retain the 
auditorium as a single space and bring it back into use a public venue – together 
with appropriate development of the unsightly car park area - must in principle 
be very much welcomed and given considerable weight as benefits. 

 
9.48. The submitted OVU report by Colliers as referenced above states that it remains 

the case that, as concluded in their 2015 report, restoration of the site for a 
flexible multiple-purpose event venue would be the optimal viable use. It goes 
on to say that proposals in these applications have close alignment with this.  

 
9.49. In consideration of all the above, the OVU reports and submitted evidence there 

is sufficient information and justification to demonstrate that the proposed use of 
the site for a flexible performance space can be considered to be the Optimal 
Viable Use and that this is a significant public benefit. Whilst it is disappointing 
that a fuller review of the 2015 report (in particular the financial considerations 
and precise proposal presented here) was not commissioned as part of this 
application, it is considered that in principle this form of flexible use of the space 

106



OFFRPTLBC 

is the most likely to realistically achieve the preservation and restoration of the 
listed building and avoid continued vacancy and deterioration.  

 
9.50. Whilst alternative proposals and aspirations for the use of the Hippodrome are 

acknowledged, the development proposed would not require the contribution of 
public money, grants or funding and is considered to propose a use which aligns 
with the historic significance of the site through the provision of a flexible 
performance/events space in reflection of the buildings earlier origins and use. 
The proposal would also facilitate the re-use of the auditorium as a single volume 
and the proposals would allow public use and appreciation of the building which 
is also considered a significant benefit and, again, concurrent with the historic 
significance of the building. The proposals would not require the use of the large 
delivery vehicles associated with the lyric theatre/large scale theatre use and 
should a singular proposed entertainment/event use fail, the auditorium would 
remain as a single volume with the flexibility of the proposal allowing for a range 
of other uses (banquets, event cinema, conferencing) which assist in the future 
sustainability and viability of the use proposed.  

 
9.51. In conclusion, whilst it is recognised that whilst there is no operator on board and 

the proposals, as a result, are somewhat speculative with regards to the precise 
operation, officers consider that the application and supporting information 
contained in the two Colliers OVU reports demonstrate that the proposed use as 
a flexible performance and events space can be considered to be the optimal 
viable use of the site.  

 
9.52. The OVU report at concludes at page 15 “Our judgement is that a scheme akin 

to that proposed by the owners is much more viable than use as a lyric theatre. 
This, in summary, is because: 

 It would cost much less. 

 It enables a capital contribution from development to the rear towards the 
cost of restoring the heritage asset. 

 It is realistic to achieve funding for it. 

 It does not have involve profound difficulties, especially need for access by 
pantechnicons. 

 
9.53. The OVU report concludes that the proposed use would be largely consistent 

with the preservation of the heritage asset and is deliverable, sustainable and 
viable within the Brighton market. This is considered to be a significant public 
benefit in accordance with the NPPF and the principles of relevant local 
development plan policies DM26 and DM27. 

 
Design, appearance and Heritage Impacts: 

9.54. The development is sited within the Old Town Conservation Area of the city. 
There are a significant number of listed buildings within close proximity to the 
site, in Boyces Street, Middle Street, Ship Street and Ship Street Gardens. 
These are generally small-scale buildings (residential and/or commercial) dating 
from the late 18th and early 19th centuries, whose scale and grain contrast with 
that of the Hippodrome. Slightly further to the south is the grade II* listed Middle 
Street Synagogue.  

 

107



OFFRPTLBC 

9.55. The Old Town Conservation Area Management Plan (OTCAMP) includes the 
following paragraph (7.72) in respect of the Hippodrome site: 
“The council will expect any acceptable scheme for the site to fully restore the 
Hippodrome for a use that retains the auditorium as a single open volume 
capable of maintaining a performance function, together with the conservation 
of the other front and back of house spaces (including the foyer and Hippodrome 
House) that contribute greatly to its significance and which enable its appropriate 
reuse. The adjoining land offers the opportunity for new development that would 
partially fill the gaps on Middle Street and Ship Street and enhance those street 
scenes through development, for a mix of uses, of sympathetic scale and 
massing. Such development must not, however, prejudice the appropriate reuse 
and future servicing of the Hippodrome itself. The centre of the site adjacent to 
the fly tower may potentially accommodate greater height than the street 
frontages but must be mindful of longer views. The view eastwards from Boyce’s 
Street is of particular importance as Hippodrome House terminates this view in 
an attractive manner. The building frontage to Middle Street should be carefully 
restored in accordance with the available historic drawings”. 

 
9.56. The OTCAMP also identifies Middle Street (together with Boyce’s Street and 

South Street) as a priority for future improvement and enhancement in the 
conservation area, noting the current blight arising from a number of vacant 
buildings, most notably the Hippodrome site. The proposed mix of uses across 
the site, the restorative works proposed and the infilling of the Ship Street 
frontage are similarly beneficial to the character and appearance of the 
conservation area and are in line with the aspirations of the OTCAMP. 

 
9.57. Policies DM26, DM27 and CP15 seek to preserve and enhance existing heritage 

assets and seek to ensure new development responds and contributes positively 
to the identified character and appearance of the area. Policy CP12 Urban 
Design considers that development should, amongst other elements, raise the 
standard of architecture and design in the city, conserve or enhance the city’s 
built heritage and it’s settings and protect or enhance strategic views. Paragraph 
203 of the NPPF, in summary, states that heritage assets should be sustained, 
enhanced, put to viable uses consistent with their conservation and that new 
development should make a positive contribution to local character.  

  
The Hippodrome 

9.58. The ground floor of the front elevation (Middle Street) would be largely restored 
and retained. New windows are proposed either side of the central entrance, the 
doors would be retained and restored where possible and the entrances with 
decorative moulding flanking the ground floor would be restored. The modern 
faux traditional entrance canopy which stretches along the front of the venue is 
proposed to be replaced as part of the restoration. This replacement of the 
canopy with one more reflective of the original Matcham canopy is a potentially 
important heritage benefit of the proposals. Any replacement should be 
sufficiently detailed and researched with a view to balancing a design which 
reflects the original and adapts to the changes that have occurred to the frontage 
since the original canopy was in place. Details are proposed to be secured by 
condition and given the importance of this replacement in the overall benefits of 

108



OFFRPTLBC 

the scheme it should be ensured that the replacement is secured as part of this 
consent and implemented before any use of the site. 

 
9.59. Above ground floor the openings either side of the “Hippodrome” lettering and 

an opening at the southern end frontage would be infilled. Replacement windows 
and doors are proposed to the two entrance towers and the installation of two 
juliette balconies are also proposed. The detailing proposed to the balconies is 
not considered appropriate as submitted, but notwithstanding this, further 
acceptable detail is proposed to be secured by condition for agreement at a later 
date. 

 
9.60. At roof level an acoustic louvre is proposed spanning the auditorium frontage 

and PV panels are proposed for installation on the roofs southern side. 
 
9.61. The north facing elevation to the Hippodrome at the rear adjoining Hippodrome 

House would be rebuilt at three storeys with a brick finish with coping detail, new 
windows at doors with glass balustrade at first and second floor with new doors 
at ground level providing access to the backstage load-in and auditorium access 
adjacent. The existing rear access stairs and what survives of the existing 
elephant ramp/animal shelter would be removed. 

 
9.62. The enlivening of the Middle Street elevation with various entrances and reviving 

of the ground floor interest would be a considerable benefit of the proposals, 
particularly in terms of enhancing the character and appearance of the Old Town 
conservation area and meeting the aspirations of the OTCAMP. These 
alterations are not considered to be harmful to the setting of other nearby listed 
buildings and subject to appropriate details being secured for the new windows, 
doors, juliette balconies, acoustic louvres, PV panel placement, balustrading and 
replacement canopy are in accordance with policy CP15 of the Brighton and 
Hove City Plan Part One and policies DM26 and DM27 of the Brighton and Hove 
City Plan Part Two. 

  
The Hippodrome Interior 

9.63. Internally the hippodrome auditorium is proposed to be largely restored with 
restoration of the decorative plasterwork, restoration of the boxes flanking the 
stage, new internal bars, new stage, creation of the foyer bar and alterations and 
restoration of the ground floor booths. New internal partitions, WC areas, stairs 
and handrails between the auditorium floor levels are also proposed. 

 
9.64. The existing flat level floor is to be retained on entry but there would then be a 

significant drop down in level and it is unclear how this would impact on the 
various historic floor levels and structures that exist beneath the current flat floor, 
down to the original ice rink level, including the raked floor of the theatre. It is 
assumed though, based upon the drawings, that there would be some loss of 
historic layers and fabric. A recording condition and condition requiring structural 
details of the new alterations and proposed flooring is recommended to address 
this. 

 
9.65. At first floor circle level the existing seating is proposed to be removed. A 

condition to secure details of any replacement or restoration and salvage of the 

109



OFFRPTLBC 

removed seating is proposed to ensure re-use or appropriate replacement 
seating is secured prior to any removal of the existing.  
 

9.66. Information on the methodology and approach to the repair and restoration of 
the auditorium ceiling is submitted within the application and is welcome and 
broadly sufficient but the recording of the works that have been undertaken 
needs to be more comprehensive. The record of works undertaken by the 
applicant to date – and how it compares to the methodology remains required 
as noted in consultation responses from Historic England and the Heritage 
Team. Further recording and information to address this is proposed to be 
required by condition. Similarly, there is no specific repair and restoration 
schedule and specification of the auditorium plasterwork, only a general, generic 
repair approach. There is also a need for a historically-informed approach to the 
internal colour scheme. The submitted specialist paint research report on the 
auditorium is acceptable and informative, but no detail has been provided to 
show how this report has informed any proposed colour scheme. The proposed 
colour scheme should also include the ceiling to the foyer and this is 
recommended as part of the suite of conditions. 

 
9.67. A schedule of the retention of historic features has been provided and is 

considered broadly acceptable although there is a general lack of detail on how 
the existing internal historic features, fixtures and finishes (including joinery and 
plasterwork) would be retained and restored and how this is to be approached 
within the overall scheme, as well as the design approach to new interventions, 
and how this relates to the layers of historic change in the interior. Further details 
including sections and full detail are required by condition and should be secured 
prior to any internal removal taking place. 

 
9.68. The grand master control lighting panel in the northern part of the stage area is 

of significant historic interest and should be retained on site, whilst the 
information in the application confirms that this is to be retained it is suggested 
that it would be relocated in order that it can be more publicly accessible and 
appreciated. The area in which it is currently situated would also undergo 
significant re-development as part of the proposal and therefore a condition is 
recommended to ensure that this is retained and protected in situ until such time 
as a suitable location for its relocation is identified and agreed. 

 
9.69. As referred to later in this report the submitted Noise Survey and Assessment 

concludes that “the assessment results show that in order for in-audibility to be 
achieved, it would be necessary for significant mitigation measures to the current 
state of the building to be employed using substantial upgrades to the building 
envelope (which is currently under repair) and by clever and sensible internal 
design of the main auditorium with enclosed buffer zones and sound lobbies”. 
Such measures are likely to necessitate the creation of sound wall through the 
interior of the Hippodrome particularly at circle level. Given that this is likely to 
have an impact on the visual and special qualities of the interior details are 
therefore required by condition prior to further internal works being undertaken. 

 
9.70. The intention to restore the auditorium as a single space and to restore and 

convert the entrance foyer and boxes to a bar area has the potential to be a 

110



OFFRPTLBC 

great benefit, but for these benefits to be properly realised demonstration of a 
clearer ‘informed conservation’ approach is needed and such realisation can be 
secured through conditions. It is potentially likely that once an operator is 
appointed/on board further alterations may be required and proposed it is 
therefore essential that such conditions are worded, phased and secured 
appropriately such that the benefits of the scheme are realised. 

 
9.71. Subject to a comprehensive suite of conditions to secure appropriate details of 

proposed internal fixtures, fittings, doors and installations, methodologies of 
proposed restorative work, retention of historic features and overall interior 
appearance, the internal works can be considered likely to result in a 
sympathetic and appropriate restoration of this historic space in accordance with 
the NPPF and policy DM27 of the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part Two.  

  
Hippodrome House 

9.72. The northern part of the Middle Street frontage is Hippodrome House and this 
property, whilst physically attached to the Hippodrome, is made up of two 
surviving 19th Century dwellings. The southern most of these would be almost 
entirely rebuilt and replaced. An entirely new frontage is proposed with a change 
in internal floor levels requiring new doors and windows at ground floor providing 
the Apart Hotel entrance. New windows and cornice detail at first floor level are 
proposed alongside a new roof-with revised pitch and two front facing dormer 
windows.  

 
9.73. The most northern of the two houses would be largely retained and restored at 

the street frontages with new windows and a replacement street entrance. The 
opened up entrance on Middle Street, which originally had a porch, would benefit 
from a surround that draws inspiration from that porch, as it is somewhat crudely 
finished in its current form. This is proposed to be secured by condition. The two 
storey projection on the north facing elevation would be renovated with a new 
window opening at first floor and ground floor louvre doors that facilitate access 
to a proposed refuse store.  

 
9.74. Replacement windows are proposed along the rest of the northern elevation 

along with four new openings at first floor.  
 
9.75. The area at the rear of Hippodrome House would see substantial re-

development with the removal of a number of existing extensions and a complete 
remodelling of the rear section of the two buildings with an infilling at first and 
second floor extending approximately 0.6m at the rear with its eastern elevation 
rationalised with the removal of a number of rear extensions which are all now 
in poor repair and poor condition. The remodelled section would have two 
different brick finishes with a flat roof to the infill section to the rear of the roof 
ridges. This would provide flat roof space for plant which would be largely 
concealed behind a parapet. A combination of aluminium and timber doors and 
windows are proposed to the eastern elevation with doors at ground level 
providing an external access to the ground floor of the Apart Hotel and proposed 
members club. Externally the new approach to Hippodrome House, with the new 
infill to the L-shape footprint set back from the existing rear corner, is considered 
an appropriate approach although the set back is noted as modest.  

111



OFFRPTLBC 

 
9.76. The basement is the most intact part of Hippodrome House and of considerable 

interest. It has been clarified that the original wine cellar vaults in the basement 
of Hippodrome House would be retained. The schedule of features to be retained 
includes the kitchen range which is welcome and positive. It is also welcome that 
the adjacent modern partition would be removed to give the kitchen range back 
something of its historic context. It remains unclear from the information 
submitted whether the unused vaults are to be infilled or simply closed off. The 
latter would be expected (i.e. ‘mothballing’ them) however, details of this or any 
scheme for potential use of this area can be secured by condition. 

 
9.77. Hippodrome House also contains the “Palm Court” interiors which are of great 

interest however it is accepted that much of the Palm Court interiors cannot be 
retained, particularly given their flimsy ‘theatre set’ construction, dry rot and poor 
current condition, and that the late 19th century conservatory iron framework is 
also impractical to retain. Whilst this is regrettable given their existing condition 
their total retention is not considered to be wholly practicable. Notwithstanding 
this, it is considered that where possible, features of interest should still be 
retained even within the re-designed scheme and a further condition is proposed 
to ensure retention where possible. 

 
9.78. Whilst it is acknowledged that Hippodrome House is less significant than the 

Hippodrome itself, these are nevertheless late Georgian houses that have a 
strong historic connection with the Hippodrome. The extent of proposed 
demolition and remodelling Hippodrome House is substantial, both internally and 
externally. The loss of the L-shaped plan form, the loss of original roofs in favour 
of a flat roof at the rear, the change to rear elevation materials and windows and 
the alterations to the facade of the southern house are all of notable concern. 
Internally the original staircase would also be lost. Notwithstanding that there are 
significant interventions to Hippodrome House which would undoubtedly affect 
and cause harm to the significance of this part of the site, given that the re-
development of Hippodrome House is considered necessary in order to achieve 
the overall benefits of the scheme a number of conditions are proposed in order 
to ensure that where possible original features and detailing are sufficiently 
provided and secured and harm minimised. 

 
9.79. New metal gates are proposed to the access on the northern side of the building 

and details of the external doors, windows, cornices and eaves detailing are 
recommended to be secured by condition. 

 
9.80. The external works to Hippodrome House are considered to provide an overall 

improvement in the visual quality of the site from the public realm preserving and 
enhancing the Conservation Area and the setting of other nearby listed buildings 
in accordance with policies DM26, DM27 and CP12 and CP15. The direct works 
to Hippodrome House would cause some harm and paragraphs 201, 203, 206, 
207 and 208 of the NPPF are relevant and a weighting assessment of the harms 
against the public benefits of the proposal is required. This is considered further 
below. 

 
The Apart Hotel 

112



OFFRPTLBC 

 
9.81. At the rear of the Hippodrome a large extension is proposed adjoining the rear 

fly tower and auditorium, infilling the rear yard/car park and extending to the Ship 
Street frontage. The new build extension would be 3-7 stories in height with a 
maximum height of 21.4m. Appearing as a three storey building with 
accommodation in the roof at the Ship Street frontage the 5th and 6th stories 
would be set back 9m from the street frontage with the 7th storey being set 
approximately 14m from the street front appearing as a metal clad mansard roof 
extension with dormers on its north, south and eastern sides. The height of the 
proposed Apart Hotel building would present as a full storey above the height of 
the existing fly tower. 

 
9.82. Above ground floor the northern elevation would feature a number of insets and 

set backs to provide visual relief and differentiation also facilitated by a number 
different brick types with lighter bricks on the most northern flank and a darker 
brick type proposed for the insets and set ins. The set-ins being nearly 3m deep 
would assist in the visual breaking of the massing. Different window types with 
brick relief set-ins and their positioning across the northern elevation contribute 
to the northern elevations visual interest. Additional improvements of window 
size to solid/void ratio recommended on the north facing elevation (increasing 
window size) is advised in both the Urban Design and Heritage comments 
received. However, this has to be balanced against the likely additional amenity 
impacts that would result from increased perceived and actual overlooking to the 
properties of 3-11 Dukes Lane. The windows on this elevation is therefore 
considered to be on balance acceptable subject to the use of quality materials, 
which further details are conditioned. 

 
9.83. The Ship Street elevation would feature a mixed aluminium and timber shop 

front at street level utilising a brick finish with fascia above. The southern part of 
the ground floor would also feature a gated access to the rear of the Hippodrome 
and servicing for the Apart Hotel. At first and second floor a projecting bay would 
be metal clad at first and second floor level with the rest of the east facing 
elevation in light brick. At roof level a false pitched roof would be slate clad with 
three metal clad dormers projecting towards the east. The setback 5th and 6th 
floors would feature a darker brick type that wraps around the eastern and 
returning southern elevation and the metal clad mansard extension set back 
further appearing as the 7th storey with a small external terrace facing east. 

 
9.84. The southern elevation would be a mix of two different brick types with a lighter 

brick for the return of the Ship Street frontage and then a darker brick throughout 
the south side. The elevation is proposed with canted metal clad window bays, 
vents and a mix of aluminium and timber windows facing south across the 5th 
and 6th stories. 

  
9.85. A number of new window openings and installation of rooflights are proposed to 

the red-brick fly tower building with acoustic louvre screening upon the roof.  
 
9.86. The infilling of the ground floor with a Class E unit (and entrance to Apart Hotel) 

is welcome and would provide an active frontage to this part of Ship Street 
infilling the current unsightly gap and sustaining and enhancing the appearance 

113



OFFRPTLBC 

of the Conservation Area street frontage. The scale and design approach to the 
Ship Street frontage building is considered to be appropriate as a contemporary 
but contextual response to the site, subject to detailing and materials being 
secured. Further detail of the shopfront is required by condition in order to secure 
an appropriate street level frontage in accordance with policy DM23 (shopfronts) 
of the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part Two. 

 
9.87. The overall scale of the proposed apart hotel would appear without precedent 

and significant in scale to the mostly small-scale and modest context of the Old 
Town Conservation Area. This element of the proposal would be considered a 
“tall building” (being over 18m) under the terms of policy CP12 (Urban Design) 
and SPD17 and does not lie within one of the tall building zones set out in policy. 
However, somewhat unusually, due to the tight nature of the Old Town’s urban 
grain the 6/7 storey element of the Apart Hotel would not be readily visible from 
much of the surrounding public realm of Middle Street, Duke Street to the north 
of the site or from the southern ends of Ship Street on the eastern side of the 
site.  

 
9.88. The principal building and upper floors of the apart hotel would however be 

visible in oblique views directly outside the site on Ship Street, and also visible 
from the junction of Ship Street and Prince Albert St and from some longer views 
further down Prince Albert Street. The upper floors of the development would 
also be visible from the junction of Ship Street and North Street to the north of 
the site as a skyline backdrop above 30-34 Duke Street. For this reason detailed 
information on the use of materials for the Apart Hotel upper floors and roof is 
recommended – the dark cladding is considered to be key here to assimilating 
the development into the skyline of the Old Town. The development would only 
be seen in some longer views from higher vantage points in the City as from 
Dyke Road (near St Nicholas Church) however, here the development would be 
seen from a significant distance and in the context of other roofscape and other 
large scale development therefore no further concerns are held in this regard. 
Further verified modelling provided with the application shows that it would not 
be visible from the Old Steine given that the land levels would result in its 
maximum height being below the existing visible skyline in this location. 

 
9.89. The limited visibility of the Apart Hotel, despite its scale is a key factor in its 

acceptability. The minimal visual impact from the public realm mitigates and 
ensures that it would not have an unacceptable impact on the setting of proximal 
listed buildings or overall Conservation Area from the public realm. Policy DM27 
of CPP2 covers the reuse of ongoing vacant listed buildings and states that “in 
applying other policies the council will have special regard to the benefits of 
bringing the listed building back into use”. This does allow for some flexibility 
with regard to height under CP12.  

 
9.90. Overall the harm to the conservation area from the scale of the new build apart 

hotel is considered to be sufficiently modest that it could be considered to be 
outweighed by an appropriately designed and detailed scheme to bring the listed 
building back into performance use together with the other restorative elements 
of the proposal.  

 

114



OFFRPTLBC 

Heritage harms and benefits 
 
9.91. Paragraph 207 of the NPPF states that; “Where a proposed development will 

lead to substantial harm to (or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage 
asset, local planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it can be 
demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve 
substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or all of the following 
apply:  
a)  the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; 

and  
b)  no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term 

through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and  
c)  conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or 

public ownership is demonstrably not possible; and  
d)  the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into 

use.  
 

9.92. Paragraph 208 of the NPPF states; “Where a development proposal will lead to 
less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, 
this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal 
including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.” 

 
9.93. It is clear that The Hippodrome re-development would offer public benefits. 

These are the restoration and re-use of the auditorium as a single volume 
capable of performance, improvements to the public realm from the overall 
regeneration of the site, retention and restoration of some historic features 
across the site including the entrance canopy and bringing a long vacant 
deteriorating listed building back into a viable use. There are also harms which 
are considered to be less than substantial although this may be to a high degree 
if suitable conditions do not secure the positive outcomes and benefits needed. 
Identified harms in the heritage context would relate to harms to the significance 
of Hippodrome House, the removal of original fabric and form from the 
Hippodrome and fly tower and some harm due to the scale of the Apart Hotel.  

 
9.94. Considerable importance and weight is given to the restoration and reuse of the 

Hippodrome together with the proposed new development which, subject to the 
necessary conditions and obligations would overall enhance and preserve the 
character and appearance of the Old Town Conservation Area and nearby listed 
buildings as well as provide significant public benefits in the restoration of a long 
deteriorating heritage asset and the ability for the public appreciation and 
enjoyment of this space.  

 
9.95. In light of the above it is essential that appropriate phasing of the development 

is managed through suitably worded conditions and a Section 106 agreement in 
order that the public benefits of the scheme are secured and materialise. Such 
an agreement should ensure that the Hippodrome and auditorium are restored 
and fitted out ready for purpose prior to the Apart Hotel being occupied.  

 
9.96. Subject to the public benefits of the scheme being realised it is considered that 

the application is, on balance, in accordance with the NPPF, policy CP15 of the 

115



OFFRPTLBC 

Brighton and Hove City Plan Part One and Brighton and Hove City Plan Part 
Two policies DM26 and DM27 and the application for listed building consent is 
recommended for approval. 

 
 
10. EQUALITIES 

 
10.1. During the determination of this application due regard has been given to the 

impact of this scheme in relation to the Equality Act 2010 in terms of the 
implications for those with protected characteristics namely age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. There is no indication that 
those with any of these protected characteristics would be disadvantaged by this 
development.  

 
 
 
 
 
  
  
  

  
  
  

  

 

116



 

DATE OF COMMITTEE: 3rd April 2024 
 

 
ITEM C 

 
 
 

  
St Margarets Church, Rottingdean 

BH2022/01500 
Full Planning 

117



118



Pond
THE GREEN

CHALLONERS CLOSE

VIC
AR

AG
E L

AN
E

Posts

TERRACE

NORTHFIELD RISE

1
2

6

4

3

85

9

7

Church

Inn

St Margaret's

11

10

17

C of E

Dean Close

of Lourdes

Tudor Close

122

Th
e

The Grange

Highbury House

Whiteway Centre

Tudor

House

Lodge

Vicarage

10 to 15

Norton
Whipping

The Studio

Cottages

Coppers

St Edmunds

Little Cottage

Norton

2
5

3

1

6

2

9

6

41

1

7

(c) Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence: 100020999, Brighton & Hove City Council. 2023.

BH2022 01500 - St Margarets Church

1:1,250Scale: ̄

119



120



OFFRPT 

No: BH2022/01500 Ward: Rottingdean & West 
Saltdean Ward 

App Type: Full Planning 

Address: St Margarets Church The Green Rottingdean Brighton BN2 7HA     

Proposal: Erection of two storey extension to north elevation.  

 

Officer: Sonia Gillam, tel: 292265 Valid Date: 19.05.2022 

Con Area:  Rottingdean  Expiry Date:   14.07.2022 

 

Listed Building Grade:   EOT:  14.02.2024 

Agent: Thomas Ford And Partners   177 Kirkdale   London   SE26 4QH                   

Applicant: The PCC Of St Margaret's Church Rottingdean   St Margarets Church   
The Green   Rottingdean   Brighton   BN2 7HA             

 
 
1. RECOMMENDATION 
 
1.1. That the Committee has taken into consideration and agrees with the reasons 

for the recommendation set out below and resolves to GRANT planning 
permission subject to the following Conditions and Informatives: 

 
Conditions:  

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved drawings listed below. 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
Plan Type Reference Version Date Received  
Location Plan  EX-001    4 May 2022  
Block Plan  GA-010c   P2 13 September 

2023  
Proposed Drawing  GA-100c   P3 13 September 

2023  
Proposed Drawing  GA-150c   P2 4 May 2022  
Proposed Drawing  GA-200c   P2 4 May 2022  
Proposed Drawing  GA-210c   P3 13 September 

2023  

Proposed Drawing  GA-220c   P1 4 May 2022  
Proposed Drawing  GA-230c   P1 4 May 2022  
Proposed Drawing  GA-300c   P2 4 May 2022  
Proposed Drawing  GA-310c   P1 4 May 2022  

Proposed Drawing  GA-320c   P3 13 September 
2023  

Proposed Drawing  GA-330c   P2 13 September 
2023  

Proposed Drawing  GA-340c   P2 4 May 2022  
Proposed Drawing  GA-350c   P2 4 May 2022  

121



OFFRPT 

Proposed Drawing  GA-360c   P3 13 September 
2023  

 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission.  
Reason: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority retains the right to review 
unimplemented permissions. 

 
3. The works hereby permitted shall not be commenced until a method statement 

for the excavation works, including measures to protect and support the 
foundations to the north wall of the nave, has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory preservation of this listed building and to 
comply with policies DM27 and CP15 of the Brighton & Hove City Plan. 

 
4. The works hereby permitted shall not be commenced until section details at 1:20 

scale showing the junction of the approved extension with the north wall and 
including the roof light above, have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details.  
Reason: As insufficient information has been submitted, to ensure the 
satisfactory preservation of this listed building and to comply with policies DM27 
and CP15 of the Brighton & Hove City Plan. 

 
5.  

i) No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological works in accordance 
with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

ii) The archaeological work shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved written scheme of investigation and a written record of all 
archaeological works undertaken shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval in writing within 3 months of the completion of any 
archaeological investigation unless an alternative timescale for submission 
of the report is agreed in advance and in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.  

Reason: To ensure that the archaeological and historical interest of the site is 
safeguarded and recorded to comply with policies DM31 and CP15 of the 
Brighton & Hove City Plan. 

 
6. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved (including 

demolition and all preparatory work), a scheme for the protection of the on-site 
and off-site retained trees, in accordance with BS 5837:2012, including a tree 
protection plan (TPP) and an arboricultural method statement (AMS), including 
details for the delivery and storage of construction materials, shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development 
thereafter shall be implemented in strict accordance with the approved details.  

  

122



OFFRPT 

Reason: As this matter is fundamental to protecting the trees which are to be 
retained on the site during construction works in the interest of the visual 
amenities of the area and for biodiversity and sustainability reasons, to comply 
with policies DM22, DM37, CP8, CP10, CP12 and CP13 of the Brighton & Hove 
City Plan and SPD06:Trees and Development Sites. 

 
7. No development shall take place, including any site preparation works involving 

machinery, breaking of ground, demolition and vegetation clearance, until an 
updated survey for the presence of badgers has been undertaken, in 
accordance with best practice. Where the survey results indicate that changes 
have occurred that will result in ecological impacts not previously addressed in 
the approved scheme, the original approved ecological measures will be revised 
and new or amended measures, and a timetable for their implementation, will 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to 
the commencement of development. Works will then be carried out in 
accordance with the proposed new approved ecological measures and 
timetable.  
Reason: As badgers are a mobile species whose activities/patterns varies 
across the year and in reaction to a range of influencing factors, it is important 
that the surveys reflect the situation at the time on any given impact occurring to 
ensure adequate mitigation and compensation can be put in place and to ensure 
no offences are committed 

 
8.  Works shall not in any circumstances commence unless the local planning 

authority has been provided with either:  
a)  a licence issued by Natural England pursuant to Regulation 53 of The 

Conservation of Habitat and Species Regulations 2017, as amended, 
authorising the specified activity/development to go ahead; or  

b)  a statement in writing from the relevant licensing body to the effect that it 
does not consider that the specified activity/development will require a 
licence.  

Reason: To protected habitats and species identified in the ecological surveys 
from adverse impacts during construction in accordance with Policy DM37 of 
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part 2, Policy CP10 of the Brighton & Hove City Plan 
Part One and Supplementary Planning Document SPD11 Nature Conservation 
and Development. 

 
9. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied/ brought into use until 

details of measures to protect the internalised stained-glass windows to the 
north elevation have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The measures shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details and maintained as such thereafter.  
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory preservation of this listed building and to 
comply with policies DM27 and CP15 of the Brighton & Hove City Plan. 

 
10. No development above ground floor slab level of any part of the development 

hereby permitted shall take place until a sample panel of flintwork has been 
constructed on the site and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The flintwork comprised within the development shall be carried out and 
completed to match the approved sample flint panel.  

123



OFFRPT 

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory preservation of this listed building and to 
comply with policies DM27 and CP15 of the Brighton & Hove City Plan. 

 
11. Notwithstanding any details shown on the approved plans, no development 

above ground floor slab level of any part of the development hereby permitted 
shall take place until samples of all materials to be used in the construction of 
the external surfaces of the development have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority, including (where applicable):   
a) Samples/details of all brick, stone, render, roof tiling and flat roof covering.  
b) samples/details of all hard surfacing materials   
c) samples/details of the proposed window and door treatments.   
d) samples/details of all rainwater goods.   
e) samples/details of all other materials to be used externally   
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory preservation of this listed building and to 
comply with policies DM27 and CP15 of the Brighton & Hove City Plan. 

 
12. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied/ brought into use until 

a plan detailing the positions, height, design, materials and type of any proposed 
walls, railings or balustrades to the path and steps hereby approved has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory preservation of this listed building and to 
comply with policies DM27 and CP15 of the Brighton & Hove City Plan. 

 
13. Prior to occupation, a "lighting design strategy for biodiversity" shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The strategy shall:  
a)  identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats 

and that are likely to cause disturbance in or around their breeding sites 
and resting places or along important routes used to access key areas of 
their territory, for example, for foraging; and  

b)  show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the 
provision of appropriate lighting contour plans and technical specifications) 
so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or 
prevent the above species using their territory or having access to their 
breeding sites and resting places.  

All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and 
locations set out in the strategy, and these shall be maintained thereafter in 
accordance with the strategy. Under no circumstances should any other external 
lighting be installed without prior consent from the planning authority.   
Reason: Many species active at night (e.g. bats and badgers) are sensitive to 
light pollution. The introduction of artificial light might mean such species are 
disturbed and /or discouraged from using their breeding and resting places, 
established flyways or foraging areas. Such disturbance can constitute an 
offence under relevant wildlife legislation. 

 
14. All ecological measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance with the 

details contained in Preliminary Ecological Appraisal received on the 21 
December 2022 and the Bat Addendum Report received on the 17 January 2024 

124



OFFRPT 

as already submitted with the planning application and agreed in principle with 
the local planning authority prior to determination.  
Reason: To ensure that the measures considered necessary as part of the 
ecological impact assessment are carried out as specified, and to provide a net 
gain for biodiversity as required by paragraphs 180 and 186 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006, as amended, Policy CP10 of the Brighton & Hove City 
Plan Part One and Policy DM37 of the City Plan Part Two. 

 
Informatives: 

1. In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy SS1 of 
the Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One the approach to making a decision on 
this planning application has been to apply the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.  The Local Planning Authority seeks to approve 
planning applications which are for sustainable development where possible. 

  
 
2. SITE LOCATION   

 
2.1. The application relates to a grade II* listed church building within the Rottingdean 

Conservation Area. It is a flint faced village church with a Norman nave and a 
13th century tower. Its setting is formed by the churchyard with its flint walls and 
mature trees.  

  
2.2. The building was extensively restored in the nineteenth century, by the nationally 

renowned architect G.G. Scott, when the south aisle was constructed. A vestry 
addition to the north was added in 1974. Of special significance are the several 
stained-glass windows made by Morris and Co and designed by the celebrated 
artist Edward Burne-Jones, who lived and worked in Rottingdean.   

  
2.3. The church is a local landmark and has a strong relationship with the public open 

space of The Green, from where the west end of the nave and the tower above 
form a focal point. From here the church is seen in context with the grade II listed 
The Grange and The Elms. The north side of the church is less prominent but 
can be seen in views from Dean Court Road, particularly the nave roof and 
tower. It is also viewed in the context of the grade II listed Tudor Close, a 1930s 
residential development in 'Tudorbethan' style in the western end of Dean Court 
Road.   

  
2.4. The site lies within an Archaeological Notification Area and is designated as 

Open Space in the City Plan. It is also subject to Tree Preservation Orders.  
  
 
3. RELEVANT HISTORY   

 
3.1. BH2021/03462 Erection of two storey extension to north elevation. Withdrawn 

12.11.2021.  
  

125



OFFRPT 

3.2. PRE2020/00034 A small extension to the north side of the church to provide a 
new kitchen, vestry/office, flower store, and a large meeting room for Sunday 
School. Advice Given.  

  
3.3. BH2001/02409/FP and BH2001/02410/LB Moving of existing stained-glass 

window to new position.  New stained-glass window. Approved 18.02.2002.  
 
  
4. APPLICATION DESCRIPTION  

  
4.1. The application seeks permission for the erection of a two-storey extension to 

the north elevation of the church. The structure would be clad in flint stone, with 
quoin details and a red tile roof to match the existing roof.   

  
4.2. The extended space would provide for church and community activities. The 

ground floor would include a vestry, a new modern kitchen, accessible w.c. and 
shower facilities, storage including a buggy store and a ramped access and lift. 
The first floor would incorporate meeting rooms and a gallery area. Underfloor 
heating would be installed.  

  
4.3. The proposed scheme has evolved over time following pre-application advice 

from Historic England, the County Archaeologist and the Council's Heritage and 
Planning Teams. Amended plans have been received during the lifetime of this 
application to address minor revisions recommended by Historic England.   

  
4.4. Listed Building Consent is not required for the proposed extension or the internal 

works as the Church benefits from 'ecclesiastical exemption'.   
   
 
5. REPRESENTATIONS   

 
5.1. Thirty-six (36)  letters have been received objecting to the proposed 

development for the following reasons:  

 Impact on heritage assets  

 Impact on stained glass windows  

 Poor design/ inappropriate height  

 Overdevelopment  

 More community facilities not required  

 Increased footprint not necessary  

 Highways safety  

 Traffic/ Parking/ Pollution issues  

 Impact on infrastructure   

 Impact on archaeological remains  

 Impact on trees  

 Removal of graves  

 Impact on wildlife/ protected species  

 Omissions/ inaccuracies in submission documents  
  

126



OFFRPT 

5.2. Twenty-six (26)  letters have been received supporting the proposed 
development for the following reasons:  

 Design in keeping with listed building  

 Community facility needed  

 Improved accessibility  

 Family facilities such a baby-changing area  

 Revitalise the Church  

 Public / community benefit  

 Sustainable measures  

 Parking impact would be minimal  

 Less than substantial harm  
   
5.3. Objections relating to impact on views, financial incentives, and inconvenience 

from build, are noted however these are not material planning considerations.  
  
5.4. Councillor Bridget Fishleigh has made a representation supporting the 

application. A copy of the letter is appended to this report.  
  
 
6. CONSULTATIONS  

 
Internal:  

6.1. Arboriculture:  No objection  
Subject to conditions relating to a method statement for the delivery and storage 
of materials and confirmation of tree protection measures for both on and off-
site trees. 

  
6.2. Heritage:  No objection  

The proposed extension would cause harm to the architectural and artistic 
interest of the listed building and minor harm to the appearance and character 
of the conservation area, however there are also clear heritage and public 
benefits to the proposal.  

  
6.3. Planning Policy:  Verbal comment No objection   
  
6.4. Sustainable Transport:  Verbal comment No objection  

Trips to site and parking impact are unlikely to increase significantly.   
  

External:   
6.5. Brighton and Hove Archaeological Society:  Comment  

The proposed development close to an ancient church has the possibility of 
disturbing burials. The archaeology of Rottingdean and the surrounding area is 
relatively unknown, and as such any intervention may produce important records 
of past landscapes and ancient activity. Recommend consulting with County 
Archaeologist.  

  
6.6. CAG:  Objection  

The proposal does not relate well to and would be out of character to the existing 
building, and would have a harmful and detrimental impact on heritage assets 
and views from surrounding streets. There would be impact on natural light 

127



OFFRPT 

through the windows. Regret the removal of the graves which can be seen from 
Dean Court Road.  

  
6.7. County Archaeologist:  No objection  

Subject to a programme of archaeological works.   
  
6.8. County Ecologist:  No objection  

Provided the recommended mitigation, compensation and enhancement is 
implemented, the proposed development can be supported from an ecological 
perspective.   

  
6.9. Historic England:  Comment  

Much improved scheme, although some harm caused through internalisation of 
significant window.  The LPA should consider whether the level of harm caused 
by the proposal has been minimised, and the extent to which there are public 
benefits, before undertaking the weighting exercise as required by paragraph 
208 of the NPPF. 

  
6.10. Rottingdean Parish Council:  No objection  

Would make for a larger and more flexible space and would provide for improved 
facilities and enhanced accessibility. Design would complement the existing 
vestry.   

  
6.11. Full details of all of the representations can be found on the online planning 

register. 
  
 
7. MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS   

 
7.1. In accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004, this decision has been taken having regard to the policies and proposals 
in the National Planning Policy Framework, the Development Plan, and all other 
material planning considerations identified in the "Considerations and 
Assessment" section of the report.  

  
7.2. The development plan is:  

 Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One (adopted March 2016);  

 Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two (adopted October 2022);  

 East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Plan 
(adopted February 2013);   

 East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Sites 
Plan (adopted February 2017);   

 Shoreham Harbour JAAP (adopted October 2019).  
 
 
8. RELEVANT POLICIES & GUIDANCE   

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)   
  
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One:   

128



OFFRPT 

SS1  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
CP5  Culture and tourism  
CP8  Sustainable buildings  
CP9  Sustainable transport  
CP10 Biodiversity  
CP12 Urban design  
CP13 Public streets and spaces  
CP15 Heritage  
CP16  Open Space  

  
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two:   
DM9   Community Facilities  
DM18 High quality design and places  
DM20 Protection of Amenity  
DM21 Extensions and alterations  
DM22 Landscape Design and Trees  
DM26 Conservation Areas  
DM27 Listed Buildings  
DM29  The Setting of Heritage Assets  
DM31 Archaeological Interest  
DM33 Safe, sustainable and active travel  
DM36 Parking and servicing  
DM37 Green Infrastructure and Nature Conservation  
DM44 Energy Efficiency and Renewables  

  
Supplementary Planning Documents:   
SPD03  Construction & Demolition Waste  
SPD06  Trees & Development Sites  
SPD09 Architectural Features  
SPD11  Nature Conservation & Development  
SPD12 Design Guide for Extensions and Alterations  
SPD14  Parking Standards  
SPD17  Urban Design Framework  

 
Neighbourhood Plan:   
Rottingdean Neighbourhood Plan 

  
  
9. CONSIDERATIONS & ASSESSMENT   

 
9.1. The main considerations in the determination of this application relate to impact 

of the proposed development on the historic interest of the listed building and 
the character and appearance of the Rottingdean Conservation Area, plus 
impact on ecology and protected species, neighbour amenity, trees, 
archaeological features, highways and sustainability issues.   

  
Principle of the Development:   

9.2. The proposal would result in the development within a small area (41m2) of the 
church grounds. The site is designated as Open Space and Policy CP16 of the 
CPP1 applies; Criterion c) states that planning permission resulting in the loss 

129



OFFRPT 

of open space will only be granted where the proposed development is ancillary 
to the use of the open space and would result in only a small loss of open space, 
provides improvements to and better use of the remaining space and optimises 
public access. Policy DM12 of the CPP2 supports the provision of new 
community facilities where they are compatible with existing uses and are easily 
accessible to the community that will use them.  

  
9.3. The application states that currently the building can only be used for east-west 

worship and is very restricted. Church and community activities previously took 
place in St Margaret's Cottage, adjacent to the churchyard, to the south-western 
boundary. This Victorian era property was constructed as a hall space in which 
the church and community activities could take place. The cottage was sold in 
early 2022 as it required urgent repairs, and the ongoing running and 
maintenance costs of the building were considered unsustainable. The building 
was deemed unfit for purpose in an independent Health & Safety Report.  

  
9.4. It is acknowledged that there would be clear public benefits in works that would 

enable the Church to improve and increase its offer to the local community and 
provide wider and more inclusive access. Given this, notwithstanding the loss of 
the area of open space, there is no objection in principle to extending the church 
in order to help achieve community benefits and thereby sustain the use of the 
listed Church as a flexible and accessible place of worship in the longer term. 
The proposal is considered to positively contribute towards meeting the 
objectives of the above City Plan policies.  

  
Design and Appearance and Impact on Heritage Assets:   

9.5. In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which 
affects a listed building or its setting, the Council has a statutory duty to have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. Moreover, 
when considering whether to grant planning permission for development in a 
conservation area the Council has a statutory duty to pay special attention to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the area.  

  
9.6. Case law has held that the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting 

or any features of special architectural or historic interest it possesses, and the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a 
conservation area should be given "considerable importance and weight".  

  
Proposed Extension  

9.7. It is considered that the north side of the Church nave would be the least harmful 
location for an extension, adjoining the existing 1970s vestry extension. It is 
understood that the existing graves in this area date from the 1940s and it is 
noted that there are no listed tombs in, or close to this area. The north wall of 
the nave is, however, one of the oldest surviving elements of the church. In 
addition, it contains two of the stained-glass windows by Burne-Jones/ Morris & 
Co. Both elements are identified among the aspects of the church that are of the 
highest significance.   

  

130



OFFRPT 

9.8. It is acknowledged that the proposed extension would impact on the external 
appearance of the church, in conjunction with the previous vestry addition. It 
would obscure more than half of the currently visible north wall, though the wall 
itself would remain physically intact and visible from the publicly accessible 
meeting room.   

  
9.9. However, overall, the design of the extension is considered to be appropriate, 

reading as a fairly simple elongation of the existing vestry extension with 
continuous eaves and ridge, although with a slight set back proposed and a 
shallow recess where the two meet. The walls would be flint to match the existing 
church, however there would be contemporary glazing to distinguish the 
extension, giving it greater visual lightness and introducing some appropriate 
vertical elements to the elevations. The overall proportions of the extension are 
considered to be satisfactory. There is no objection to the re-formation of the 
doorway in the north wall.  

  
9.10. Although the north elevation of the church is one the least prominent views from 

the public realm, the extension would be visible from Dean Court Road, as well 
as by visitors to the churchyard. By obscuring part of the original north wall, 
including two windows, and part of the nave roof, it is acknowledged that there 
would be some harm to the appearance and setting of the church and 
conservation area, but this harm is considered to be minor. From Dean Court 
Road it would be visible in the gap between Tudor Close and its associated car 
park, garaging and outbuildings, the extension would be visible but not be 
prominent as it would be set behind the existing buildings and in summer months 
it would be partly screened by trees. Despite some degree of intervisibility 
between the north side of the Church and the listed Tudor Close, the 
development would have a negligible impact on the setting of those listed 
buildings.   

 
9.11. Overall, it is considered that the extension is proposed in the least harmful viable 

location, and is appropriate in design terms with a minor impact on the setting of 
the church and conservation area. Although it would obscure more than half of 
the visible north wall, the wall itself would remain physically intact and visible 
from the publicly accessible meeting room. Given the prevailing context, the 
extension is considered acceptable in terms of impact on heritage assets and 
would be in compliance with policies CP15, DM26, DM27 and DM29 of the City 
Plan and SPD12 guidance.  

  
Stained Glass Windows   

9.12. The greatest impact on the significance of the Church would come as a result of 
the internalisation of the single lancet window. It is inevitable that less external 
light would fall on this window as a result of the proposals, thereby affecting how 
the window is seen from within the church. However, the windows are north 
facing and do not benefit from direct sunlight. The loss of light would therefore 
be mitigated to some degree by the proposed long rooflight over the flat roof 
where the extension would adjoin the church, as well as by the glazed entrance 
and the windows to the first-floor meeting room.   

  

131



OFFRPT 

9.13. The adjacent bi-partite Burne-Jones/ Morris and Co. window would remain 
external, though the quality of the light entering may also be affected to some 
degree by the proximity of the extension, particularly in the afternoon. It would 
also be the case that these two windows would no longer both be able to be 
viewed together externally from the churchyard. In this respect, though, it must 
be acknowledged that the windows were not deliberately installed together, the 
bipartite window having been installed 17 years after the lancet window.  

  
9.14. Any extension of viable size here would inevitably impact on the single lancet 

window, given its position, so it is not considered that a reduction in scale of the 
extension would be able to overcome this harm and no further mitigation 
measures appear feasible in this respect, given the position of the opened-up 
doorway. It is noted that Historic England has recommended that a lighting 
assessment is undertaken to identify ways to improve lighting levels to the 
affected windows. This is noted, however for the reasons outlined above, it is 
considered that appropriate measures have been considered, such as the 
glazed rooflight and fenestration, and are part of the proposals. 

  
9.15. Given the above, it is considered that the proposed extension would cause some 

harm to the architectural and artistic interest of the listed building and minor harm 
to the appearance and character of the conservation area. However, it is 
acknowledged that there would be clear heritage and public benefits in works 
that would enable the Church to improve and increase its offer to the local 
community and thereby sustain the use of the listed Church as a flexible and 
accessible place of worship in the longer term.   

  
9.16. It is acknowledged that the Conservation Advisory Group (CAG) has objected to 

the scheme, by reason that the development would be out of character with the 
existing building and would have a harmful and detrimental impact on heritage 
assets and views. However, the Council's Heritage Officer considers the scheme 
acceptable, subject to further details of materials, excavation works and 
protection for the stain-glass windows; these measures be secured by condition. 
Historic England has raised no objection to the scheme as a whole.   

  
Impact on Amenity:   

9.17. Policy DM20 of City Plan Part 2 states that planning permission for any 
development or change of use will not be granted where it would cause material 
nuisance and loss of amenity to the proposed, existing and/or adjacent users, 
residents, occupiers or where it is liable to be detrimental to human health.  

  
9.18. The proposed development would be sited a sufficient distance from the nearest 

residential properties in Tudor Court and Dean Court Road, and no significant 
harm has been identified in terms of impact on daylight, sunlight, outlook and 
privacy. There may be some increased activity at this part of the site, however 
this would not be significant and given the nature and use of the site, it would 
not warrant refusal of the application.   

  
Sustainable Transport:   

9.19. The additional space proposed would be for church business and local 
community activities, many of which previously would have taken place in the 

132



OFFRPT 

adjacent St Margaret's Cottage. Trips to the site and parking impact are unlikely 
to increase significantly. The Council's Highways Officer has no objections to the 
scheme as it is considered to be in compliance with City Plan policies DM33 
which aims to promote and provide for the use of sustainable transport and 
DM36 which relates to parking.  

  
Ecology:   
Badgers   

9.20. Badger activity on site is clearly high; the species is protected under the 
Protection of Badgers Act 1992. Given the distance of the proposed works from 
the setts identified and based on the assumption that works vehicles would 
access the site from the north, the County Ecologist has advised that there are 
unlikely to be any impacts on the setts. However, given the highly mobile nature 
of the species, it is recommended that a pre-construction survey is carried out 
and that best practice safeguards are put in place to ensure badgers are not 
harmed or trapped during works. This is proposed to be secured by condition.   

  
9.21. The County Ecologist considers that the potential impacts of the works can be 

mitigated, however a licence from Natural England may be required depending 
on the proximity of any potential new setts to the works.  

  
Bats   

9.22. All species of bats are fully protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981, as amended, and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017, as amended, making them European Protected Species.   

  
9.23. The assessment of the building in October 2023 identified five potential roost 

features (PRFs) none of which offered potential for bats to enter the internal 
fabric of the building, however, they could offer potential for individual or low 
numbers of crevice roosting species. Of these five PRFs, three would not be 
impacted by the proposed works, and two would not be directly affected, 
however scaffolding would be erected in front of them. The features themselves 
would be retained.   

  
9.24. There remains some uncertainty if bats are using the roof tiles of the existing 

extension for roosting, however from the evidence available, there was potential 
emergence from under a roof tile on the vestry roof. As such, works will require 
a European Protected Species Licence (EPSL), the application for which would 
require further survey. From the available evidence, there is high confidence that 
any potential roost present is likely to be of low conservation status, and as such, 
a Low Impact Licence would be appropriate. To provide certainty that bats are 
being appropriately addressed, it is recommended that a copy of the EPSL is 
proposed to be secured by condition.  

  
9.25. The submission states that a bat box would be provided on a tree prior to works 

commencing, and that an integrated bat tube will be incorporated into the 
proposed new extension. The proposed mitigation is in line with best practice 
and is acceptable. It should be noted that a mitigation strategy is required for the 
EPSL application and would be approved through that process.   

  

133



OFFRPT 

Archaeology:  
9.26. Policy DM31 of the City Plan states that development proposals affecting 

heritage assets with archaeological interest will be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that development will not be harmful to the archaeological interest 
of the heritage assets or their settings, having regard to their significance. 

  
9.27. The proposed scheme has the potential to expose / disturb archaeological 

features that may shed light on the origin and history of St. Margaret's Church 
and the wider Rottingdean area. The County Archaeologist has therefore 
advised that the area affected by the proposals should be subject to a 
programme of archaeological works. This would enable any disturbed 
archaeological deposits and features to be either preserved in situ or, where this 
cannot be achieved, adequately recorded in advance of their loss. The 
programme of works is proposed to be secured by condition.   

  
9.28. It is acknowledged that there have been objections received to the proposed 

removal of approximately ten marked burials within the parcel of land proposed 
for the extension. The parish has identified an area in the newer section of 
churchyard which could be used for reburials.   

  
9.29. Although not a material planning consideration, it is noted that, given the 

relatively recent date of some of the graves (within the last 50 years), the 
submission documents state that it would be important to consult locally and 
publicise the proposals so that family members are given the opportunity to 
come forward.  

  
Sustainability:   

9.30. Policy DM44 of the City Plan states that the Council will encourage all 
development to improve energy efficiency and achieve greater reductions in 
CO2 emissions in order to contribute towards Brighton & Hove’s ambition to 
become a carbon neutral city by 2030. New build development should achieve 
a minimum Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rating of ‘B’. 

 
9.31. However, Section 5 of The Energy Performance of Buildings (England and 

Wales) Regulations 2012 ("2012 Regulations") sets out circumstances that the 
duties relating to EPC do not apply to and includes: "buildings officially protected 
as part of a designated environment or because of their special architectural or 
historical merit, in so far as compliance with certain minimum energy 
performance requirements would unacceptably alter their character or 
appearance;" 

 
9.32. The proposal has been designed to deliver a scheme that would be energy 

efficient and promote resource conservation. Sustainable features would include 
insulated walls, floors and roofs, energy efficient boilers, energy efficient 
appliances and light fittings, low flush toilet and sanitary fittings, and double-
glazed windows.  

 
9.33. Given that the development consists of a small extension to a listed building, 

and therefore is exempt in relation to EPC, the measures are considered 
sufficient in terms of the aims of Policy DM44. 

134



OFFRPT 

  
Other issues:   

9.34. City Plan policy DM22 requires development proposals to retain, improve and 
wherever possible provide, appropriate landscape elements/ landscaping, trees 
and planting. It is noted that the site is subject to Tree Preservation Orders. 
However, the Council's Arboriculture Officer has no objections to the scheme 
subject to a method statement for the delivery and storage of materials, and 
confirmation of tree protection measures for both on and off-site trees. These 
measures are proposed to be secured by condition.   

  
Conclusion and Planning Balance:  

9.35. There is a statutory presumption against granting permission for any 
development which would cause harm to heritage assets. However, Paragraph 
196 of the NPPF makes clear that, in determining applications, the local planning 
authority should take account of the desirability of putting heritage assets to 
viable uses consistent with their conservation, and the positive contribution that 
conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable communities.  
Additionally, Paragraph 208 of the NPPF states that where a development 
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public 
benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum 
viable use. 

 
9.36. It is acknowledged that the proposed extension would cause some harm to the 

architectural and artistic interest of the listed building and minor harm to the 
appearance and character of the conservation area. However, in each case the 
level of harm is less than substantial under the terms of the NPPF and the 
statutory presumption can be outweighed by material considerations powerful 
enough to do so.  

 
9.37. It considered that there are clear heritage and public benefits to the proposal 

arising from helping to sustain the listed church in a long term flexible and viable 
use. This is through the positive contribution that conservation of the listed 
building, as a community asset, can make to a sustainable community, 
particularly in terms of accessibility and inclusivity.   

  
9.38. Subject to the recommended conditions, it is considered that the benefits of the 

scheme significantly outweigh the negative impacts on the heritage assets. 
Furthermore, provided the recommended mitigation, compensation and 
enhancement is implemented, the proposed development can be supported 
from an ecological perspective.  

  
9.39. Approval of the application is therefore recommended.  
  
 
10. EQUALITIES   

 
10.1. Accessibility features proposed include: a ramped access and enlarged 

entrance lobby; a fully accessible lift to first floor level; accessible WC; 
designated buggy storage area; a step lift to new timber platform at east end of 

135



OFFRPT 

nave; creation of large open-plan flexible space for use by the church and non-
secular user groups for a wide range of activities. 

 
  

136



 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE LIST 
 

COUNCILLOR REPRESENTATION 
 
Cllr. Bridget Fishleigh 
BH2022/01500 - St Margarets Church 
 
13th June 2022: 
I am writing in support of this planning application and to request that it comes to 
planning committee for a decision if your recommendation is to refuse. 
 
Many heritage buildings have had to adapt and evolve to stay relevant - and 
financially viable - and St Margaret’s is no exception. 
 
The proposed changes will make the church more accessible, provide modern 
facilities and create an additional revenue stream. 
 
I believe that the proposed extension is a sympathetic one in keeping with the 
existing building and will not impact on the street scene. 
 
I understand that there are concerns around parking and increased traffic. My 
personal observation is that gatherings at the church are mostly attended by 
locals who walk through the village to get there. 

137



138



 

DATE OF COMMITTEE: 3rd April 2024 
 

 
ITEM D 

 
 
 

  
26 Arundel Drive East  

And 22-24 Arundel Drive East  
BH2023/03197 
Full Planning 

139



140



CH
IC

HE
ST

ER
 D

RI
VE

 EA
ST

AR
UN

DE
L D

RIV
E E

AS
T

Saltdean Park (Recn Gd)

7
9

8

5

42

Close

44

33

42

21

22

43

28
30

41

18
20 32

37
35

39

16

19

35
a

37
a

22
-24

1 to 12

(c) Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence: 100020999, Brighton & Hove City Council. 2023.

BH2023 03197 - 26 Arundel Drive East And 22-24 Arundel Drive East

1:1,250Scale: ̄

141



142



OFFRPT 

No: BH2023/03197 Ward: Rottingdean & West 
Saltdean Ward 

App Type: Full Planning 

Address: 26 Arundel Drive East And 22-24 Arundel Drive East  Saltdean 
Brighton BN2 8SL      

Proposal: Change of use of 26 Arundel Drive East from residential dwelling 
(C3) to mental health care home (C2), incorporating erection of 
two storey pitched roof extensions to the North, South and East 
elevations and associated alterations and landscaping. Erection 
of single storey extension to link 26 Arundel Drive East with 22-24 
Arundel Drive East. 

 

Officer: Sonia Gillam, tel: 292265 Valid Date: 14.12.2023 

Con Area:   Expiry Date:   08.02.2024 

 

Listed Building Grade:   EOT:  10.04.2024 

Agent: SDR Designs   14 Batemans Road   Brighton   BN2 6RD                   

Applicant: The Whytecliffe Group   26 Arundel Drive East   Saltdean   Brighton   
BN2 8SL                

 
 
1. RECOMMENDATION 
 
1.1. That the Committee has taken into consideration and agrees with the reasons 

for the recommendation set out below and resolves to GRANT planning 
permission subject to the following Conditions and Informatives: 
 
Conditions:  

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved drawings listed below. 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

Plan Type Reference Version Date Received  
Location and block plan  1242023/01    14 December 2023  
Proposed Drawing  1242023/02    4 December 2023  
Proposed Drawing  1242023/03    4 December 2023  
Proposed Drawing  1242023/04    4 December 2023  
Proposed Drawing  1242023/05    4 December 2023  
Proposed Drawing  1242023/06    4 December 2023  

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration 

of three years from the date of this permission.  
Reason: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority retains the right to review 
unimplemented permissions. 

 

143



OFFRPT 

3. The premises shall be used as a residential care/ nursing home, or a secure 
residential care/ nursing home only and for no other purpose (including any other 
purpose in Classes C2 or C2A of the Schedule to the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (or in any provision equivalent to that Class 
in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification). Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, as amended (or any 
order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no 
change of use shall occur without planning permission obtained from the Local 
Planning Authority.  
Reason: The Local Planning Authority would wish to retain control over any 
subsequent change of use of these premises in the interests of safeguarding the 
amenities of the area and to comply with Policy DM20 of the Brighton & Hove 
City Plan. 

 
4. The development hereby approved shall be implemented in strict accordance 

with the internal layouts detailed on the proposed floorplans 1242023/04 and 
1242023/05 received on 4 December 2023. The internal layouts shall be 
retained as first implemented thereafter.  
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of accommodation for future 
occupiers is provided and maintained thereafter and to comply with policy DM1, 
DM4 and DM5 of the Brighton and Hove City Plan. 

 
5. The vehicle parking areas shown on the approved plans shall not be used 

otherwise than for the parking of private motor vehicles and motorcycles 
belonging to the occupants of, staff and visitors to the development hereby 
approved and shall be maintained so as to ensure their availability for such use 
at all times.  
Reason:  To ensure that adequate parking provision is retained and to comply 
with policies CP9 and DM33 of Brighton & Hove City Plan and SPD14: Parking 
Standards. 

 
6. The windows in the northern elevation of the development hereby permitted shall 

be obscure glazed and non-opening, unless the parts of the windows which can 
be opened are more than 1.7 metres above the floor of the room in which the 
window is installed, and thereafter permanently retained as such.  
Reason:  To safeguard the privacy of the occupiers of the adjoining property 
and to comply with Policies DM20 and DM21 of Brighton & Hove City Plan. 

 
7. Prior to the commencement of the external works hereby approved (including 

demolition, excavation and all preparatory work), a scheme for the protection of 
the retained trees, in accordance with BS 5837:2012, including a tree protection 
plan (TPP), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development thereafter shall be implemented in strict accordance 
with the approved details.  
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to protecting the trees which are to be 
retained on the site during construction works in the interest of the visual 
amenities of the area and for biodiversity and sustainability reasons, to comply 
with policies DM22, DM37, CP8, CP10 and CP12 of the Brighton & Hove City 
Plan and SPD06:Trees and Development Sites. 

144



OFFRPT 

 
 

8. The external finishes of the development hereby permitted shall match in 
material, colour, style, bonding and texture those of the existing building.  
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in the 
interests of the visual amenities of the area and to comply with policies DM18, 
DM21 and CP12 of the Brighton & Hove City Plan. 

 
9. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details of secure 

cycle parking facilities for the occupants of, staff and visitors to, the development 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The approved facilities shall be fully implemented and made available for use 
prior to the first occupation of the development and shall thereafter be retained 
for use at all times. 
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory facilities for the parking of cycles are 
provided and to encourage travel by means other than private motor vehicles 
and to comply with policy DM33 of Brighton & Hove City Plan Part 2, and SPD14: 
Parking Standards. 

 
10. At least one bee brick shall be incorporated within the external wall of the 

development hereby approved and shall be retained thereafter. 
Reason: To enhance the biodiversity of the site and to comply with Policy DM37 
and CP10 of the Brighton & Hove City Plan and Supplementary Planning 
Document SPD11 Nature Conservation and Development.  

 
11. The development hereby approved should achieve a minimum Energy 

Performance Certificate (EPC) rating 'C' for conversions and changes of use of 
existing buildings to residential and non-residential use.   
Reason: To improve the energy cost efficiency of existing and new development 
and help reduce energy costs to comply with policy DM44 of the Brighton & Hove 
City Plan. 

 
12. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the refuse and 

recycling storage facilities indicated on the approved plans have been fully 
implemented and made available for use. These facilities shall thereafter be 
retained for use at all times.  
Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory facilities for the storage of refuse 
and recycling and to comply with Policies DM18, CP8 of the Brighton & Hove 
City Plan and Policy WMP3e of the East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & 
Hove Waste and Minerals Local Plan Waste and Minerals Plan 

 
13. Access to the flat roofed areas of the extensions hereby approved shall be for 

maintenance or emergency purposes only and the flat roofs shall not be used 
as a roof garden, terrace, patio or similar amenity area. 
Reason: In order to protect adjoining properties from overlooking and noise 
disturbance and to comply with Policies DM20 and DM21 of  Brighton & Hove 
City Plan Part 2. 

 
Informatives: 

145



OFFRPT 

1. In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy SS1 of 
the Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One the approach to making a decision on 
this planning application has been to apply the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.  The Local Planning Authority seeks to approve 
planning applications which are for sustainable development where possible. 

  
2. To be in line with Policy DM33 of the City Plan cycle parking must be secure, 

convenient, well lit, well signed and wherever practical, sheltered. The Local 
Highway Authority's preference is for a purpose-built secure cycle store (e.g., 
Tri-metal). Alternatively stores made from other materials such as wood must be 
covered and include a concrete base with Sheffield type stands to ensure the 
main frame of the bicycle can be securely stored. All must be spaced in line with 
the guidance contained within the Manual for Streets section 8.2.22. 

  
3. Where possible, bee bricks should be placed in a south facing wall in a sunny 

location at least 1 metre above ground level and preferably adjacent to pollinator 
friendly plants. 

  
4. The applicant is advised that a formal application for connection to the public 

sewerage system is required in order to service this development. To initiate a 
sewer capacity check to identify the appropriate connection point for the 
development, please contact Southern Water, Southern House, Sparrowgrove, 
Otterbourne, Hampshire, SO21 2SW (tel 0330 303 0119), or 
www.southernwater.co.uk 

  
 
2. SITE LOCATION   

 
2.1. The application relates to a large, detached residential property (C3) at 26 

Arundel Drive East in Saltdean, which faces the green space of Saltdean Park 
to the west. The property is currently vacant.   

  
2.2. Directly adjacent to the south is the existing 32-bedroom nursing home (Arundel 

Park Lodge) at 22 & 24 Arundel Drive East (these two properties having 
previously been combined).   

  
2.3. This row of properties benefits from the distinctive green, glazed roof tiles, 

characteristic of Saltdean. The surrounding area is predominantly residential in 
character.   

  
 
3. RELEVANT HISTORY   

 
26 Arundel Drive East  

3.1. BN90 Erection of two storey side addition. Approved 11.12.1990.  
  

22-24 Arundel Drive East  
3.2. BH2015/02499 Erection of two storey side/front extension, first floor extension 

built over existing single storey extension, two storey glass extension over 

146



OFFRPT 

existing building link, ground floor infill extension and other associated works. 
Approved 25.01.2016  

  
22 Arundel Drive East  

3.3. 94/0341/FP Single storey rear extension to dining room.  Infill to front elevation 
recess and internal alterations to provide accommodation for two additional 
residents (13 in total). Approved 03.06.1994.  

  
3.4. BN90/1570F Single storey rear addition and 2no. two storey side additions to 

provide 2 for owner's occupation and 3 additional residents bedrooms. Approved 
11.12.1990.  

  
3.5. BN90/0851/F Erection of two storey rear addition to provide 5 additional 

bedrooms and 1 dining room. Refused 03.07.1990.  
  
3.6. 86/1436F Change of use of single dwellinghouse to residential care home. 

Approved 7.10.1986.  
  

24 Arundel Drive East  
3.7. BH1997/00322/FP Change of use from dwelling house to residential nursing 

home for up to 16 residents. Two storey rear extension and two storey extension 
linking to No. 22 an existing residential nursing home.  Five parking spaces. 
Approved 14.08.1997.  

  
3.8. 94/1181/FP Change of use from dwelling house to residential nursing home for 

up to 12 occupants. Elevational alterations and single storey extension linking to 
No. 22 (maximum 13 occupants). Three parking spaces. Approved 21.02.1995.  

  
 
4. APPLICATION DESCRIPTION   

 
4.1. The application relates to the proposed conversion of a large detached 

residential property (C3) at 26 Arundel Drive East into a 14-bedroom mental 
health care home (C2). It is noted that the application form refers to the proposed 
use as both C2 (care home) and C2A (secure dementia care home).  

  
4.2. The building would also be extended, by way of the erection of two storey pitched 

roof extensions to the north, south and east elevations, and the erection of a 
single storey link extension to physically connect the building to the adjacent 
existing 32-bedroom nursing home at 22 & 24 Arundel Drive East.   

  
 
5. REPRESENTATIONS 
  
5.1. Representations have been received from seven (7) people, objecting to the 

proposed development for the following reasons:  

 Inappropriate use class  

 Overdevelopment of the site  

 Detrimental visual impact   

 Loss of housing  

147



OFFRPT 

 Loss of privacy  

 Overbearing impact 

 Overshadowing and loss of light  

 Increased noise and disturbance  

 Change to the nature of area  

 The need for the facility has not been justified  

 Negative traffic / parking impacts  

 Staffing issues  

 Impact on biodiversity/ trees  

 Light pollution  

 Poor quality of the submission plans and documents  
  
5.2. Representations have been received from one (1) person supporting the 

proposed development for the following reasons:  

 Under provision of good-quality care homes  

 Provider has good reputation for care  

 Would provide specialist care which is needed  
  
5.3. Representations have been received from one (1)  person commenting on the 

proposed development for the following reasons:  

 Loss of privacy should be addressed by planning condition.  
  
 
6. CONSULTATIONS  

  
Internal:   

6.1. Arboriculture: Verbal Comment:  No objection  
Some foliage, but no significant trees to front or near proposed extension. A tree 
Protection Plan by condition would be sufficient.  

  
6.2. Health and Adult Social Care: No objection  

Proposal would be a benefit to the city.  
  
6.3. Private Sector Housing: No objection  

Assessed but no comments offered.  
  
6.4. Planning Policy: No objection  

The change of use is considered policy compliant.  
  
6.5. Sustainable Transport:   No objection  

Subject to cycle parking provision by condition.   
  

External:   
6.6. Southern Water: No objection  

A formal application for a connection to the public foul sewer is required.  
  
 
7. MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS   

148



OFFRPT 

7.1. In accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004, this decision has been taken having regard to the policies and proposals 
in the National Planning Policy Framework, the Development Plan, and all other 
material planning considerations identified in the "Considerations and 
Assessment" section of the report.  

  
7.2. The development plan is:  

 Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One (adopted March 2016);  

 Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two (adopted October 2022);  

 East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Plan 
(adopted February 2013);   

 East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Sites 
Plan (adopted February 2017);   

 Shoreham Harbour JAAP (adopted October 2019).  
  
 
8. RELEVANT POLICIES & GUIDANCE   

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)   
  
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One:   
SS1  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
SA6   Sustainable Neighbourhoods  
CP1     Housing Delivery    
CP8  Sustainable buildings  
CP9  Sustainable transport  
CP10 Biodiversity  
CP11 Flood risk  
CP12 Urban design  
CP13 Public streets and spaces  
CP14   Housing Density    
CP18 Healthy city  
CP19 Housing mix  

  
  

Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two:   
DM1  Housing Quality, Choice and Mix  
DM2  Retaining Housing and residential accommodation (C3)  
DM4   Housing and Accommodation for Older Persons  
DM5   Supported Accommodation (Specialist and Vulnerable Needs)    
DM18 High quality design and places  
DM19  Maximising development potential    
DM20 Protection of Amenity  
DM21 Extensions and alterations  
DM22 Landscape Design and Trees  
DM33 Safe, sustainable and active travel  
DM36 Parking and servicing  
DM37 Green Infrastructure and Nature Conservation  
DM40  Protection of the Environment and Health - Pollution and Nuisance  
DM43 Sustainable Drainage  
DM44 Energy Efficiency and Renewables  

149



OFFRPT 

  
Supplementary Planning Documents:   
SPD03  Construction & Demolition Waste  
SPD06  Trees & Development Sites  
SPD09 Architectural Features  
SPD11  Nature Conservation & Development  
SPD12 Design Guide for Extensions and Alterations  
SPD14  Parking Standards  
SPD17 Urban Design Framework  

  
  
9. CONSIDERATIONS & ASSESSMENT   

 
9.1. The main considerations in the determination of this application relate to the 

principle of the development; the impact of the extensions on the character and 
appearance of the building, site and streetscene; neighbour amenity, 
sustainability, biodiversity, and highways impacts.  

  
Principle of the Development:  
Loss of C3 residential use   

9.2. CPP2 Policy DM2 seeks to resist the loss of existing C3 residential 
accommodation in the city. The policy states that planning applications that 
result in the loss of residential accommodation will not be permitted unless one 
or more exceptions apply as specified in the policy criteria.  

  
9.3. The proposals are considered to be justified by criterion d) as the proposed 

change of use would provide a local community service/facility that meets an 
identified need. Specifically, the Older People's Housing Needs Assessment 
2019, which is referenced in the supporting text to CPP2 Policy DM4, identified 
a need for additional nursing care bed spaces (246 beds) for older people with 
complex care needs.   

  
9.4. Furthermore, given that the existing use of the building is as a single dwelling 

(5-bedroom family home), the creation of specialised residential care 
accommodation with 14 bed spaces would provide a net gain in residential 
accommodation overall.   

  
Proposed care accommodation   

9.5. The proposed use as a nursing home for older persons with dementia is subject 
to CPP2 Policy DM4 which requires that proposals for such developments 
should meet the following criteria, addressed below:  

  
9.6. Criteria a) the proposal demonstrates that it will contribute towards meeting an 

identified need within the city and is targeted towards the needs of local 
residents.   
  

9.7. The Council's Health and Adult Social Care team supports the proposal as there 
is an identified need for additional nursing care accommodation for older people 
with complex needs and the proposed care facility would help address this.  

  

150



OFFRPT 

9.8. Criteria b) The site is accessible to public transport, shops, services, community 
facilities, and social networks appropriate to the needs of the intended occupiers;   

  
9.9. The site is reasonably accessible being about 5-10 mins walk from shops and 

facilities at Longridge Avenue (which is defined as a Local Centre) from where 
there are also frequent bus services to other parts of the city.  

  
9.10. Criteria c) to f) relate to the standard of facilities proposed.  
  
9.11. In general design terms the layout appears acceptable, and the ensuite bedroom 

sizes (16m2 - 28m2) would meet policy requirements in terms of Policy DM1. 
The application states that all bedrooms would have ensuite bathroom/ wet 
rooms and adequate useable floor area as stated in the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) guidelines for Residential Care / Nursing Homes.   

  
9.12. There would also be a communal bathroom/ wet room on the first floor, and 

communal living room/ dining area space on the ground floor. Catering would be 
provided by existing facilities within the adjoining care home at 22-24 Arundel 
Drive East.   

  
9.13. There would be a communal garden to the rear of the premises and the applicant 

has advised that an area to allow residents to grow plants/ food can be easily 
provided within the garden.  

  
9.14. The applicant has confirmed that a sleeping area for staff / visitors is not part of 

the proposals and is not provided within the existing Care Home at 22 - 24 
Arundel Drive East. The residents require, and are provided with, 24 hour care 
to hand. Therefore, staff do not require a sleeping area and visitors would not 
be provided with such a facility.   

  
9.15. The Council's Health and Adult Social Care team supports the proposal as it 

would help meet an identified need and would be of benefit to the city. The 
Council's Planning Policy Officer has advised that the application is policy 
compliant, and therefore has no objections. The proposal would comply with City 
Plan Part Two policies DM1, DM2 and DM4. The principle of the change of use 
is therefore considered acceptable subject to further planning considerations 
below.  

  
Design and Appearance:   

9.16. The building would be extended, by way of the erection of two storey pitched 
roof extensions to the north, south and east elevations. It is acknowledged that 
the proposed physical works would be substantial, almost doubling the existing 
floorspace of the property. However, it is recognised that the development would 
bring the property in line with a size commensurate of the existing care home 
buildings at nos. 22 and 24 Arundel Drive East.  

  
9.17. The general character of the front elevation, including the height, materials and 

front projection, would be retained, albeit with increased width and massing to 
either side. The property has sufficient space surrounding it and the resulting 
development would not appear excessive or unduly prominent within the 

151



OFFRPT 

streetscene, particularly given the size and appearance of the adjoining 
properties. New parapet walls are proposed to the front elevation to match the 
style of the adjoining properties and to provide an element of uniformity in the 
streetscene.  

  
9.18. The rear and side elevations, again, would appear much increased in size and 

massing, however, the general design and roof form is considered to remain in 
character with the existing building. The proposed single storey link extension to 
physically connect to the adjacent existing care home at 22 & 24 Arundel Drive 
East is considered discreet and appropriate and matches the style of the existing 
link between 22 and 24.  

  
9.19. Overall, the extensions and alterations are considered suitable additions to the 

building that would not harm its appearance or that of the wider area, in 
accordance with policy CP12 of the City Plan Part One, DM21 of City Plan Part 
2 and SPD12 guidance. Materials, including the characteristic green roofs, are 
proposed to match the existing building and this is proposed to be secured by 
condition.  

  
Impact on Amenity:   

9.20. Policy DM20 of City Plan Part 2 states that planning permission for any 
development or change of use will not be granted where it would cause 
unacceptable loss of amenity to the proposed, existing and/or adjacent users, 
residents, occupiers or where it is liable to be detrimental to human health.   

  
9.21. The impact on the adjacent properties has been fully considered in terms of 

overbearing impact, loss of daylight, sunlight, outlook and privacy and no 
significant harm has been identified.   

  
9.22. The proposed rear extensions would bring the building in line with the adjacent 

properties to the south on this stretch of Arundel Drive East. The remodelled 
building would be closer to the properties in Chichester Drive East to the rear, 
however these neighbouring properties are at a higher ground level and there 
would be a separation distance of at least 17 metres which is considered an 
appropriate relationship and in character with this suburban area. Views from 
the development would be similar to those obtainable within the existing building 
and the additional bulk is not considered to cause any significant loss of light to 
the properties to the rear.   

  
9.23. The proposed development to the north would bring the building closer to no. 28 

Arundel Drive East which has an existing window and a raised terrace to its 
south elevation. The proposed extension would extend c.3m on the northern 
side and be set close to the boundary. The resulting development is still however 
considered to be set a sufficient distance away from the principal dwelling at 28 
Arundel Drive East and there is not considered to be an overbearing impact from 
the added bulk on this boundary. Whilst the bulk to the northern boundary would 
increase the overall eaves height of the two-storey extension would remain the 
same as existing. Number 28 Arundel Drive East is also set at a higher land level 
than the application site which helps to mitigate this impact. The neighbouring 
property would continue to retain an open westerly aspect and given its raised 

152



OFFRPT 

land level would not suffer demonstrable harm from overbearing or loss of 
outlook from the proposal. The windows in the northern elevation of the 
proposed development would serve bathrooms and, given that they would be 
obscured glazed, would not result in overlooking or loss of privacy. Small flat 
roof parapet areas are proposed at first floor level, however these do not appear 
accessible from the bedrooms and a condition is recommended to ensure that 
they are not utilised as external amenity spaces.   

  
9.24. The development would not cause any harmful impact to properties in 

Linchmere Avenue to the north, given the generous separation distances 
involved, and there are no properties sited directly to the front/ west.   

  
9.25. Objections have been received from neighbours in terms of potential noise from 

residents, particularly with regard to use of the garden area. This is noted, 
however, it is considered reasonable that residents would use the rear garden 
in much the same way as occupiers of the dwellinghouse. It is recognised that 
the managers of a care home of this nature would be mindful to mitigate activity 
that may give rise to ongoing harmful disturbance to guests, visitors and 
neighbours. In that regard it is considered that the management of the garden 
area may be left to the those who operate the proposed facility. It is considered 
that the expected noise and activity associated by a staffed care home of this 
size would not be so significant as to warrant refusal of the application.     

 
9.26. Subject to conditions the proposal is considered to be in accordance with policy 

DM20 of the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part Two. 
 

Sustainable Transport:   
9.27. A small area of off-street parking is proposed for staff/ visitor parking. The site is 

located outside of the Controlled Parking Zones, which would mitigate concerns 
regarding parking stress caused by visiting vehicles. It is recommended that 
cycle parking provision should be secured through a condition to ensure facilities 
are provided.   

  
9.28. The Highways Officer has advised that the proposed development is anticipated 

to result in a slightly reduced number of trips generated by the site, which would 
result in a positive impact and therefore has no objections to the proposed 
scheme.  

  
Sustainability/ Biodiversity:   

9.29. CPP2 Policy DM44 requires conversions and changes of use of existing 
buildings to residential and non-residential use to achieve a minimum energy 
Performance Certificate EPC rating 'C'. This is proposed to be secured by 
condition.  

  
9.30. A condition requiring bee bricks is also recommended to improve ecology 

outcomes on the site in accordance with the Policy CP10 of the Brighton & Hove 
City Plan Part One and SPD11 Nature Conservation and Development  

  
Other considerations:   

153



OFFRPT 

9.31. The Council's Arboriculture Officer has assessed the scheme and noted that no 
trees of significance are sited to the front of the site, or close to the proposed 
extensions. It is considered that the submission of a Tree Protection Plan would 
be sufficient to protect any existing trees on site during development. This is 
proposed to be secured by condition. 

  
 
10. EQUALITIES   

 
10.1. During the determination of this application due regard has been given to the 

impact of this scheme in relation to the Equality Act 2010 in terms of the 
implications for those with protected characteristics namely age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. There is no indication that 
those with any of these protected characteristics would be disadvantaged by this 
development.   

  
10.2. The application states that proposed bedrooms would have an ensuite wet room 

and adequate useable floor area as stated in the Care Quality Commission 
guidelines for Residential Care / Nursing Homes. A new ramped access to front 
entrance door from the off-street parking area is proposed. The Council's 
Highways Office has advised that the location and gradients of the ramped 
access are deemed satisfactory for accessibility purposes. There is a lift to 
access the first floor.  

 
   
 

154



 

DATE OF COMMITTEE: 3rd April 2024 
 

 
ITEM E 

 
 
 

  
Flat 13, St Gabriels, 18A Wellington Road 

BH2023/03432 
Full Planning 

155



156



ROAD

WELLINGTON ROAD
ESS

NO
RM

AN
TO

N 
ST

RE
ET

DE
 M

ON
TF

OR
T R

OA
D

UPPER WELLINGTON ROAD
ST MARTIN'S PLACE

El Sub Sta

c

9

8

1

b
d

2

3

7

6

PH

Nurses H
ome

Morley Lodge

1c

Elim

Johnson
 Bank

Barc
lay 

Hous
e

Napier House

11

55

1a

15

21

18

65

39

1422

16

13

66

24

28

27

10

23

44

47

37

26 59

12

17

35

69

67

42

19

51

34

40

25

79

20

Court

16c

Vicar
age

180

169

172

16a

26a

166

179

165

Balchin Court

St Martin's Flats

Hall

1 to 12

1 to
 37

Church

Shelter

1

26

14

Shelter

1 to
 37

37

22

19

23

8

1

1

Sh
elte

r

1

2

1 to
 37

15

10

11

14

6

310

2

16

34

11

2

1

16

12

15

24

21

39

47

2

(c) Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence: 100020999, Brighton & Hove City Council. 2023.

BH2023 03432 - Flat 13, St Gabriels, 18A Wellington Road

1:1,250Scale: ̄

157



158



OFFRPT 

No: BH2023/03432 Ward: Hanover & Elm Grove Ward 

App Type: Full Planning 

Address: Flat 13 St Gabriels 18A Wellington Road Brighton BN2 3DJ     

Proposal: Change of use from studio flat (C3) to three bedroom small house 
in multiple occupation (C4) with installation of front and side 
dormers and rear rooflights.  

 

Officer: Steven Dover, tel:  Valid Date: 12.01.2024 

Con Area:   Expiry Date:   08.03.2024 

 

Listed Building Grade:   EOT:  10.04.2024 

Agent: Clive Hawkins Architects Ltd   114 Mackie Avenue   Brighton   BN1 
8RD                   

Applicant: M & S Developments   8 Overhill Way    Brighton   BN1 8WP                   

  
 
1. RECOMMENDATION 
 
1.1. That the Committee has taken into consideration and agrees with the reasons 

for the recommendation set out below and resolves to GRANT planning 
permission subject to the following Conditions and Informatives: 

 
Conditions:  

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved drawings listed below. 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
Plan Type Reference Version Date Received  
Location Plan  LOC PLN    29 December 2023  
Proposed Drawing  24   C 11 March 2024  
Proposed Drawing  25    29 December 2023  
Proposed Drawing  26    29 December 2023  

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration 

of three years from the date of this permission.  
Reason: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority retains the right to review 
unimplemented permissions. 

 
3. The C4 HMO development hereby approved shall be implemented in strict 

accordance with the layout detailed on the proposed floor plan ref. 24 C received 
on 11th March 2024 and shall be retained as such thereafter. The layout of the 
kitchen and living spaces shall be retained as communal space at all times and 
shall not be used as bedrooms. Bedroom 3 shall only be used for occupation by 
one (1) person.   

159



OFFRPT 

Reason: To ensure a suitable standard of accommodation for occupiers and to 
comply with Policies DM1, DM7 and DM20 of the Brighton & Hove City Plan Part 
Two. 

 
4. The development hereby approved shall only be occupied by a maximum of five 

(5) persons.   
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of accommodation for future 
occupiers and to comply with Policies DM1, DM7 and DM20 of the Brighton & 
Hove City Plan Part Two. 

 
5. The front and side dormers of the development hereby permitted shall match in 

material, colour, style and size, those of the existing dormers on the front 
roofslope.  
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in the 
interests of the visual amenities of the area and to comply with policies DM18 of 
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part 2 and CP15 of the Brighton & Hove City Plan 
Part One. 

 
6. The rooflights hereby approved shall have steel or cast metal frames colour-

finished black or dark grey, fitted flush with the adjoining roof surface and shall 
not project above the plane of the roof.  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and to comply 
with policies DM18 and DM28 of Brighton & Hove City Plan Part 2, and CP15 of 
the Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One. 

 
7. The C4 HMO development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details 

of secure cycle parking facilities for the occupants of, and visitors to, the 
development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved facilities shall be fully implemented and made 
available for use prior to the first occupation of the development and shall 
thereafter be retained for use at all times.  
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory facilities for the parking of cycles are 
provided and to encourage travel by means other than private motor vehicles 
and to comply with policy DM33 of Brighton & Hove City Plan Part 2, and SPD14: 
Parking Standards. 

 
Informatives: 

1. In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy SS1 of 
the Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One the approach to making a decision on 
this planning application has been to apply the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.  The Local Planning Authority seeks to approve 
planning applications which are for sustainable development where possible. 

  
 
2. SITE LOCATION   

 
2.1. The application relates to a significant detached Victorian two-storey villa, on the 

eastern side of Wellington Road. Although not located within a conservation 
area, the building is Locally Listed.     

 

160



OFFRPT 

3. RELEVANT HISTORY   
 

3.1. BH2023/00659 -: Conversion of roof space to form 1no studio unit (C3) 
incorporating rear dormers. (Retrospective). Approved   

  
3.2. BH2022/01128 -: Non-material amendment to application BH2021/02079 to 

allow repositioning of one rear dormer. Refused for the following reason:  
The proposed amendments to approved scheme (BH2021/02079) would be 
materially different from the scheme as approved and therefore constitute a 
material amendment with the works falling outside of the scope of the original 
planning permission.  

  
3.3. BH2021/02079 -: Conversion of roof space to form 3no studio units (C3) 

incorporating front and side dormers. Approved   
  
3.4. BH2020/02968 -: Conversion of existing 1no three bedroom and 1no two 

bedroom flats (C3) at first floor level to form 1no one bedroom, 1no two bedroom 
and 1no three bedroom flats (C3). Refused for the following reasons:  

 
3.5. The proposed development would not provide any suitable family 

accommodation by virtue of insufficient space within the proposed units and so 
would be contrary to part b) of policy HO9 of the Brighton and Hove Local Plan.  

  
3.6. The development would provide an inadequate standard of accommodation in 

two of the proposed dwellings with insufficient space for the potential level of 
occupancy and inadequate living areas. For this reason the proposed 
development is contrary to policy QD27 of the Brighton and Hove Local Plan.  

 
 
4. APPLICATION DESCRIPTION  

 
4.1. The application seeks approval for the change of use from a studio flat (C3 Use 

Class) to a three bedroom small house in multiple occupation (C4 Use Class) 
with the installation of one front roofslope dormer, one side roofslope dormer 
and two rear roofslope rooflights.  

  
4.2. The works would involve predominantly utilising the existing roof space, adjacent 

to the current studio (flat 13), with the minimal external changes to the bulk and 
form of the existing building from the proposed new dormers and rooflights only. 
The existing roof and envelope of the building would otherwise remain unaltered.  

  
4.3. The proposed development has been substantially amended during the course 

of the application due to concerns raised by Officers regarding the quality and 
amount of space provided for future residents. The application was originally for 
a five (5) bedroom HMO, this has now been reduced to a three (3) bedroom 
HMO within the same floorspace. This has increased the size of the proposed 
bedrooms and living/communal space per future occupant.  

  
 
5. REPRESENTATIONS   

161



OFFRPT 

 
5.1. Objections from six (6) people raising the following issues:  

 Adverse effect on/not in keeping with listed building  

 Detrimental effect on property value  

 Inappropriate Height of Development  

 Noise  

 Overdevelopment  

 Overshadowing  

 Poor design  

 Too close to the boundary  

 Traffic/highways issues  
  
5.2. Support from six (6) people raising the following issues:  

 Good design  

 No detrimental effects on neighbourhood  
   
 
6. CONSULTATIONS    

 
6.1. Heritage:  No objection subject to condition   

The proposed front dormer would bring some symmetry to the front elevation. 
The other elements of the scheme relate to less visible or less significant parts 
of the building and no objection is raised on heritage grounds. A condition for 
the proposed dormers to match the existing is recommended. 

  
6.2. Highways: Verbal Comments No objection   

Acceptable, subject to cycle parking condition  
  
6.3. Private sector housing:  No comment   
  
6.4. Southern Water:  Comment   

Southern Water requires a formal application for any new connection to the 
public sewer.  

  
 
7. MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS  

  
7.1. In accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004, this decision has been taken having regard to the policies and proposals 
in the National Planning Policy Framework, the Development Plan, and all other 
material planning considerations identified in the "Considerations and 
Assessment" section of the report  

  
7.2. The development plan is:  

 Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One (adopted March 2016);  

 Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two (adopted October 2022);  

 East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Plan 
(adopted February 2013);   

162



OFFRPT 

 East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Sites 
Plan (adopted February 2017);   

 Shoreham Harbour JAAP (adopted October 2019).  
  
8. POLICIES   

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)   
  
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One   
SS1  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
CP1  Housing delivery  
CP8  Sustainable buildings  
CP9  Sustainable transport  
CP10 Biodiversity  
CP12 Urban design  
CP14 Housing density  
CP15 Heritage  
CP19 Housing mix  
CP21 Student housing and Housing in Multiple Occupation  

  
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two:   
DM1     Housing Quality, Choice and Mix  
DM7   Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs)  
DM18   High quality design and places  
DM20   Protection of Amenity  
DM21   Extensions and alterations  
DM28   Locally Listed Heritage Assets  
DM33  Safe, Sustainable and Active Travel   
DM37   Green Infrastructure and Nature Conservation  
DM40   Protection of the Environment and Health - Pollution and Nuisance  
DM44 Energy Efficiency and Renewables  

  
Supplementary Planning Documents:   
SPD03  Construction & Demolition Waste  
SPD09 Architectural Features  
SPD11  Nature Conservation & Development  
SPD12 Design Guide for Extensions and Alterations  
SPD14  Parking Standards  
SPD17  Urban Design Framework  

  
 
9. CONSIDERATIONS & ASSESSMENT   

 
9.1. Previously planning permission has been approved and implemented for the 

conversion of the buildings roof space into 3 flats under BH2021/02079 and 
BH2023/00659 (Flat 13). These works are complete and included the provision 
of two rear dormers.   

  
9.2. The main considerations in the determination of this application relate to the 

principle of the development, the visual impact of the development on the 
character and appearance of the site and wider area, the standard of 

163



OFFRPT 

accommodation provided for existing and future residents, potential impacts on 
the amenities of neighbouring properties, and transport and sustainability 
considerations.  

  
Principle of development  

9.3. This application seeks conversion of the existing roof space from 1no studio unit 
(C3) to a three bedroom small house in multiple occupation (C4).  

  
Housing:  

9.4. Policy CP1 in City Plan Part One sets a minimum housing provision target of 
13,200 new homes for the city up to 2030. However, on 24 March 2021 the City 
Plan Part One reached five years since adoption. National planning policy states 
that where strategic policies are more than five years old, local housing need 
calculated using the Government's standard method should be used in place of 
the local plan housing requirement. The local housing need figure for Brighton & 
Hove using the standard method is 2,328 homes per year. This includes a 35% 
uplift applied as one of the top 20 urban centres nationally.  

  
9.5. The council's most recent housing land supply position is published in the 

SHLAA Update 2022 which shows a five-year housing supply shortfall of 7,711 
(equivalent to 1.8 years of housing supply).  

  
9.6. As the council is currently unable to demonstrate a five-year housing land 

supply, increased weight should be given to housing delivery when considering 
the planning balance in the determination of planning applications, in line with 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in the NPPF 
(paragraph 11).  

  
9.7. The NPPF (paragraph 8a) highlights the social objective, that development 

should support strong, vibrant and healthy communities by ensuring that a 
sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the present and 
future generations.  
 

9.8. The proposed development would not alter the amount of residential 
development in the City as the existing dwelling and that proposed would both 
fall within residential use Classes. The existing studio is Use Class C3 
(dwellinghouses) and the proposed is Use Class C4 (House in multiple 
occupation) for not more than six residents.  

  
9.9. As a principle of development, therefore, the change of use from C3 to C4 has 

a neutral effect on the current housing shortfall and is given no additional weight 
in the determination of the application.  

  
Change of use to C4 HMO:  

9.10. Policy CP21 of the Brighton and Hove City Plan Part One specifically addresses 
the issue of changes of use to planning use class C4, a mixed C3/C4 use or to 
a sui generis House in Multiple Occupation and states that:   
"In order to support mixed and balanced communities and to ensure that a range 
of housing needs continue to be accommodated throughout the city, applications 
for the change of use to a Class C4 (Houses in Multiple Occupation) use, a 

164



OFFRPT 

mixed C3/C4, or to a sui generis House in Multiple Occupation use (more than 
six people sharing) will not be permitted where:   

 More than 10 per cent of dwellings within a radius of 50 metres of the 
application site are already in use as Class C4, mixed C3/C4 or other types 
of HMO in a sui generis use."   

    
9.11. A mapping exercise has been undertaken (March 2024) which indicates that 

there are 178 properties within a 50m radius of the application property, three of 
which have been identified as being in HMO use. The percentage of 
neighbouring properties in HMO use within the radius area is thus 1.69%.   

  
9.12. Based on the percentage of neighbouring properties in HMO use, which is less 

than 10%, the change of use to a three (3) bedroom HMO (Use Class C4) would 
not conflict with the aims of policy CP21.   

  
9.13. Policy DM7 of CPP2 includes additional criteria to those set out in Policy CP21, 

and states the following:   
"Applications for new build HMOs, and applications for the change of use to a 
C4 use, a mixed C3/C4 use or to a sui generis HMO use, will be permitted where 
the proposal complies with City Plan Part One Policy CP21 and all of the 
following criteria are met:   
a)  fewer than 20% of dwellings in the wider neighbourhood area are already 

in use as HMOs;   
b)  the proposal does not result in a non-HMO dwelling being sandwiched 

between two existing HMOs in a continuous frontage;   
c)  the proposal does not lead to a continuous frontage of three or more 

HMOs;   
d)  the internal and private outdoor space standards provided comply with 

Policy DM1 Housing Quality, Choice and Mix;   
e)  communal living space and cooking and bathroom facilities are provided 

appropriate in size to the expected number of occupants."   
   
9.14. Criterion a) has been assessed (March 2024) and the percentage of HMO 

dwellings in the wider neighbourhood area has been calculated at 10.63% and 
therefore criterion a) has been met.   

  
9.15. Criterion b) The area has been assessed and it is confirmed that the proposal 

would not 'sandwich' a non-HMO between two existing HMOs in a continuous 
frontage; and would not lead to a continuous frontage of three or more HMOs so 
accords with criterion (c).   

  
9.16. Considerations regarding amenity space and communal living (criteria d and e) 

are set out below.   
  
9.17. On this basis, the scheme is considered to accord with policy CP21 of the 

Brighton and Hove City Plan Part One and policy DM7 of the Brighton and Hove 
City Plan Part Two. 

  
Standard of accommodation   

165



OFFRPT 

9.18. The 'Nationally Described Space Standards' (NDSS) were introduced by the 
Department for Communities and Local Government in 2015 to establish 
acceptable minimum floor space for new build developments. These space 
standards have now been formally adopted into the Brighton and Hove City Plan 
Part Two in Policy DM1 and the development is assessed in relation to these 
standards. Additionally, the proposals are also considered against DM7 which 
sets the standard for HMOs (including what is expected of communal areas).  

  
9.19. The Local Planning Authority considers both quantitative and qualitative issues 

raised with regards to the standard of accommodation for future occupiers.  
  
9.20. The proposal would involve the extension of the existing studio flat and roof void 

to form a three (3) bedroom small HMO within the roof space.    
 
9.21. The standards adopted within DM1, mirror that of the NDSS, and require that 

new development should have a minimum ceiling height of 2.3 metres for at least 
75% of the proposed floorspace. The proposed ceiling heights are shown on the 
proposed floor plan, with dotted lines showing the extent of the ceiling at 2.3m, 
2m and 1.5m (the minimum height proposed).  

 
9.22. The proposed C4 HMO would have 3no. bedrooms with a total proposed floor 

area of 127m2 above 1.5m height. 63m2 of this would be above 2.3m in height.  
 
9.23. The proposed unit has 3 bedrooms and as 63m2 of the proposed unit would 

have a 2.3m ceiling height it is considered that it falls into the category of a 3B5P 
(three bed - five person)  unit with an overall minimum floorspace requirement 
of 86m2.  
 

9.24. The proportion of ceiling height over 2.3m is 1.5m2 below that which would be 
expected of a 3B5P unit (64.5m2) but considering the substantial total floorspace 
(127m2), the slight deficit is considered acceptable in this very specific instance.  

  
9.25. The proposed accommodation would comprise a living room/kitchen (39 m2), 

separate storage area, two bathrooms/showers and three bedrooms which vary 
in size (15sqm - 18sqm), - with two double beds and one single bed indicated 
due to restricted head height below 2.3m. 

  
9.26. The standards set within DM1 require a floorspace of 7.5m2 for a single 

bedspace and 11.5m2 for a double bedspace.  Bed 1 and Bed 2 would be 18m2 
(doubles) and Bed 3 would be 15.7m2 (single – due to restricted head-height). 
All of the bedrooms would be of adequate size and could accommodate standard 
bedroom furniture (bed, desk, chair and storage furniture) while maintaining a 
sufficient amount of circulation space for adult/s to move around. The restricted 
head height below 2.3m in each of the bedrooms is considered acceptable, due 
the overall amount of floorspace provided which is well above the minimum 
required.  

  
9.27. The kitchen and living space would allow for sufficient space for occupants to 

cook and dine together and would exceed the communal space guidelines under 
Policy DM7 for five persons. 

166



OFFRPT 

  
9.28. The proposed HMO would be served in terms of bathroom facilities by two 

shower rooms with associated W.C. and washbasin.  
  

9.29. The overall space would be functional with sufficient levels of circulation space, 
light and outlook and would therefore provide an acceptable standard of 
accommodation for up to five (5) persons. All the bedrooms proposed meet the 
government's minimum space standards for the number of occupiers proposed 
and would have good or sufficient levels of natural light and outlook.  

  
9.30. The proposed HMO would not have any outdoor amenity space provided and 

whilst outdoor space is beneficial to all homes, given the location of the property 
within the densely populated area of the city where many properties generally 
have little, if any outside space, it is not considered that lack of outside space 
would be harmful to the future occupiers of the HMO sufficient to warrant refusal 
of the application. In reaching this assessment it is noted that the property is 
close to The Level and William Clarke parks which are the nearest green and 
open spaces located to the south west and north east of the site respectively. 

 
9.31. The above assessment has been made on the dwelling being used as a three-

bedroom, five-person HMO. The ceiling heights and the indicative layout 
demonstrate that a higher level of occupation would likely result in a cramped 
living experience for more than five occupants, with insufficient circulating space 
within the communal areas and bedroom 3 in particular. Conditions are therefore 
recommended to secure a maximum occupation of five persons and three 
bedrooms, with the proposed floor plan retained.    

 
9.32. Subject to the recommended conditions the proposed HMO is therefore 

considered in accordance with policies DM1 and DM7 of the Brighton and Hove 
City Plan Part Two.  

 
Design and Appearance   

9.33. The proposed works involve reorientation of the existing studio flat and 
extending into the existing roof void. Two new dormers would be created with 
both matching the appearance of the current dormers to the building in width, 
height and form. The new front dormer would be located to the north-west 
elevation in such a position that it would mirror and balance the existing front 
dormers, well located above lower floor windows. The new side dormer located 
to the north-east elevation would be the first to this roofslope and due to roof 
form it cannot be located above the existing fenestration. The materials for both 
would match the existing dormers and roofslope. Due to the matching form, 
materials and placement on the roof the proposed dormers are considered 
acceptable, and no objection has been raised by the Heritage Officer with 
regards to impacting on the historic character and appearance of this locally 
listed building.  

  
9.34. The new rooflights (2) proposed to the rear elevation would be located to the 

north of the existing rear dormers and roughly in line with the existing 
fenestration below. Due to the limited visibility in the public realm and located on 
the rear roofslope these rooflights are considered appropriate.  

167



OFFRPT 

  
9.35. Subject to conditions to secure appropriate materials and form the proposed 

dormers and rooflights are considered suitable alterations to the building that 
would not have any adverse impacts on the appearance of the locally listed 
building or wider area in accordance with polices CP15 of the City Plan One and 
DM21 and DM28 of the City plan Part Two.   

  
Impact on Amenity   

9.36. Policy DM20 of City Plan Part 2 states that planning permission for any 
development or change of use will not be granted where it would cause 
unacceptable loss of amenity to the proposed, existing and/or adjacent users, 
residents, occupiers or where it is liable to be detrimental to human health.    

  
9.37. The impact on adjacent properties has been fully considered in terms of daylight, 

sunlight, outlook and privacy, and no significant harm has been identified. The 
new dormers would not affect any other properties with their form, likewise the 
proposed rooflights.   

  
9.38. No increase in overlooking would occur from the front fenestration, as this would 

overlook parking areas and the highway and already has a high degree of mutual 
overlooking. To the side and rear the new fenestration overlooks gardens which 
already sustain a relatively large degree of mutual overlooking from existing 
residential windows. The slim profile of the dormers and rooflights, set within 
sloped ceilings of the proposed HMO, mean the potential impact of overlooking 
is further reduced, limiting oblique views to the neighbouring properties and the 
amount of outlook.   

  
9.39. It is recognised, as raised in comments received, that the dormers/rooflights 

introduce elevated views into neighbouring gardens however it is considered 
that the potential amenity impacts of the development do not result in additional 
significant harm over the existing situation. 

    
9.40. The proposed change of use from a studio to a small HMO (for a maximum of 5 

persons) may create more comings and goings from the property and in a 
different pattern to the existing use, however, it is not considered that the 
additional comings and goings from a small HMO use would amount to a level 
of noise and disturbance that would warrant refusal of the application, including 
to existing residential units in the property as well as neighbouring properties. 
However this would only be on the basis that sound insulation between the 
proposed HMO and existing residents is sufficient to mitigate. Therefore a 
condition would be attached to ensure that adequate sound insultation is 
provided and verified by the LPA prior to first occupation as an HMO. 

  
9.41. The amenity and living conditions of the future occupants has already been 

assessed and discussed and found acceptable in the standard of 
accommodation section of this report.    

  
9.42. The proposed works would not cause significant harm to amenity in accordance 

with Policy DM1, DM7 and DM20 of City Plan Part Two.  
  

168



OFFRPT 

Sustainable Transport:   
Cycle Parking  

9.43. This proposal requires a minimum of three cycle spaces for the proposed HMO. 
The exact details and provision of this cycle parking will be secured by condition 
for approval by the LPA prior to first use of the development.  

  
Servicing  

9.44. The applicant is not proposing any significant alteration to the current servicing 
and delivery arrangements to this site and for this development this is deemed 
acceptable.    

  
Car Parking  

9.45. The applicant is proposing no new parking spaces associated with the new 
dwelling. This accords with the Parking Standards in SPD14. Highways Officers 
have confirmed they find the lack of new onsite parking arrangement suitable 
and any increase in trips would not have a significant impact on highway network 
and safety. The site is located with the Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) V, so any 
on street parking is controlled via permit.  

  
Ecology  

9.46. Policy CP10 of the City Plan Part One and DM37 of City Plan Part Two seeks to 
ensure that all new development proposals conserve existing biodiversity, 
protecting it from the negative indirect effects of development including noise 
and light pollution.   

  
9.47. The Council has adopted the practice of securing minor design alterations to 

schemes with the aim of encouraging the biodiversity of a site, particularly with 
regards to protected species. In this case as the external works are only to the 
roof slopes of the existing building the application of conditions for Bee Bricks or 
Swift Boxes is not considered appropriate.  

  
Conclusion  

9.48. The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle as it 
meets the requirements of Brighton and Hove City Plan Part Two policies DM1 
and DM7. In terms of the design approach the proposal would not result in harm 
to the appearance and character of the property and would be in accordance 
with Brighton and Hove City Plan Part Two policies DM18, DM21 and DM28. 
The amenity of the existing and future occupiers would not be significantly 
harmed and accords with policies DM1, DM7 and DM20 of the City Plan Part 
Two. For the reasons above the proposal is recommended for approval.  

  
Community Infrastructure Levy  

9.49. Under the Regulations of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 2010 (as 
amended), Brighton & Hove City Council adopted its CIL on 23 July 2020 and 
began charging on all CIL liable planning applications on and from the 5 October 
2020.The exact amount would be confirmed in the CIL liability notice which 
would be issued as soon as is practicable after the issuing of any planning 
permission.   

  
 

169



OFFRPT 

10. EQUALITIES   
 

10.1. During the determination of this application due regard has been given to the 
impact of this scheme in relation to the Equality Act 2010 in terms of the 
implications for those with protected characteristics namely age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. The works would provide an 
upper storey HMO in existing property which would not be accessible to those 
reliant on a wheelchair, but there is no indication that it would otherwise affect 
those with protected characteristic.   

  
10.2. The main property has stepped access. This would not change as part of the 

development proposed and access would still remain more difficult for those who 
have restricted mobility or visibility.  

 
 
  
  

  
  

 

170



 

DATE OF COMMITTEE: 3rd April 2024 
 

 
ITEM F 

 
 
 

  
Brighton Museum and Art Gallery 

BH2024/00057 
Full Planning 

171



172



CHURCH STREET

NE
W 

RO
AD

PR
INC

E'S
 PL

AC
E

Pa
vil

ion
 M

ew
s MA

RL
BO

RO
UG

H 
PL

AC
E

Prince Regent Swimming Complex

Posts Play Area

El Sub Sta

5
31

7 8
2

4
3c

Pavilion Gardens

15

23

12

10
13

3b
24

25
26

22

2920
19

17

52

(PH)

Dome

House

Studio

Church

Brighton

The Old

119

114
115

118
120

109

163

100

North Gate

PH

PC

Co
rn 

Ex
ch

an
ge

Art Gallery and Museum

1 t
o 5

Royal

Hotel

Gateway
1 to 32

1 to 20

Indian

31
 to

 32

13
 to

 16

PH 7

1

3

1

1

2

23

1

15

(P
H)

(c) Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence: 100020999, Brighton & Hove City Council. 2023.

BH2024 00057 - Brighton Museum And Art Gallery

1:1,250Scale: ̄

173



174



OFFRPT 

No: BH2024/00057 Ward: West Hill & North Laine Ward 

App Type: Full Planning 

Address: Brighton Museum And Art Gallery Pavilion Buildings Brighton 
BN1 1EE      

Proposal: Replacement of roof lantern above 20th Century Gallery with lead 
roof, insulation works, rerouting of ductwork, renewal of roof void 
walkway and installation of secondary means of escape from 
North end of roof void. Repair and renewal works to slate roof 
coverings, leadwork, joinery and guttering. 

 

Officer: Rebecca Smith, tel: 291075 Valid Date: 09.01.2024 

Con Area:  Valley Gardens  Expiry Date:   05.03.2024 

 

Listed Building Grade:  Grade II* EOT:  10.04.2024 

Agent: Donald Insall Associates   12 Devonshire Street   London   W1G 7AB                   

Applicant: Brighton And Hove Museums   Brighton Museum And Art Gallery    
Royal Pavilion Gardens   Brighton   BN1 1EE                

 
 
1. RECOMMENDATION 
 
1.1. That the Committee has taken into consideration and agrees with the reasons 

for the recommendation set out below and resolves to GRANT planning 
permission subject to the following Conditions and Informatives: 
 
Conditions:  

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved drawings listed below. 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
Plan Type Reference Version Date Received  
Location Plan  4000   P02 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  2000   P01 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  2001   P03 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  2002   P04 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  2101   P04 9 January 2024  

Proposed Drawing  2102   P02 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  2102   P02 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  2200   P04 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  2201   P04 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  3001   P02 9 January 2024  

Proposed Drawing  3002   P02 9 January 2024  
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission.  

175



OFFRPT 

Reason: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority retains the right to review 
unimplemented permissions. 

 
3. The works hereby permitted shall not commence until a statement setting out 

details of all proposed new joinery structures and joinery repair, including the 
proposed new secondary means of escape have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. These shall include drawings 
and sections where necessary at a scale of 1:5. The works shall be implemented 
in strict accordance with the agreed details and maintained as such thereafter.  
Reason: As insufficient information has been submitted, to ensure the 
satisfactory preservation of this listed building and to comply with policies DM27 
of Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two, and CP15 of the Brighton & Hove City 
Plan Part One.  

 
4. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until 

details/samples of all new external materials including glazing, slates, lead, grills 
and panels have been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. 
Development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved details.   
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory preservation of this listed building and to 
comply with policies DM27 of Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two, and CP15 of 
the Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One. 

 
5. Prior to the commencement of development, samples of existing historic paint 

finishes should be taken, both externally and internally, and shall be used to 
inform the proposed new paint finishes. A report demonstrating this, including 
paint samples and specifications of the proposed finishes chosen shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works 
shall be implemented in strict accordance with the agreed details and maintained 
as such thereafter.   
Reason: As insufficient information has been submitted, to ensure the 
satisfactory preservation of this listed building and to comply with policies DM27 
of Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two, and CP15 of the Brighton & Hove City 
Plan Part One. 

 
6. This approval is limited to the works shown on the approved drawings and does 

not indicate approval for associated or enabling works that may be necessary to 
carry out the scheme.  Any further works must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any works commencing.   
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory preservation of this listed building and to 
comply with policies DM27 of Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two, and CP15 of 
the Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One. 

 
Informatives: 

1. In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy SS1 of 
the Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One the approach to making a decision on 
this planning application has been to apply the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.  The Local Planning Authority seeks to approve 
planning applications which are for sustainable development where possible. 

  
 

176



OFFRPT 

 
 
 
2. SITE LOCATION  

  
2.1. Brighton Museum and Art Gallery is part of the internationally important complex 

of Grade II* listed buildings which comprise the Royal Pavilion Estate. It is of 
significance as a result of forming part of the original royal stables which were 
then adapted in the late 19th century by Philip Lockwood, to provide a purpose- 
built museum, art gallery and public library for the citizens of Brighton. It is one 
of the country's first purpose-built museum spaces. It is located within the Valley 
Gardens Conservation Area.    

  
 
3. APPLICATION DESCRIPTION  

  
3.1. The proposals involve the replacement of the roof lantern to the rear of the main 

frontage on Church Street. The roof lantern currently contains 1960s materials, 
with a lead roof that would be ventilated at eaves and ridge level. The lead would 
be detailed in the form of timber rolls in regular bay sizes. The proposal also 
involves some minor works comprising like-for-like repairs to the slates, 
improvements to the capacity of the gutters, lead flashing, the provision of a safe 
roof access, rerouting of ductwork, the review of the historic heating system to 
the perimeter of the laylight. Internal decoration and alteration to the internal 
laylight is also proposed but do not require planning permission, only listed 
building consent which is sought separately.   

  
 
4. RELEVANT HISTORY   

 
4.1. BH2024/00058 (Listed Building Consent Application) - Replacement of roof 

lantern above 20th Century Gallery with lead roof, insulation works, rerouting of 
ductwork, renewal of roof void walkway and installation of secondary means of 
escape from North end of roof void. Repair and renewal works to slate roof 
coverings, leadwork, joinery and guttering. Internal works to replace glazing to 
laylight with installation of lighting rig above and repair and refurbishment to cast 
iron grilles, lath and plaster vaulting and gallery interior. Under Consideration  

  
 
5. REPRESENTATIONS   

 
5.1. None received from members of the public.   
  
5.2. The Conservation Advisory Group (CAG) have considered the application 

and recommend approval.    
  
 
6. CONSULTATIONS   

 
Internal:   

177



OFFRPT 

6.1. Heritage:  No objection   
There is no objection to the replacement of the roof covering with lead. There is 
a precedent for this approach to securing an improved roof finish in the changes 
to the Dome of the Corn Exchange.   

   
6.2. Conditions are recommended to secure details for the replacement internal 

walkway, specifications of the ducting and ventilation and samples for the iron 
grilles, glazing and new roof slates.    

  
External:   

6.3. Historic England: No objection  
We consider the change of the material of the lantern would cause a low level of 
harm to the significance of the listed building. However, we appreciate that this 
harm is outweighed by the public benefits, including heritage benefits which will 
enable the gallery space to continue its historic use. We therefore have no 
objection to the proposals subject to conditions to control some of the details.   

  
 
7. MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS   

 
7.1. In accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004, this decision has been taken having regard to the policies and proposals 
in the National Planning Policy Framework, the Development Plan, and all other 
material planning considerations identified in the "Considerations and 
Assessment" section of the report.  

  
7.2. The development plan is:  

 Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One (adopted March 2016);  

 Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two (adopted October 2022);  

 East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Plan 
(adopted February 2013);   

 East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Sites 
Plan (adopted February 2017);   

 Shoreham Harbour JAAP (adopted October 2019).  
  
 
8. RELEVANT POLICIES & GUIDANCE   

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)   
  
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One:   
SS1  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
CP5  Culture and tourism  
CP12 Urban design  
CP15 Heritage  

  
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two:   
DM18 High quality design and places  
DM20 Protection of Amenity  
DM21 Extensions and alterations  

178



OFFRPT 

DM26 Conservation Areas  
DM27    Listed Buildings  
DM29 The Setting of Heritage Assets 
DM32 The Royal Pavilion Estate 

  
Supplementary Planning Documents:   
SPD09 Architectural Features  

  
 
9. CONSIDERATIONS & ASSESSMENT   
 
9.1. The main considerations in the determination of this application relate to the 

impacts of the proposal on the design and appearance of the Grade II listed 
building and surrounding Valley Gardens Conservation area.    

  
Design, Appearance and Heritage Impacts:   

9.2. In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which 
affects a listed building or its setting, the Council has a statutory duty to have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. Moreover, 
when considering whether to grant planning permission for development in a 
conservation area the Council has a statutory duty to pay special attention to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the area.   

   
9.3. Case law has held that the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting 

or any features of special architectural or historic interest it possesses, and the  
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a 
conservation should be given  "considerable importance and weight".   

   
9.4. The principle part of the building has a large vault roofed room where the roof is 

timber framed with a glazed lantern along its length above and plywood boarding 
along its external sides. It is not clear how much of the roof is original but the 
glazing is modern, being Georgian glass on and aluminium frame though all of 
the principle timber rafters, purlins and struts appear to be original. The principle 
significance of this part of the building lies in its internal timber roof vaults and 
supporting plaster corbeling with iron vent covers.   

  
9.5. Externally, the long roof form contributes to the skyline of the group of buildings 

which is dominated by the Dome of the theatre. Though it is barely visible away 
from the building, it can be seen in the context of the Dome. The roof covering 
of the roof of the Dome has been replaced by lead, so the replacement of the 
roof lantern with a lead roof is considered to be in keeping with this wider context.   

  
9.6. The gallery space is now used by the museum to display items from its 20th 

Century collection which can be harmed by fluctuations in temperature, changes 
in humidity and too much light. The present works are proposed to restore the 
roof to a safe, watertight condition that would reduce fluctuations in temperature 
and ensure the museum contents are preserved.     

  

179



OFFRPT 

9.7. The replacement of the glass with lead would cause a low level of harm to the 
significance of the listed building. This is because there would be some loss of 
understanding that the historic design of the museum and gallery which 
incorporated a glazed roof lantern to light the space below. However, the harm 
identified is considered to be offset by allowing the continuation of the historic 
function as a public museum and gallery and improving the preservation of the 
collections housed within the museum. The low level harm can be accepted 
when weighed against the preservation of the building itself and the function 
within.    

   
9.8. The proposals are not considered to have an impact on the wider Valley Gardens 

Conservation Area. The changes to the roof are not significantly visible from the 
public realm as the part of the roof affected is set in from the edge of the building.   

   
9.9. Positive consultation responses have been received from the Council's Heritage 

Officer and from Historic England in relation to the proposals. Both responses 
suggest that any approval should be subject to conditions seeking further details 
of the walkway, a method statement for the works and samples used externally. 
Such conditions are attached to this recommendation.    

   
9.10. Therefore, the new roof and external alterations are recommended for approval 

to preserve the listed building and the setting of the numerous adjacent listed 
building, including the Pavilion itself, Dome Theatre, Corn Exchange and the 
registered Pavilion Gardens and there would be no harm to the Valley Gardens 
conservation area. This is in accordance with polices CP15 of the City plan part 
One and Polices DM26, DM27 and DM29 of the City Plan Part Two.  

  
 
10. EQUALITIES   

 
10.1. During the determination of this application due regard has been given to the 

impact of this scheme in relation to the Equality Act 2010 in terms of the 
implications for those with protected characteristics namely age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. There is no indication that 
those with any of these protected characteristics would be disadvantaged by this 
development. The changes are not being made to the access of the building and 
consist of refurbishments to safeguard the heritage asset in the long-term.  

 
   

180



 

DATE OF COMMITTEE: 3rd April 2024 
 

 
ITEM G 

 
 
 

  
Brighton Museum and Art Gallery 

BH2024/00058 
Listed Building Consent 

181



182



CHURCH STREET

NE
W 

RO
AD

PR
INC

E'S
 PL

AC
E

Pa
vil

ion
 M

ew
s MA

RL
BO

RO
UG

H 
PL

AC
E

Prince Regent Swimming Complex

Posts Play Area

El Sub Sta

5
31

7 8
2

4
3c

Pavilion Gardens

15

23

12

10
13

3b
24

25
26

22

2920
19

17

52

(PH)

Dome

House

Studio

Church

Brighton

The Old

119

114
115

118
120

109

163

100

North Gate

PH

PC

Co
rn 

Ex
ch

an
ge

Art Gallery and Museum

1 t
o 5

Royal

Hotel

Gateway
1 to 32

1 to 20

Indian

31
 to

 32

13
 to

 16

PH 7

1

3

1

1

2

23

1

15

(P
H)

(c) Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence: 100020999, Brighton & Hove City Council. 2023.

BH2024 00058 - Brighton Museum And Art Gallery

1:1,250Scale: ̄

183



184



OFFRPTLBC 

No: BH2024/00058 Ward: West Hill & North Laine Ward 

App Type: Listed Building Consent 

Address: Brighton Museum And Art Gallery Pavilion Buildings Brighton 
BN1 1EE      

Proposal: Replacement of roof lantern above 20th Century Gallery with lead 
roof, insulation works, rerouting of ductwork, renewal of roof void 
walkway and installation of secondary means of escape from 
North end of roof void. Repair and renewal works to slate roof 
coverings, leadwork, joinery and guttering. Internal works to 
replace glazing to laylight with installation of lighting rig above 
and repair and refurbishment to cast iron grilles, lath and plaster 
vaulting and gallery interior.  

 

Officer: Rebecca Smith, tel: 291075 Valid Date: 09.01.2024 

Con Area: Valley Gardens Expiry Date: 05.03.2024 

Listed Building Grade:  Grade II* 

Agent: Donald Insall Associates   12 Devonshire Street   London   W1G 7AB                   

Applicant: Brighton And Hove Museums   Brighton Museum And Art Gallery    
Royal Pavilion Gardens   Brighton   BN1 1EE                

 
 
1. RECOMMENDATION 
 
1.1. That the Committee has taken into consideration and agrees with the reasons 

for the recommendation set out below and resolves to GRANT Listed Building 
Consent subject to the following Conditions and Informatives. 

 
Conditions:  

1. The works hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this consent.  
Reason: To comply with Sections 18 (as amended) and 74 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

 
2. The works hereby permitted shall not take place until a statement setting out 

details of all proposed new joinery structures and joinery repair, including the 
proposed new secondary means of escape are submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. These shall include drawings and sections 
where necessary at a scale of 1:5. The works shall be implemented in strict 
accordance with the agreed details and maintained as such thereafter.  
Reason: As insufficient information has been submitted, to ensure the 
satisfactory preservation of this listed building and to comply with policies DM27 
of Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two, and CP15 of the Brighton & Hove City 
Plan Part One. 

 

185



OFFRPTLBC 

3. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until 
details/samples of all new external materials including glazing, slates, lead, grills 
and panels have been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. 
Development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved details.   
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory preservation of this listed building and to 
comply with policies DM27 of Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two, and CP15 of 
the Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One. 

 
4. Prior to the commencement of development, samples of existing historic paint 

finishes should be taken, both externally and internally, and shall be used to 
inform the proposed new paint finishes. A report demonstrating this, including 
paint samples and specifications of the proposed finishes chosen shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works 
shall be implemented in strict accordance with the agreed details and maintained 
as such thereafter.   
Reason: As insufficient information has been submitted, to ensure the 
satisfactory preservation of this listed building and to comply with policies DM27 
of Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two, and CP15 of the Brighton & Hove City 
Plan Part One.  

 
5. This approval is limited to the works shown on the approved drawings and does 

not indicate approval for associated or enabling works that may be necessary to 
carry out the scheme.  Any further works must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any works commencing.   
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory preservation of this listed building and to 
comply with policies DM27 of Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two, and CP15 of 
the Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One. 

 
Informatives:  

1. This decision is based on the drawings listed below: 
Plan Type Reference Version Date Received  
Proposed Drawing  3003   P02 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  3004   P02 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  3134/M/01   P01 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  5000   P01 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  5001   P01 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  5002   P01 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  5101   P01 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  5102   P01 9 January 2024  

Proposed Drawing  5200   P01 9 January 2024  

Location Plan  4000   P02 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  2000   P01 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  2102   P02 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  2001   P04 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  2002   P01 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  2101   P04 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  2200   P04 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  2201   P04 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  3001   P02 9 January 2024  
Proposed Drawing  3002   P02 9 January 2024   

186



OFFRPTLBC 

  
  
 
2. SITE LOCATION    

 
2.1. Brighton Museum and Art Gallery is part of the internationally important complex 

of Grade II* listed buildings which comprise the Royal Pavilion Estate. It is of 
significance as a result of forming part of the original royal stables which were 
then adapted in the late 19th century by Philip Lockwood, to provide a purpose- 
built museum, art gallery and public library for the citizens of Brighton. It is one 
of the country's first purpose-built museum spaces. It is located within the Valley 
Gardens Conservation Area.    

  
 
3. APPLICATION DESCRIPTION  
 
3.1. The proposals involve the replacement of the roof lantern to the rear of the main 

frontage on Church Street. The roof lantern currently contains 1960s materials, 
with a lead roof that would be ventilated at eaves and ridge level. The lead would 
be detailed in the form of timber rolls in regular bay sizes. The proposal also 
involves some minor works comprising like-for-like repairs to the slates, 
improvements to the capacity of the gutters, lead flashing, the provision of a safe 
roof access, rerouting of ductwork, the review of the historic heating system to 
the perimeter of the laylight. Internal decoration and alteration to the internal 
laylight is also proposed and is included in this application but not the 
corresponding application for planning permission.   

  
 
4. RELEVANT HISTORY   
 
4.1. BH2024/00057 (Full Planning Application) - Replacement of roof lantern 

above 20th Century Gallery with lead roof, insulation works, rerouting of 
ductwork, renewal of roof void walkway and installation of secondary means of 
escape from North end of roof void. Repair and renewal works to slate roof 
coverings, leadwork, joinery and guttering. Under Consideration  

  
4.2. PRE2023/00171 - Proposed works to the roof and lantern above the 20th 

Century Gallery at the Brighton Museum and Art Gallery. These works involve 
the replacement of the external roof lantern and slate roof coverings, an 
improvement of thermal performance, and ancillary works to leadwork, joinery, 
and lead guttering.   
Summary of advice:  
On balance the proposed development should not result in substantial harm to 
the historic fabric of the listed building and improved insulation and repair of 
damaged elements of the building should offer benefits to its continued historic 
use.  

  
 
5. REPRESENTATIONS   

 

187



OFFRPTLBC 

5.1. None received from members of the public.    
   
5.2. The Conservation Advisory Group (CAG) have considered the application 

and recommend approval.     
  
 
6. CONSULTATIONS  

  
6.1. Heritage:   No objection   

There is no objection to the replacement of the roof covering with lead. There is 
a precedent for this approach to securing an improved roof finish in the changes 
to the Dome of the Corn Exchange.   

   
6.2. Conditions are recommended to secure details for the replacement internal 

walkway, specifications of the ducting and ventilation and samples for the iron 
grilles, glazing and new roof slates.    

  
6.3. Historic England: No objection  

We consider the change of the material of the lantern would cause a low level of 
harm to the significance of the listed building. However, we appreciate that this 
harm is outweighed by the public benefits, including heritage benefits which will 
enable the gallery space to continue its historic use. We therefore have no 
objection to the proposals subject to conditions to control some of the details.   

  
 
7. MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS   

 
7.1. In accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004, this decision has been taken having regard to the policies and proposals 
in the National Planning Policy Framework, the Development Plan, and all other 
material planning considerations identified in the "Considerations and 
Assessment" section of the report.  

  
7.2. The development plan is:  

 Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One (adopted March 2016);  

 Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two (adopted October 2022);  

 East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Plan 
(adopted February 2013);   

 East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Sites 
Plan (adopted February 2017);   

 Shoreham Harbour JAAP (adopted October 2019).  
  
 
8. POLICIES   

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)   
  
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part One   
SS1  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
CP15 Heritage  

188



OFFRPTLBC 

  
Brighton & Hove City Plan Part Two   
DM26 Conservation Areas  
DM27 Listed Buildings 
DM29 The Setting of Heritage Assets 
Dm32 The Royal Pavilion Estate 

  
Supplementary Planning Guidance:   
SPGBH11  Listed Building Interiors  

  
Supplementary Planning Documents:   
SPD09 Architectural Features  

  
 
9. CONSIDERATIONS & ASSESSMENT   
  
9.1. In considering whether to grant listed building consent the Council has a 

statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building 
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses. Moreover, when considering whether to grant listed building consent 
for development in a conservation area the Council has a statutory duty to pay 
special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of the area.   

   
9.2. Case law has held that the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting 

or any features of special architectural or historic interest it possesses, and the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a 
conservation area should be given "considerable importance and weight".   

  
9.3. The principle part of the building has a large vault roofed room where the roof is 

timber framed with a glazed lantern along its length above and plywood boarding 
along its external sides. It is not clear how much of the roof is original but the 
glazing is modern, being Georgian glass on and aluminium frame though all of 
the principle timber rafters, purlins and struts appear to be original. The principle 
significance of this part of the building lies in its internal timber roof vaults and 
supporting plaster corbeling with iron vent covers.   

  
9.4. Externally, the long roof form contributes to the skyline of the group of buildings 

which is dominated by the Dome of the theatre. Though it is barely visible away 
from the building, it can be seen in the context of the Dome. The roof covering 
of the roof of the Dome has been replaced by lead, so the replacement of the 
roof lantern with a lead roof is considered to be in keeping with this wider context.   

  
9.5. The gallery space is now used by the museum to display items from its 20th 

Century collection which can be harmed by fluctuations in temperature, changes 
in humidity and too much light. The present works are proposed to restore the 
roof to a safe, watertight condition that would reduce fluctuations in temperature 
and ensure the museum contents are preserved.     

  

189



OFFRPTLBC 

9.6. The replacement of the glass with lead would cause a low level of harm to the 
significance of the listed building. This is because there would be some loss of 
understanding that the historic design of the museum and gallery which 
incorporated a glazed roof lantern to light the space below. However, the harm 
identified is considered to be offset by allowing the continuation of the historic 
function as a public museum and gallery and improving the preservation of the 
collections housed within the museum. . The low level harm can be accepted 
when weighed against the preservation of the building itself and the function 
within.    

  
9.7. Additionally, this Listed Building Consent application considers the proposed 

internal alterations to the internal laylight, changes to ducting and ventilation and 
decoration. These changes are also supported in principle; however it is noted 
that both the Heritage Officer and Historic England seek additional details of 
these aspects by conditions which have been imposed.  

   
9.8. The proposals are not considered to have an impact on the wider Valley Gardens 

Conservation Area. The changes to the roof are not significantly visible from the 
public realm as the part of the roof affected is set in from the edge of the building.   

   
9.9. Positive consultation responses have been received from the Council's Heritage 

Officer and from Historic England in relation to the proposals. Both responses 
suggest that any approval should be subject to conditions seeking further details 
of the walkway, a method statement for the works and samples used externally. 
Such conditions are attached to this recommendation.    

   
9.10. Therefore, the new roof and external alterations are recommended for approval 

to preserve the listed building and the setting of the numerous adjacent listed 
building, including the Pavilion itself, Dome Theatre, Corn Exchange and the 
registered Pavilion Gardens and there would be no harm to the Valley Gardens 
conservation area. This is in accordance with polices CP15 of the City plan part 
One and Polices DM26, DM27 and DM29 of the City Plan Part Two.   

  
 
10. EQUALITIES   

None identified  
 

190



  

 

 

PLANNING 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 101 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 
 

NEW APPEALS RECEIVED 08/02/2024 - 06/03/2024 

WARD CENTRAL HOVE 

APPEALAPPNUMBER BH2023/01744 

ADDRESS 13 Third Avenue Hove BN3 2PB  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 
Change of use of part of ground floor to form one 
self-contained studio flat (Class C3). 

APPEAL STATUS APPEAL IN PROGRESS 

APPEAL RECEIVED DATE 19/02/2024 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

WARD HOVE PARK 

APPEALAPPNUMBER   

ADDRESS 7 Meadow Close Hove BN3 6QQ  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION Appeal against 

APPEAL STATUS APPEAL IN PROGRESS 

APPEAL RECEIVED DATE 20/02/2024 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Not Assigned 

WARD PATCHAM & HOLLINGBURY 

APPEALAPPNUMBER BH2023/01198 

ADDRESS 30 Highfield Crescent Brighton BN1 8JD  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 

Part demolition and part extension of existing shed 
at rear of property, extension of raised decking 
and addition of new raised deck area, access 
steps to the garden and revised fenestration. (part 
retrospective) 

APPEAL STATUS APPEAL IN PROGRESS 

APPEAL RECEIVED DATE 14/02/2024 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

WARD PRESTON PARK 

APPEALAPPNUMBER BH2023/01799 

ADDRESS 
Garages Rear of 10 Bavant Road Brighton BN1 
6RD  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 
Redevelopment of existing garage block to provide 
2no chalet style dwellings (C3). (amended plans 
received) 

APPEAL STATUS APPEAL IN PROGRESS 

APPEAL RECEIVED DATE 15/02/2024 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Planning (Applications) Committee 

191



  

 

 

WARD QUEEN'S PARK 

APPEALAPPNUMBER BH2023/02100 

ADDRESS 29 West Drive Brighton BN2 0QU  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 
Alterations to front driveway layout, boundary, 
retaining walls, landscaping and removal and 
replacement of tree in front garden.  

APPEAL STATUS APPEAL IN PROGRESS 

APPEAL RECEIVED DATE 27/02/2024 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

WARD QUEEN'S PARK 

APPEALAPPNUMBER BH2023/02675 

ADDRESS 5 Egremont Place Brighton BN2 0GA  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 

Change of use from 6no bedroom small house in 
multiple occupation (C4) to 7no bedroom large 
house in multiple occupation (Sui Generis) (part 
retrospective). 

APPEAL STATUS APPEAL IN PROGRESS 

APPEAL RECEIVED DATE 20/02/2024 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

WARD QUEEN'S PARK 

APPEALAPPNUMBER BH2023/02805 

ADDRESS 33 Richmond Place Brighton BN2 9NA  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 

Certificate of lawfulness to confirm planning 
permission BH2009/01556 (Change of use of bar / 
live music venue and residential accommodation 
to backpacker hostel (sui generis) (retrospective).) 
has been partly implemented, thereby allowing for 
the remaining works to be undertaken without the 
need for further consents. 

APPEAL STATUS APPEAL IN PROGRESS 

APPEAL RECEIVED DATE 14/02/2024 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

WARD QUEEN'S PARK 

APPEALAPPNUMBER BH2023/02856 

ADDRESS 5 Egremont Place Brighton BN2 0GA  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 
Creation of rear first floor roof terrace with access 
door and obscure glass screen.  

APPEAL STATUS APPEAL IN PROGRESS 

APPEAL RECEIVED DATE 20/02/2024 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

WARD SOUTH PORTSLADE 

APPEALAPPNUMBER BH2022/02615 

192



  

 

 

ADDRESS 50 Benfield Way Portslade BN41 2DL  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 

Demolition of existing garage and part of dwelling 
to facilitate subdivision of the plot and erection of 
1no. two-storey, four-bedroom dwellinghouse to 
rear with associated landscaping and access. 

APPEAL STATUS APPEAL IN PROGRESS 

APPEAL RECEIVED DATE 27/02/2024 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

WARD WESTDENE & HOVE PARK 

APPEALAPPNUMBER BH2023/01439 

ADDRESS 74 Valley Drive Brighton BN1 5FD  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 

Erection of an additional storey to facilitate the 
conversion of an existing bungalow to a two-storey 
single dwelling house with flat roof and solar 
panels incorporating access bridge to the raised 
garden, replacement of garage doors and creation 
of first floor balcony with associated works. 

APPEAL STATUS APPEAL IN PROGRESS 

APPEAL RECEIVED DATE 29/02/2024 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

WARD WEST HILL & NORTH LAINE 

APPEALAPPNUMBER BH2023/01784 

ADDRESS 37B Compton Avenue Brighton BN1 3PT  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 
Installation of a safety rail to parapet wall to 
existing rear flat roof. 

APPEAL STATUS APPEAL IN PROGRESS 

APPEAL RECEIVED DATE 19/02/2024 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

WARD WOODINGDEAN 

APPEALAPPNUMBER BH2023/00303 

ADDRESS 
Garage Rear of 542A Falmer Road Brighton BN2 
6ND  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 
Conversion of single storey garage to two storey 
store.  

APPEAL STATUS APPEAL IN PROGRESS 

APPEAL RECEIVED DATE 04/03/2024 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

 

193



194



 

 
 

 
INFORMATION ON HEARINGS / PUBLIC INQUIRIES 

 
 
 
 
 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

This is a note of the current position regarding Planning Inquiries and Hearings 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Planning Application No ENF2022/00193 

Site Address 14 Montpelier Crescent 
Brighton 
BN1 3JF 

Description Appeal against 

Application Decision Appeal In Progress 

Type of Appeal Public Inquiry 

Date Appeal To Be Held: N/A 

Venue of Appeal N/A 

Planning Officer Raphael Pinheiro 

 
 

PLANNING  
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 102 
Brighton & Hove City 
Council 

195



196



PLANNING  
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 103 

Brighton & Hove City 
Council 
 

APPEAL DECISIONS FOR THE PERIOD BETWEEN 21/02/2024 AND 19/03/2024 

 

WARD PRESTON PARK 

APPEAL APPLICATION NUMBER APL2024/00002 

ADDRESS 8 Bavant Road Brighton BN1 6RD  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION Erection of single storey shed to front of property. 

APPEAL TYPE Against Refusal 

APPEAL DECISION APPEAL ALLOWED 

PLANNING APPLICATION 
NUMBER 

BH2023/02375 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

WARD REGENCY 

APPEAL APPLICATION NUMBER APL2023/00078 

ADDRESS 18-19 Ship Street Brighton BN1 1AD  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION Alterations and extensions to redevelop existing one 
bedroom flat on first floor into three-bedroom flat and 
erection of rear extension to second floor to form 1no 
two bedroom flat (C3).  

APPEAL TYPE Against Refusal 

APPEAL DECISION APPEAL DISMISSED 

PLANNING APPLICATION 
NUMBER 

BH2022/00712 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

WARD ROTTINGDEAN & WEST SALTDEAN 

APPEAL APPLICATION NUMBER APL2024/00004 

ADDRESS 
The Nutshell 1 Romney Road Rottingdean Brighton 
BN2 7GG  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION Conversion and pitched roof rear extension with 
rooflights to existing garage to form an annex, roof 
alterations and extension to include installation of side 
dormer, erection of single storey side extension with 
rooflights, installation of front roof terraces, revised 
fenestration and associated works. 

APPEAL TYPE Against Refusal 

APPEAL DECISION APPEAL DISMISSED 

PLANNING APPLICATION 
NUMBER 

BH2023/02551 

197



APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

WARD     ST. PETER'S AND NORTH LAINE 

APPEAL APPLICATION NUMBER APL2023/00088 

First Floor and Second Floor Flat 21 Queens 

ADDRESS 
Road Brighton BN1 3XA  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION Change of use from a residential flat (C3) 
to a short-term holiday let (sui generis). 

APPEAL TYPE Against Refusal 

APPEAL DECISION APPEAL DISMISSED 

PLANNING APPLICATION NUMBER BH2023/00194 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

WARD WEST HILL & NORTH LAINE 

APPEAL APPLICATION NUMBER APL2023/00074 

ADDRESS 17 Buckingham Road Brighton BN1 3RH  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION Demolition of existing garage and erection of 
a detached two storey plus basement, one 
bedroom dwelling (C3). 

APPEAL TYPE Against Refusal 

APPEAL DECISION APPEAL DISMISSED 

PLANNING APPLICATION 
NUMBER 

BH2022/02722 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

WARD WEST HILL & NORTH LAINE 

APPEAL APPLICATION NUMBER APL2023/00100 

ADDRESS 38 North Gardens Brighton BN1 3LB  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION Alterations to existing single-storey rear 
extension to create a ground-floor roof 
terrace with a new door for access. 

APPEAL TYPE Against Refusal 

APPEAL DECISION APPEAL ALLOWED 

PLANNING APPLICATION 
NUMBER 

BH2023/01855 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

WARD WISH 

APPEAL APPLICATION NUMBER APL2024/00006 

ADDRESS 49 Glebe Villas Hove BN3 5SL  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION Erection of first floor side extension.   

APPEAL TYPE Against Refusal 

APPEAL DECISION APPEAL DISMISSED 

198



PLANNING APPLICATION 
NUMBER 

BH2023/00413 

APPLICATION DECISION LEVEL Delegated 

 

199



200


	Agenda
	96 Minutes of the previous meeting
	100A BH2022/02443 - The Hippodrome, 51 & 52-58 Middle Street, Brighton - Full Planning
	Map BH2022 02443 - Brighton Hippodrome
	Report BH2022 02443 - Brighton Hippodrome
	BH2022_02444-CAROLINE_LUCAS_MP-19003867

	100B BH2022/02444 - The Hippodrome, 51 & 52-58 Middle Street, Brighton - Listed Building Consent
	Map BH2022 02444 - Brighton Hippodrome
	Report BH2022 02444 - Brighton Hippodrome

	100C BH2022/01500 - St Margaret's Church, The Green, Rottingdean, Brighton - Full Planning
	Map BH2022 01500 - St Margarets Church
	Report BH2022 01500 - St Margarets Church
	Cllr Fishleigh rep BH2022 01500 - St Margarets Church

	100D BH2023/03197 - 26 Arundel Drive East and 22-24 Arundel Drive East, Saltdean, Brighton - Full Planning
	Map BH2023 03197 - 22-24  26 Arundel Drive East
	Report BH2023 03197 - 22-24  26 Arundel Drive East

	100E BH2023/03432 - Flat 13, St Gabriels, 18A Wellington Road, Brighton - Full Planning
	Map BH2023 03432 - Flat 13 St Gabriels 18A Wellington Road
	Report BH2023 03432 - Flat 13 St Gabriels 18A Wellington Road

	100F BH2024/00057 - Brighton Museum and Art Gallery, Pavilion Buildings, Brighton - Full Planning
	Map BH2024 00057 - Brighton Museum And Art Gallery
	Report BH2024 00057 - Brighton Museum And Art Gallery

	100G BH2024/00058 - Brighton Museum and Art Gallery, Pavilion Buildings, Brighton - Listed Building Consent
	Map BH2024 00058 - Brighton Museum And Art Gallery
	Report BH2024 00058 - Brighton Museum And Art Gallery

	101 List of new appeals lodged with the Planning Inspectorate
	102 Information on informal hearings/public inquiries
	103 Appeal decisions

